

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2008

Analysis of the mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition by Neisseria gonorrhoeae

Noto Jennifer McMillan Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

© The Author

Downloaded from http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/1606

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

School of Medicine Virginia Commonwealth University

This is to certify that the dissertation prepared by Jennifer McMillan Noto entitled ANALYSIS OF THE MECHANISM OF TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY *NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE* has been approved by her committee as satisfactory completion of the thesis or dissertation requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Cynthia Nau Cornelissen, Ph.D., Director of Dissertation, School of Medicine

Matthew Beckman, Ph.D., School of Medicine

Todd O. Kitten, Ph.D., School of Dentistry

Francine Marciano-Cabral, Ph.D., School of Medicine

Joseph K. Ritter, Ph.D., School of Medicine

Dennis E. Ohman, Ph.D., Chair of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology

Jerome F. Strauss III, M.D./Ph.D., Dean of the School of Medicine

F. Douglas Boudinot, Ph.D., Dean of the School of Graduate Studies

September 4th, 2008

© Jennifer McMillan Noto 2008

All Rights Reserved

ANALYSIS OF THE MECHANISM OF TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University

by

JENNIFER MCMILLAN NOTO Bachelor of Science, University of Mary Washington, 2003

Director: CYNTHIA NAU CORNELISSEN, PH.D. PROFESSOR OF MICROBIOLOGY AND IMMUNOLOGY

Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia September 2008

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my advisor, Dr. Cynthia Nau Cornelissen, for the opportunity to conduct my doctoral research in her laboratory. She has been a pioneer in the study of *Neisseria* iron acquisition and has provided the foundation for continued research in this field. Dr. Cornelissen has been a true role model for me, exhibiting the highest degree of scientific integrity and dedication to the teaching and development of future scientists. She has been a truly great mentor and her enthusiasm for research is contagious. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to her for always supporting and encouraging me throughout my graduate career.

I would also like to sincerely thank my committee members – Dr. Matthew Beckman, Dr. Francine Marciano-Cabral, Dr. Todd Kitten, and Dr. Joe Ritter. They have been an integral part of my success as a graduate student. They have provided invaluable advice and suggestions that have enhanced my research substantially. Their support and encouragement over the years have been constant and is very much appreciated.

I would also like to thank the Microbiology and Immunology administrative staff – Connie Babcock, Nancy Fogg, Bobbie Palumbo, and Martha VanMeter. They have always been such a great help with anything and everything I have needed along the way.

I cannot thank my friends and fellow lab members enough. The members of the Cornelissen lab – Dr. Amanda DeRocco, Dr. Greg Price, Dr. Tracey Zola, Aimee Hollander, Heather Strange, and Rose Velez – have truly defined the meaning of friendship for me. They have all provided tremendous intellectual and emotional support over the years. We have shared many great times and have overcome many obstacles together – these memories will last forever.

I would also like the thank the friends that I have made during my time at Virginia Commonwealth University – Dr. Beth Rogers, Dr. Kelley Hovis, Krissy Sundy, Megan Price, and Dr. Paige Fox – these are friendships that will last a lifetime.

Above all, I express my deepest gratitude to my family, without whom I would have never made it this far. My parents, Pam & Bill Smith and Bob McMillan & Becky Gordos, have provided me with loving homes and constant love and support. They have always encouraged me to pursue my dreams and have provided me with every opportunity for success. They have taught me the most important lessons in life and for that I am eternally grateful.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my husband, Mike Noto. He has been a true inspiration to me and I cannot thank him enough for the joy he brings to my life everyday. He has always been understanding and has supported me through everything along the way. Most of all, I want to thank him for loving me and always believing in me even when I did not believe in myself.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iv
List of Tables	. xiii
List of Figures	. xiv
List of Abbreviations	. xvi
Abstract	. xxi
Chapters	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
I. Genus Neisseria	2
II. Neisseria Infection	3
A. Meningococcal infection	3
B. Meningococcal epidemiology	4
C. Gonococcal infection	5
D. Gonococcal epidemiology	6
III. Neisseria Virulence Factors	7
A. Capsule	8
B. Pilus	8
C. Opacity proteins	10
D. Opc	11

E. Porin	12
F. Lipooligosaccharide	13
G. Reduction-modifiable protein	14
H. IgA protease	14
IV. Iron and Pathogenesis	15
A. Iron	15
B. Pathogenic mechanisms of iron acquisition	16
V. Iron Sources in the Human Host	17
A. Ferric and ferrous iron	17
B. Ferritin	17
C. Heme and heme binding proteins	17
a. Heme	17
b. Hemoglobin	18
c. Haptoglobin	18
d. Hemopexin	18
D. Lactoferrin	19
E. Transferrin	19
VI. TonB-Dependent Iron Acquisition	20
A. Siderophore-mediated iron acquisition	20
B. Non-siderophore-mediated iron acquisition	23
a. Heme and hemoproteins	23

	b. Lactoferrin and transferrin	24
	VII. Iron Acquisition Systems in Pathogenic Neisseria	25
	A. Siderophore utilization	25
	B. Hemoprotein utilization	26
	C. Lactoferrin utilization	27
	D. Transferrin utilization	27
	VIII. Objectives	30
2	MATERIALS AND METHODS	
	I. Bacterial Growth Conditions	
	II. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Mutagenesis	
	A. Mutagenic oligonucleotide design	
	B. Site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis	
	C. <i>E. coli</i> transformation	40
	D. <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> spot transformation	41
	E. <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> liquid transformation	42
	III. Western Blot Analysis and Solid-Phase HA Binding	42
	A. SDS-PAGE and protein transfer	42
	B. TbpA, TbpB, and TonB detection	43
	C. Hemagglutinin epitope detection	44
	D. Solid-phase anti-HA binding assay	44
	IV. Surface Exposure and Transferrin Binding	44

A. Solid-phase transferrin binding assay	44
B. Solid-phase transferrin discrimination assay	45
V. Quantitative Transferrin Binding	45
A. Iodination of human transferrin	45
B. Equilibrium-phase transferrin binding assay	46
VI. Transferrin-Iron Internalization	47
A. Iron-saturation of human transferrin	47
B. Transferrin-iron uptake assay	48
C. Modified transferrin-iron uptake assay with desferal	48
VII. Recombinant Protein Expression and Purification	49
A. Construction of S-tag and His-tag protein expression constru-	cts49
B. Recombinant protein expression	51
C. Recombinant protein purification	51
D. SDS-PAGE, protein transfer, and detection	53
E. Coomassie blue protein staining	53
VIII. Recombinant Protein-Iron Binding Assay	54
IX. Statistical Analysis	55
IDENTIFICATION OF TBPA PLUG IRON BINDING AND RESIDUES	
REQUIRED FOR TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY	
NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE	68
I. Introduction	68

3

ix

II. Results
A. TbpA plug binds iron in vitro70
B. Site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis70
C. Alanine substitution mutants express full-length TbpA and TbpB
and bind Tf to the cell surface73
D. Alanine substitution mutants bind Tf with WT affinity and capacity78
E. Double and triple alanine substitution mutants demonstrate
decreased Tf-iron internalization
F. Triple alanine substitution mutant only utilizes Tf in the presence of
TbpB
G. MCV261 is unable to utilize Tf in the presence of exogenous TbpB91
III. Discussion
IV. Acknowledgements
ANALYSIS OF TBPA AND TBPB COOPERATION IN
TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY NEISSERIA
GONORRHOEAE103
I. Introduction
II. Results
A. Site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis105
B. MCV845 expresses Tf binding competent, full-length TbpB105

4

C. MCV846 binds Tf with WT affinity and capacity.....106

D. MCV845 demonstrates decreased Tf-iron internalization111
E. TbpA and TbpB single mutants express Tf binding competent, full-
length TbpB117
F. TbpA and TbpB single mutants bind Tf to the cell surface120
G. TbpA and TbpB single mutants vary in ability to internalize iron123
H. Combined TbpA and TbpB mutagenesis127
I. Combined mutants express full-length TbpA and TbpB127
J. Combined mutants bind Tf to the cell surface128
K. Combined mutants vary in ability to internalize iron128
L. Combined mutants utilize Tf only when TbpB is Tf-binding
competent
III. Discussion141
IV. Acknowledgements144
ANALYSIS OF A TONB-INDEPENDENT MECHANISM OF
TRANSFERRIN UTILIZATION BY NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE 145
I. Introduction145
II. Results146
A. MCV511 and MCV523 revert to Tf-positive growth phenotype at a
high frequency and only in the presence of TbpB147
B. Pseudo-revertants retain HA-encoding epitope in <i>tbpA</i> 147
C. Pseudo-revertants have no sequence changes in the <i>tbp</i> locus148

5

D. Pseudo-revertants express WT levels of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB 151
E. Pseudo-revertant growth is TbpA-dependent and TonB-independent151
F. Pseudo-revertants may release a soluble factor involved in Tf
utilization154
G. Pseudo-revertant growth is PilQ- and T4SS-independent155
III. Discussion158
IV. Acknowledgements
6 SUMMARY & PERSPECTIVES164
_iterature cited
Vita195

List of Tables

Page
Table 1: Biochemical tests for differentiation of Neisseriaceae
Table 2: Escherichia coli and Neisseria gonorrhoeae strains 58
Table 3: Plasmids 62
Table 4: Mutagenic oligonucleotides
Table 5: Gene specific oligonucleotides 67
Table 6: Affinity and capacity measurements for alanine substitution mutants generated
from equilibrium-phase Tf binding assays
Table 7: Phenotypes of alanine substitution mutants in Tf utilization growth assays92
Table 8: Affinity and capacity measurements for MCV846 generated from equilibrium-
phase Tf binding assays
Table 9: Phenotypes of combined mutants in Tf utilization growth assays
Table 10: Phenotypes of MCV511 and MCV267 derived mutants in Tf utilization growth
assays

List of Figures

Page
Figure 1: Models of TonB-dependent transport in Gram-negative bacteria
Figure 2: Characterized TonB-dependent transporters
Figure 3: Neisseria TbpA topology model
Figure 4: Gene splicing by overlap extension schematic
Figure 5: Gonococcal TbpA plug binds iron in vitro71
Figure 6: Sequence alignment of TbpA plug domains74
Figure 7: Alanine substitution mutants express WT levels of TbpA and TbpB by Western76
Figure 8: Alanine substitution mutants bind Tf to the cell surface in solid-phase Tf
binding assays
Figure 9: Alanine substitution mutants bind Tf at WT levels in equilibrium-phase Tf
binding assays
Figure 10: Double and triple alanine substitution mutants demonstrate decreased iron
internalization in Tf-iron uptake assays
Figure 11: Triple alanine substitution mutant utilizes Tf in Tf utilization growth assays
only in the presence of TbpB
Figure 12: Exogenous TbpB is unable to compensate for MCV261 in Tf-iron uptake
assays
Figure 13: Predicted structural model of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> TbpA plug domain

XV
Figure 14: MCV845 expresses WT levels of TbpB and binds Tf by Western107
Figure 15: MCV846 binds Tf to the cell surface in solid-phase Tf binding assays109
Figure 16: MCV846 binds Tf at WT levels in equilibrium-phase Tf binding assays112
Figure 17: MCV845 demonstrates decreased iron internalization in Tf-iron uptake assays115
Figure 18: TbpA and TbpB mutations do not affect TbpB protein expression or Tf
binding by Western
Figure 19: TbpA and TbpB mutants bind Tf and express HA epitope on the cell surface in
solid-phase Tf binding assays
Figure 20: TbpA and TbpB mutants internalize various levels of iron in Tf-iron uptake
assays
Figure 21: TbpA and TbpB combined mutants express WT levels of TbpA and TbpB and
bind Tf by Western
Figure 22: TbpA and TbpB combined mutants bind Tf and express HA epitope on the
cell surface in solid-phase binding assays
Figure 23: TbpA and TbpB combined mutants internalize various levels of iron in Tf-iron
uptake assays
Figure 24: Comparative analysis of Tf-iron uptake by single and combined TbpA and
TbpB mutants
Figure 25: HA-encoding epitope is present in <i>tbpA</i> of MCV511 pseudo-revertants149
Figure 26: Pseudo-revertants express WT levels of TbpA, TbpB and TonB by Western152
Figure 27: Pseudo-revertants promote growth of MCV512 in Tf-iron utilization growth
assays

List of Abbreviations

°C	degrees Celsius
Δ	delta, deletion
Ω	omega
⁵⁵ Fe	radiolabeled iron
¹²⁵ I	radiolabeled iodine
α	alpha or anti
ABC	ATP binding cassette
AP	alkaline phosphatase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
β	beta
bp	base pair
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CDM	chelexed defined media
CEACAM	carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell associated molecule
CFU	colony forming unit
CMP-NANA	cytidine 5'-mono-phospho-N-acetylneuraminic acid
CO_2	carbon dioxide
СРМ	counts per minute

DFO	desferal
DGI	disseminated gonococcal infection
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
Е.	Escherichia
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
Fbp	ferric binding protein
Fe	iron
FeCl ₃	ferric chloride
Fe(NO ₃) ₃	ferric nitrate
Fur	ferric uptake regulator
GCB	gonococcal growth media
GCU	gonococcal uptake sequence
Н.	Haemophilus
НА	hemagluttinin
Hb	hemoglobin
Hg	haptoglobin
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HSPG	heparan sulfate proteoglycan
HS TBS	high salt Tris-buffered saline
IgA	immunoglobulin A
IgG	immunoglobulin G

IPTG	isopropyl-beta-D-thiogalactopyranoside
К.	Klebsiella
KCN	potassium cyanide
kDa	kiloDalton
K_d	affinity constant
L	liter
LAMP	lysosome/late endosome associated membrane protein
LB	lysis broth, E. coli growth media
Lbp	lactoferrin binding protein
Lf	lactoferrin
LOS	lipooligosaccharide
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LS TBS	low salt Tris-buffered saline
М	molar
М.	Moraxella
mAmp	milliampere
mCi	millicuri
mg	milligram
MgCl ₂	magnesium chloride
min	minute
ml	milliliter
mM	millimolar

mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MLST	multilocus sequence typing
Ν.	Neisseria
NaHCO ₃	sodium bicarbonate
Na ₃ C ₆ H ₅ O ₇	sodium citrate
NBT/BCIP	nitro blue tetrazolium/ 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate
ng	nanogram
nm	nanometer
nM	nanomolar
Opa	opacity protein
PBP	periplasmic binding protein
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PID	pelvic inflammatory disease
PMN	polymorphonuclear leukocyte, neutrophil
pmol	picomole
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
RCF	relative centrifugal force (x g)
rpm	revolutions per minute
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SOE	splicing by overlap extension
T4SS	type IV secretion system
Tbp	transferrin binding protein

total cellul	ar protein
	total cellul

TMP total membrane preparation

Tf transferrin

μg microgram

- µl microliter
- μm micrometer
- μM micromolar
- WT wild-type

Abstract

ANALYSIS OF THE MECHANISM OF TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE

By Jennifer McMillan Noto

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University

Virginia Commonwealth University, 2008

Major Director: Cynthia Nau Cornelissen, Ph.D. Professor of Microbiology and Immunology

Neisseria gonorrhoeae is an obligate human pathogen that requires iron for its survival within the host. *N. gonorrhoeae* expresses high-affinity iron acquisition systems to acquire iron from host iron binding proteins. The gonococcal transferrin-iron uptake system is composed of two transferrin binding proteins, TbpA and TbpB. TbpA is a TonB-dependent, outer membrane transporter, while TbpB is a surface-exposed lipoprotein. Unlike TbpA, TbpB is not required for transferrin utilization, but makes the process more efficient. The precise mechanism by which TbpA and TbpB function to mediate transferrin-iron uptake has not been fully characterized. However, the mechanism of iron acquisition from transferrin is distinct from characterized TonBdependent ferric-siderophore uptake systems. The transferrin-iron uptake system is unique in two ways: the involvement of the TbpB lipoprotein component and the process of iron acquisition and internalization. Unlike siderophore transporters, the transferriniron uptake system requires the removal of iron from transferrin for its subsequent internalization. Based on analogy with characterized TonB-dependent transporters, TbpA is proposed to consist of two distinct domains: a β -barrel and plug domain. Previous studies suggest that the plug domain has a specific role in iron internalization and this study addresses the role of the plug domain in transferrin-iron acquisition. It is thought that the TbpA plug domain facilitates iron removal from transferrin and subsequent iron binding and transport. To analyze this, iron binding by the TbpA plug domain was performed and site-directed substitution mutagenesis of putative ironcoordinating residues was carried out. From these analyses, it can be concluded that the plug domain binds iron and likely plays an active role in the process of iron internalization. Mutagenesis revealed specific residues of the plug domain critical for transferrin-iron uptake, but defects imparted by these mutations were compensated for by TbpB. Thus, this study also attempts to characterize the compensatory function provided by TbpB. Through mutagenesis, critical domains involved in the efficiency of transferrin-iron acquisition were identified. One additional study describes and characterizes a novel mechanism of TonB-independent transferrin-iron acquisition. Overall, these studies further elucidate mechanisms utilized by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in the process of iron acquisition from human transferrin.

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION

Neisseria gonorrhoeae and *Neisseria meningitidis* are both human pathogens in the *Neisseriaceae* family. *N. gonorrhoeae* is the causative agent of the sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea. The first documented observations of gonorrhea were made by Hippocrates (460 – 355 BC) (146), and the bacterium *N. gonorrhoeae* was first discovered in 1879 by Albert Neisser. Although *N. gonorrhoeae* was not recognized until the nineteenth century, gonorrhea has been described since antiquity, with references made in biblical and other ancient texts (146). Until the advent of antibiotics in the 1900s, gonorrhea was very difficult to treat and control. To this day, gonorrhea has still proven difficult to control because of the increasing antibiotic resistance in isolates throughout the world (33, 34). In addition to the high incidence of antibiotic resistance (33), the lack of protective immunity and increase in HIV transmission correlated with gonococcal infection (44, 128) point to the need for development of an effective vaccine against *N. gonorrhoeae*.

Neisseria meningitidis is closely related to *N. gonorrhoeae* and was first described by Anton Weichselbaum in 1887. *N. meningitidis* is the causative agent of bacterial meningitis, which may lead to life threatening bacteremia. Despite the differences in disease manifestations, the two pathogenic *Neisseria* share a close evolutionary relationship (217) and have a very similar repertoire of virulence factors. Therefore, experimental observations made in studying *N. gonorrhoeae* may be applied to *N. meningitidis*, and furthermore, the development of an effective vaccine against gonococcal infections may also provide protection against meningococcal disease.

I. Genus Neisseria

The genus *Neisseria* belongs to the family *Neisseriaceae*, which is comprised of many genera, including *Moraxella*, *Acinetobacter*, and *Kingella* (83, 100). Species belonging to the genus *Neisseria* include both obligate human pathogens and normal human flora. The most well studied of the *Neisseria* species are the pathogens *N*. *gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis*. *N. gonorrhoeae* is the only true pathogen because it is always associated with the disease state (32), whereas *N. meningitidis* can be found among normal human flora.

Neisseria species are Gram-negative diplococci that have adjacent, flattened sides and range in size from 0.6 to 1.5 μm. *Neisseria* are classified as either aerobes or facultative aerobes, with optimal growth conditions between 35°C and 37°C in the presence 5% CO₂. *Neisseria* species are fastidious microorganisms that require complex growth media with glucose provided as a carbon source. Consistent with the fact that most *Neisseria* species rely on the human host for survival, all species have limited metabolic capabilities. This limited metabolic potential provides a basis for species differentiation based on abilities to produce acid from carbohydrates, polysaccharide from sucrose, and the ability to reduce nitrate. In addition, *Neisseria* produce a number of enzymes that allow for species differentiation (83, 100) (Table1).

II. Neisseria Infection

Both pathogenic *Neisseria* species are associated with human epithelial mucosa (136), and despite their close evolutionary relationship (217), meningococci colonize the nasopharynx, while gonococci primarily infect the urogenital tract. The differences in disease states and the few differences in virulence factors are likely linked to the different modes of transmission utilized by *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis*.

A. Meningococcal infection

Neisseria meningitidis is a commensal that is spread by respiratory droplets and colonizes the oro- or nasopharynx of approximately 5 - 30% of the human population (71). *N. meningitidis*, in some cases, can be classified as a member of the normal flora or, in others, can be associated with invasive meningococcal disease. It has been shown through multilocus sequence typing (MLST) that disease is caused by hypervirulent lineages of *N. meningitidis* (123) and that these lineages are vastly underrepresented in asymptomatic meningococcal carriers (41). Invasive meningococcal disease develops when meningococci cross the nasopharyngeal epithelium and enter the bloodstream, resulting in bacteremia. In turn, meningitis results when meningococci cross the bloodbrain barrier, which can occur as a consequence of high level bacteremia (154). Invasive meningococcal disease usually develops rapidly and has a high rate of fatality between 5 – 15% (86). The rapid disease progression makes prompt diagnosis and intervention critical for survival of meningococcemia and meningitis.

Neisseria meningitidis can be classified into thirteen different serogroups, based on the polysaccharide capsule. Serogroups A, B, C, Y, and W-135 are most commonly associated with invasive meningococcal disease, with A, B, and C accounting for approximately 90% of cases worldwide (168). Currently there is an effective tetravalent vaccine against serogroups A, C, Y, and W-135; however, there is no vaccine against serogroup B because this capsular polysaccharide lacks immunogenicity. The lack of immunogenicity occurs through the decoration of serogroup B capsule with host sialic acid, which is considered a form of molecular mimicry (203). The need for an effective vaccine against all capsular serotypes is critical in eliminating meningococcal disease throughout the world.

B. Meningococcal epidemiology

The rate of meningococcal disease in the United States is relatively low, with approximately 0.9 - 1.5 cases per 100,000 people (189). The rates of meningococcal disease are highest among infants, but rates drop following infancy and then rise again during adolescence and early adulthood (190). In addition to fluctuations in disease rate among different age groups, fluctuations in rates are also observed during seasonal changes, with rates highest during the winter and early spring in the United States (190). Meningococcal disease is a much more serious problem in other parts of the world. Europe has slightly higher rates of disease than the United States, with approximately 0.3 - 7.1 cases per 100,000 people (159). Meningococcal disease occurs in major epidemics within the African meningitis belt, which includes many sub-Saharan countries. The rates of disease during these epidemics are 500 - 1000 times the rates seen in the United

States, with approximately 500 – 1000 cases per 100,000 people (237). Overall, meningococcal disease is serious and widespread throughout the world. The various factors that contribute to meningococcal disease and epidemics are complex and not well understood.

C. Gonococcal infection

Neisseria gonorrhoeae is the causative agent of the sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea. Gonorrhea is transmitted through sexual contact and causes a localized infection of the male and female lower urogenital mucosa. In men, gonorrhea typically presents as an acute urethritis, and epididymitis is a common complication of untreated urethritis. Although rare in males, other complications result from ascension of gonococci to the upper genital tract and include prostatitis, posterior urethritis, and seminal vesiculitis (68). In women, gonococcal infection causes cervicitis and/or urethritis, but up to 80% of women are asymptomatic and do not seek proper medical attention (8, 129, 167). It has been shown that 40% of women with localized gonococcal infection are also anorectally colonized with N. gonorrhoeae (99). Ascension of gonococci to the upper genital tract can result in pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), which is seen in 10 - 20% of female infections (82, 236). If left untreated, PID can cause fallopian tube scarring and can ultimately result in infertility and/or ectopic pregnancy (150, 202). Disseminated gonococcal infection (DGI) can also occur, but at a relatively low frequency (0.5 - 3%) and most commonly in young women (68). Classic symptoms of DGI include dermatitis, tenosynovitis, migratory polyarthritis, and even less common perihepatitis (120) and endocarditis (92). Additional primary sites of gonococcal

infection include the rectum, pharynx, and conjunctiva. Gonococcal conjunctivitis is a localized infection of the adult eye that can result in corneal scarring and without immediate treatment can lead to loss of vision (143, 221). Gonococcal infection can be transferred from mother to neonate during vaginal childbirth, causing neonatal conjunctivitis. Although not a significant problem in the United States, this infection remains a very common cause of blindness in developing countries (108). The serious sequelae resulting from gonococcal infection, the lack of protective immunity, and the correlation with HIV transmission (44, 128), all point to the need for an effective vaccine against *N. gonorrhoeae*.

D. Gonococcal epidemiology

Infection by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is a major health concern throughout the world. In 1998, the World Health Organization reported that there were 62.2 million cases of gonorrhea worldwide (238). The estimated number of cases in the United States reached approximately 360,000 cases in 2006, making gonorrhea the second most frequently reported communicable disease following chlamydial infection (33). Although the rates of gonorrhea declined 74% from 1975 to 1997, the rates steadily increased again, with the number of cases reaching 121 per 100,000 people in 1998 (32). Reporting of gonococcal cases is typically lower than the actual incidence of disease particularly due to underreporting and asymptomatic gonococcal infection in women.

The high rates of gonococcal infection seen throughout the world are a serious cause for concern. Gonorrhea has huge health implications in regard to PID and the role gonococcal infection plays in facilitating HIV infection (44, 128). The continuing

6

emergence of antibiotic resistant *N. gonorrhoeae* is of increasing concern for the control and prevention of gonorrhea. Recent reports of antibiotic resistance in *N. gonorrhoeae* show that there is still a high prevalence of isolates resistant to both penicillin and tetracycline, presence of multi-drug resistant strains, and an emergence of fluoroquinolone resistance (33). In addition, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention recommended in 2007 that fluoroquinolones should no longer be used for treatment of gonococcal infection (34). Currently, third generation cephalosporins are the treatment of choice against gonorrhea, but decreased susceptibility has been observed (33), which suggests that it is only a matter of time before resistance develops to all currently available antibiotic therapies. In addition to the health implications resulting from gonococcal infection, the increasing rates of resistance seen in *N. gonorrhoeae* again point to the need for the development of an effective vaccine.

III. Neisseria Virulence Factors

Pathogenic *Neisseria* express a wide range of virulence factors that contribute to pathogenesis within the human host. A number of these factors contribute to initial adherence to mucosal epithelium, while other adhesins facilitate more intimate adherence with specific host cell receptors. These interactions facilitate invasion and transcytosis across epithelial cells, which allows for interaction with endothelial and various immune cells. These interactions can ultimately lead to entry into the bloodstream and dissemination to distal sites. During this process there are many virulence factors involved in immune evasion, extracellular and intracellular survival, and disease

progression. These virulence determinants and their roles in gonococcal and meningococcal pathogenesis are discussed below.

A. Capsule

Polysaccharide capsule is one well-characterized virulence factor that is found in *N. meningitidis*, but absent in *N. gonorrhoeae* (68). Thus, capsule is likely one of the main virulence determinant that facilitates the different mode of transmission, disease progression, and disease outcome observed with meningococcal infection. *N. meningitidis* expresses 13 different capsule types, which differ in the polysaccharide composition. Meningococcal capsule is subject to high-frequency phase variation and various sialic acid modifications, which have both been shown to be important in resistance to phagocytosis and complement-mediated killing (68). The diversity of capsular polysaccharides in addition to the variations within each capsular serogroup make capsular polysaccharide a dynamic virulence factor in the pathogenesis of *N. meningitidis*.

B. Pilus

To initiate infection, pathogenic *Neisseria* must adhere to the mucosal epithelium in a step known as initial adherence. Type IV pilus is critical for the colonization of the mucosal nasopharynx and urogenital tract. In the absence of pili, gonococci are unable to initiate infection upon human challenge (95, 96). Type IV pili are long filamentous structures that extend from the gonococcal and meningococcal cell surface and facilitate binding to host mucosal epithelium. The long pili allow gonococci and meningococci to overcome the negative electrostatic barrier that exists between bacterial and host cells to allow for initial attachment (80).

The type IV pilus is composed of two subunits: monomeric pilin subunits (PilE) that form the pilus fiber and PilC, the pilus tip adhesin (191). Pili have been shown to mediate many different cellular interactions with epithelial cells, endothelial cells, granulocytes, macrophages, and erythrocytes (101, 193, 196, 224, 227). PilC has been shown to be an important factor in host cell interactions and facilitates interaction with both epithelial and endothelial cells (153). PilC mutants are unable to interact with these cells, and purified PilC prevented piliated gonococci from interacting with epithelial cells in vitro (195).

Type IV pili of pathogenic *Neisseria* are antigenic and produce a local antibody response that blocks attachment of bacteria to epithelial cells (90, 127, 219); however, expression of pilus is subject to both phase and antigenic variation, which makes it a poor vaccine candidate. Phase variation of pilus results from RecA-independent frame shifting known as slipped-strand mispairing, while antigenic variation results from RecAdependent, non-reciprocal gene conversion (103). Slipped-strand mispairing occurs during DNA replication, when DNA polymerase skips or adds bases in the poly cysteine tract of *pilE*, causing a frame shift and gene expression to be turned off (103). Phase variation occurs at a relatively high frequency of 10^{-4} per cell generation (103, 245). Antigenic variation of pilus results from the non-reciprocal exchange of DNA sequences from one of several silent *pilS* loci into the *pilE* expression locus (73, 134, 135, 199). In addition to phase and antigenic variation, pilin is also subject to posttranslational modifications through phosphorylation and glycosylation (205, 227). The receptor responsible for pilus interactions with host cells has not been identified and the only receptor (93) that has been implicated in this interaction is subject to much controversy (125).

C. Opacity proteins

The neisserial opacity proteins (Opa) were identified and named for the color and opacity that they impart on gonococcal colonies (87, 212). Opacity proteins are integral outer membrane proteins that have been associated with Neisseria virulence and host cell interaction. Opas are linked to N. gonorrhoeae virulence because gonococci recovered from urogenital, cervical, and rectal infections always express at least one Opa protein (213). In addition, gonococcal strains, not expressing Opas, used in volunteer infection studies are always recovered following infection expressing these proteins (89). These studies point to the fact that opacity proteins are required for survival and virulence in vivo. Any single gonococcal strain can possess up to eleven distinct opa alleles that encode antigenically distinct Opa variants, while meningococcal strains only possess up to four distinct opa alleles (13, 106). Opacity proteins from both N. meningitidis and N. gonorrhoeae are subject to high-frequency phase variation that in N. gonorrhoeae results in the expression of zero to four Opas at any one time (17). This phase variation occurs via slipped-strand mispairing in which the number of CTCTT repeats in a poly CTCTT tract vary and cause frame shifts that result in differential expression of none, one, or multiple Opas at one time (152, 204).

Opacity proteins have also been characterized as factors involved in intimate attachment to host cells. Opas have been shown to facilitate binding and invasion of host cells through interactions with surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG) as well as carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecules (CEACAM) on various cell and tissue types (68). Several of the eleven different Opas expressed by *N. gonorrhoeae* bind to HSPGs (39, 106, 223) and one in particular has been shown to mediate intimate adherence that results in receptor-mediated endocytosis into epithelial cells (106, 230, 231). This Opa protein has also been shown to mediate binding and promote invasion of endothelial cells and fibroblasts, although in a less efficient manner than seen with epithelial cells (67).

CEACAMs are differentially expressed on a variety of cell types (9, 173, 216) and Opas have been shown to interact with a number of CEACAMs (19, 69). Opamediated binding and invasion has been observed in many cells, including epithelial, endothelial, and phagocytic cells and these events ultimately leads to CEACAMdependent intracellular signaling. Although Opa-CEACAM interactions are important for gonococcal cell tropisms, this interaction is also important in the down regulation of the host immune response through the suppression of T-cell activation and proliferation, inhibition of antibody production, and induction of B-cell apoptosis (21, 164)

D. Opc

Opc is a neisserial outer membrane adhesin that is similar in size to the opacity proteins, but structurally and antigenically distinct. Opc was originally identified as a meningococcal-specific protein, but is also found in *N. gonorrhoeae* (132). The majority

of work done on Opc has been in the meningococcus, but its role in intimate adherence and invasion is important to consider for *N. gonorrhoeae*. Opc has been shown to interact with epithelial and endothelial cells (54, 133, 225). Opc interaction with endothelial cells occurs via $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrin in a vitronectin-dependent fashion (226). Opc likely serves as another adhesin and invasin important for *Neisseria* pathogenesis.

E. Porins

Porins are the most abundant proteins on the outer membrane of *Neisseria*. They form hydrophilic pores that allow for the passive diffusion of small nutrients (molecular weight ≤ 600 daltons) across the outer membrane (158). Porins have a variety of different cellular functions that contribute to the pathogenesis of *Neisseria*. Porin has been shown to translocate into eukaryotic cytoplasmic and phagosomal membranes (230). Once inserted in the eukaryotic membranes, porins are regulated by the host cell (192), which suggests that they have characteristics of voltage-dependent anion channels. Once porins form pores in eukaryotic membranes, they cause rapid calcium influx and ultimately induce cellular apoptosis (148, 149). Porins also have effects on the host cell phagocytic response, by interference with PMN signaling, inhibition of degranulation, down regulation of opsonin receptor-mediated phagocytosis, and modulation of phagosomal maturation (16, 75, 147).

N. meningitidis expresses two types of porin, PorA and PorB, while *N. gonorrhoeae* only expresses one porin, PorB. PorB of both pathogenic *Neisseria* have two antigenically distinct serotypes, designated PIA and PIB. Expression of PorBIA (PIA) is known to cause increased gonococcal serum resistance and is correlated with

disseminated gonococcal infection (142). Serum resistance mediated by PIA is attributable to its ability to bind complement factors, Factor H and C4 binding protein, and thereby prevent complement-mediated killing (178, 179). Thus, porins are important in basic nutrient acquisition as well as immune modulation and evasion in the pathogenic *Neisseria*.

F. Lipooligosaccharide

Lipopolysaccharide or LPS is a major component of the Gram-negative outer membrane. LPS is comprised of three parts: lipid A, which is embedded in the outer membrane, the core polysaccharide, and the O-antigen side chains. Neisserial LPS can be distinguished from enteric LPS because of its highly-branched core oligosaccharide structure and lack of repetitive O-antigen side chains. Thus, LPS from Neisseria species is called lipooligosaccharide or LOS. LOS is an endotoxin and a major virulence factor involved in the inflammatory response seen during Neisseria infection. LOS, like many other virulence factors of pathogenic *Neisseria*, is subject to high-frequency variation. Variation in LOS occurs at the α side chains within the core polysaccharide, where sugar residues are added by various glycosyl transferases. These enzymes are subject to slipped-strand mispairing at poly glycine tracts, which causes variations in expression patterns. Differential expression of the glycosyl transferases, leads to overall changes in LOS size, structure, and carbohydrate composition (52, 241). In addition, LOS is subject to post-translational modification in vivo, which is known to enhance *Neisseria* serum resistance. Sialylation of LOS occurs in vivo by gonococcal and meningococcal sialyltransferases that utilize host derived cytidine 5'-mono-phospho-N-acetylneuraminic
acid (CMP-NANA) as a sialyl donor (124). This modification enhances gonococcal and meningococcal survival in vivo through inhibition of complement deposition (180) and phagocytic killing (141). Sialylation of LOS with host CMP-NANA represents another example of molecular mimicry that aids in survival of *Neisseria* in the human host. Additionally, LOS sialylation protects *Neisseria* against PorB-specific bactericidal antibodies (59).

G. Reduction-modifiable protein

Reduction-modifiable protein (Rmp) is a gonococcal outer membrane protein found in all gonococcal isolates and is named based on the observed molecular weight shift following reduction in SDS-PAGE (65). Rmp, an OmpA homolog (66), is often found in association with LOS and PorB in the outer membrane (81, 130) and is highly conserved between strains (91, 239). Rmp-specific antibodies serve as blocking antibodies that protect gonococci from LOS- and PorB-specific bactericidal antibodies (151, 185). In fact, Rmp antibodies actually increase host susceptibility to gonococcal infection (171).

H. IgA protease

Pathogenic *Neisseria* secrete a serine IgA protease that has a high specificity for human IgAI antibodies. IgAI is a specific subtype of IgA and is the most prominent IgA antibody found in mucosal secretions (194). Therefore, gonococci and meningococci come in contact with IgAI antibodies during localized infection and are able to cleave the F_{ab} antigen binding fragment from the F_c effector domain. This cleavage event essentially decorates *Neisseria* with F_{ab} , which aids in masking the immunodominant, surface epitopes from host bactericidal antibodies (68). Neisserial IgA protease also cleaves human lysosome/late endosome associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP-1) and this cleavage event is important for gonococcal survival and growth within epithelial cells (79, 116). Not only does IgA protease aid in colonization at mucosal surfaces, but it also appears to have a significant role in intracellular survival.

IV. Iron and Pathogenesis

A. Iron

Iron is one of the most abundant elements on the earth and is essential for the survival of virtually all organisms (25). Iron has a versatile redox potential, and can exist in the reduced ferrous (Fe^{2+}) form or the oxidized ferric (Fe^{3+}) state. Under aerobic conditions, ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) is highly unstable and through the Fenton reaction is converted to ferric iron (Fe^{3+}) with the production of toxic, reactive oxygen species:

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH \cdot + OH^-$$

The reactivity and toxicity of iron creates an environment in which iron sequestration is critical within the human host. Although iron is very abundant in nature, it exists in an inaccessible form due to its extreme insolubility. This property of insolubility creates an iron-limiting environment in the human host, with a concentration of free, ferric iron (Fe^{3+}) of 10^{-18} M (29), which is far below the nutrient requirement for survival of microorganisms (232). Within the human host, this concentration is even lower as a result of host iron binding proteins sequestering free iron from the environment (182). All microorganisms require iron, with the exception of only two known bacterial genera,

Lactobacillus (5) and *Borrelia* (172). Iron is critically important as an electron carrier in microbial oxidative metabolism and as the catalytic center of a variety of essential enzymes. As a result, pathogenic microorganisms have evolved mechanisms to acquire iron from host iron binding proteins to survive and persist within the human host.

B. Pathogenic mechanisms for iron acquisition

There are many mechanisms by which microorganisms acquire iron from the human host. Many microorganisms produce and secrete siderophores, low-molecularweight iron-chelating molecules, during iron stress to scavenge iron from their environments (155, 156). Siderophores function to specifically bind, solubilize, and deliver iron via bacterial ferric-siderophore uptake systems. Some bacteria can obtain iron through the expression and secretion of ferric reductases, which reduce ferric iron (Fe^{3+}) to the more soluble ferrous (Fe^{2+}) form for utilization (51, 197). These reductases have also been shown to remove iron from host iron binding proteins through this reduction event (51, 197). Other bacteria have receptor-mediated mechanisms to scavenge and utilize iron from heme, hemoproteins, and other host serum proteins, such as lactoferrin and transferrin. The human host goes to great lengths to sequester iron in an attempt to make free iron inaccessible, and pathogenic microorganisms have developed a variety of different mechanisms to bypass this iron sequestration for survival. These mechanisms of host iron sequestration and the pathogenic mechanisms in which bacteria acquire iron from the human host are discussed in the next two sections.

V. Iron Sources in the Human Host

A. Ferric and ferrous iron

Ferric iron (Fe³⁺) is the major form available in aerobic environments, but is highly insoluble in the form of ferric hydroxides. Ferrous iron (Fe²⁺), however, is the predominant form under anaerobic or reducing conditions. Although not typically present in high concentrations within the human host, soluble, ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) can diffuse freely across Gram-negative outer membranes via porins. Subsequently, iron is transported through the cytoplasmic membrane by ABC ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) transporters, which are conserved among many bacterial species (94).

B. Ferritin

Ferritin is the major cytoplasmic iron storage protein within the human host. Ferritins function intracellularly to provide iron during iron shortages and also protect the host from the toxic effects of iron accumulation. Ferritin consists of 24 subunits that form a icosahedron structure (30) that has a capacity for harboring more than 4000 ferric iron (Fe³⁺) atoms (1, 2, 181). Although ferritins have not been shown to be a substantial iron source for bacterial pathogens, they constitute a major intracellular iron source.

C. Heme & heme binding proteins

a. Heme

Heme is an iron-containing porphyrin ring that is highly toxic to cells and as a result, is scarcely found free in the human host. Despite its scarcity in the host environment, heme does serve as an iron source for a variety of bacterial pathogens. These microorganisms express specific, high-affinity uptake systems to acquire heme-

iron from the human host. However due to its toxicity, free heme exists at very low concentrations because it is sequestered by the host hemoproteins: hemoglobin, haptoglobin, and hemopexin.

b. Hemoglobin

Hemoglobin is found in red blood cells and functions as an oxygen carrier in the human host. It is tetrameric in structure and each subunit binds heme. Hemoglobin can exist in one of three states: (1) methemoglobin, which is oxidized and contains ferric iron (Fe^{3+}) ; (2) oxyhemoglobin, which is the oxygen carrying form; or (3) carboxyhemoglobin, which is reduced and contains ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) . Many bacterial species express hemoglobin-specific heme uptake systems for the acquisition of heme-iron complexes.

c. Haptoglobin

Haptoglobin is a host serum glycoprotein that binds hemoglobin when it is released into the serum following hemolysis. The hemoglobin-haptoglobin interaction occurs at such a high affinity in the host that dissociation only occurs through degradation of the protein complex in the liver. It has been shown that pathogenic *Neisseria* (112, 115) and *Haemophilus influenzae* (122, 145) are able to utilize the hemoglobinhaptoglobin complex as a heme-iron source through receptor-mediated events.

d. Hemopexin

Hemopexin is another host serum glycoprotein that binds heme with a high affinity (165). Hemopexin functions to remove free heme from the serum and transport it to the liver, where apopexin is recycled following release of heme intracellularly. To

date, *Haemophilus influenzae* has been the only bacterium shown to specifically bind and utilize hemopexin as a source of heme (78).

D. Lactoferrin

Lactoferrin is an iron binding glycoprotein found in mucosal secretions among many other places. It is found in highest concentration in breast milk, but is also present in secondary granules of neutrophils and various other secretions (26). The lactoferrin structure consists of two highly homologous lobes that both have deep binding clefts that function in ferric iron (Fe³⁺) coordination (3). Lactoferrin is similar to transferrin, but has two features that make it distinct. Those features include its higher affinity for iron and its higher isoelectric point (pI) (26). Lactoferrin functions primarily in iron chelation to protect the host from the toxic effects of iron accumulation. However, lactoferrin has also been attributed to a large number other functions unrelated to its iron binding capacity (26, 27). One of importance is its antimicrobial properties mediated by both full-length lactoferrin as well as small, cleaved lactoferrin peptide fragments (26, 240). Lactoferrin plays an important role in the host through both its immunoregulatory functions (26) and iron sequestering ability. Many bacterial pathogens have evolved specific and efficient mechanisms to acquire iron from lactoferrin within the human host.

E. Transferrin

Transferrin is the most abundant iron transport protein found in the human host. It is an 80 kDa glycoprotein found in high concentrations in serum, lymph, and seminal fluid. Transferrin has two major functions in the host: (1) iron binding for transport throughout the human body and (2) protecting the host from iron-mediated toxicity. Similar to lactoferrin, transferrin has a high affinity for iron, with an association constant that has been reported as high as 10^{31} M (2). The structure of transferrin shows that it is bi-lobed and both lobes function in high-affinity iron coordination (88). However, in vivo, transferrin is only about 30% saturated with iron (2). Ferric iron (Fe³⁺) is hexacoordinated in the lobes of transferrin by two tyrosines, a histidine, an aspartic acid, a carbonate, coordinating anion, and a hydroxyl group from water (88). Despite the high-affinity coordination of iron, many bacterial pathogens are able to acquire iron from transferrin within the human host.

VI. TonB-Dependent Iron Acquisition

The majority of pathogenic mechanisms to obtain iron from the human host are classified as TonB-dependent iron acquisition systems. The components of TonBdependent iron uptake include, but are not limited to, an integral, outer membrane protein that transports iron/iron complexes through the outer membrane, a TonB protein complex that harnesses energy for the process of iron internalization, and a periplasmic iron binding protein (PBP) that shuttles iron/iron complexes to an ABC transporter within the cytoplasmic membrane. Various mechanisms of TonB-dependent iron acquisition have been identified and these systems are discussed (Figure 1).

A. Siderophore-mediated iron acquisition

Siderophores are low-molecular-weight, high-affinity iron chelators of which more than 500 have been identified (181). They are divided into three major classes based on the structure and chemical nature of iron coordination. Siderophores are classified as catecholates, hydroxamates, and carboxylates; however, this classification scheme is becoming more complex with new information on siderophores that have structural and chemical features from more than one class (182). These molecules specifically bind ferric iron (Fe³⁺) with a high affinity and rarely bind the ferrous (Fe²⁺) form. Ferric iron is complexed in a 1:1 ratio with each siderophore and is typically found in a hexacoordinated state, which forms an octahedral structure in aqueous solution (182). Interestingly, ferric-siderophores have a wide range of affinities for iron, with dissociation constants ranging from 10^{22} to 10^{50} (181), over 30 orders of magnitude differences between some (139). These relative affinities for iron are sufficient for siderophore-mediated removal of iron from human ferritin, lactoferrin, and transferrin, but not the various hemoproteins (181).

Siderophores are synthesized and secreted by microorganisms to scavenge iron from the environment (228). Once ferric iron (Fe³⁺) is bound and mobilized by siderophores, it becomes accessible by one of two ways: (1) iron is released from the siderophore complex through a reduction at the bacterial cell surface, whereby iron is taken up by the cell (51) or (2) the entire ferric-siderophore complex is internalized by a TonB-dependent receptor-mediated event (139). However, bacterial systems of reduction-mediated iron removal from siderophores are less well known and the receptormediated events are considered the major route of siderophore-mediated iron acquisition (139).

Ferric-siderophore uptake (Figure 1), like all TonB-dependent transporters, requires TonB energization and an outer membrane transporter to facilitate uptake

through the outer membrane. The TonB complex is composed of three proteins: TonB, which is embedded in the cytoplasmic membrane and spans the periplasmic space and ExbB and ExbD, which are both embedded in the cytoplasmic membrane. These proteins work together to harness the proton motive force of the cytoplasmic membrane to energize TonB, which is thought to promote its interaction with specific outer membrane transporters and facilitates ferric-siderophore uptake (139). It also requires a periplasmic iron binding protein (PBP) and an ABC transporter for movement across the periplasm and through the cytoplasmic membrane, respectively.

Many of these TonB-dependent, outer membrane transporters have been crystallized and their overall structures, shown in Figure 2, are very similar (28, 40, 42, 43, 119, 244). These structures show the presence of two distinct domains: (1) a Cterminal β -barrel consisting of 22 β -strand transmembrane-spanning domains and (2) an N-terminal plug domain that folds up with the β -barrel. Mutagenesis (35, 36) and disulfide tethering (58) of the plug domain, have revealed that the plug domain undergoes conformational rearrangement that allows for ferric-siderophore transport through the outer membrane. This conformational change is thought to occur following interaction with TonB and results in siderophore translocation through the outer membrane (166, 200).

Following ABC-mediated transport through the cytoplasmic membrane, the ferric-siderophore gains access to the bacterial cytoplasm. Within the cytoplasm, there are two known mechanisms that result in iron release from siderophore complexes. The first involves the reduction of ferric iron (Fe³⁺) to ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) by cytoplasmic

ferric-siderophore reductases (139). The second involves specialized enzymes that promote hydrolysis, resulting in destabilization of the siderophore and release of iron (139). Overall, these mechanisms of TonB-dependent siderophore-mediated iron acquisition are utilized by many pathogenic microorganisms to meet their iron requirements in the midst of severe iron starvation within the human host.

B. Non-siderophore-mediated iron acquisition

a. Heme and hemoproteins

Many pathogenic bacteria utilize heme as an iron source within the human host. Similar to iron, heme is cytotoxic and thus sequestered by host hemoproteins, hemoglobin, haptoglobin, and hemopexin. One mechanism pathogens utilize to gain access to heme within the host is the secretion of exotoxins that cause cell lysis (109, 162, 170, 201, 206), which results in the release of intracellular heme and hemoproteins. Once heme and/or hemoproteins are accessible, pathogens utilize two mechanisms for acquiring heme (reviewed in (229)). The first involves direct uptake of heme from host hemoproteins through TonB-dependent outer membrane transporters, as shown in Figure 1 (169). This process resembles the mechanism described for siderophore-mediated iron acquisition, requiring an outer membrane transporter, periplasmic binding protein (PBP), and cytoplasmic membrane-associated ABC transporter. However, unlike ferricsiderophore transporters these hemoprotein receptors consist of two proteins that are both required for heme acquisition and uptake. Briefly, the hemoprotein is bound to the outer membrane receptor, heme is removed, and transported through the outer membrane in a TonB-dependent step. Subsequently, heme is received and bound by a periplasmic heme

binding protein (PBP) and shuttled to the ABC transporter, which facilitates uptake into the bacterial cytoplasm. Once heme reaches the cytoplasm, it is degraded and iron is released and utilized by the cell.

The second mechanism by which bacteria utilize heme is through the secretion of hemophores, which scavenge heme from the environment and deliver it back to specific TonB-dependent receptors for internalization (reviewed in (55)). Once the hemehemophore complex binds the receptor, the mechanism of heme uptake is essentially identical to that for the process involved in hemoprotein-heme acquisition described previously.

b. Lactoferrin and transferrin

Many pathogenic bacteria express high-affinity receptors for human lactoferrin and transferrin binding (70). These receptors not only function in lactoferrin/transferrin binding, but also TonB-dependent iron transport. Thus, both of these receptors have two ligand specificities, one for lactoferrin/transferrin and another for iron. In contrast to the ferric-siderophore transporters, both lactoferrin- and transferrin-iron acquisition systems involve two protein components: an integral, outer membrane protein and a surfaceexposed lipoprotein. In both systems, the outer membrane transporter (LbpA/TbpA) functions in lactoferrin or transferrin binding as well as iron transport, while the lipidated protein (LbpB/TbpB) functions only in ligand binding. The process of lactoferrin- and transferrin-mediated iron acquisition is thought to be similar to the process described in siderophore-mediated iron acquisition (Figure 1). However, there are two major differences in the lactoferrin- and transferrin-iron acquisition systems that make them unique from characterized TonB-dependent siderophore transporters. Firstly, the lipoprotein components are not present in siderophore-mediated iron acquisition systems. Secondly, the mechanism of iron internalization likely differs in that both lactoferrin and transferrin must be stripped of iron in the process of transport, whereas, ferricsiderophore complexes are transported without this iron removal step. Although the crystal structures of these integral, outer membrane proteins and the lipoproteins have not been solved, the outer membrane transporters are thought to look very similar to crystallized siderophore transporters (Figure 2), consisting of two distinct domains.

VII. Iron Acquisition Systems in Pathogenic Neisseria

A. Siderophore utilization

Neisseria do not produce any known siderophores (6, 131, 235), but have been shown to utilize siderophores produced by other microorganisms (31, 234). The receptors for utilization of these xenosiderophores have not been identified; however, a number of putative receptors have been, which have significant homology to characterized *E. coli* TonB-dependent siderophore transporters (220). The possible role of these putative transporters in xenosiderophore utilization has yet to be determined. To date, there has been only one siderophore receptor, FrpB/FetA, in *N. gonorrhoeae* linked to ferric-enterobactin binding, but its specific role in ferric-enterobactin uptake has not been shown (31). Although ferric-siderophore utilization is a major mechanism of iron acquisition for many bacterial pathogens, it does not appear to play a significant role in *Neisseria* iron acquisition. As a result, pathogenic *Neisseria* express high-affinity iron acquisition systems to acquire iron from host iron binding proteins.

B. Hemoprotein utilization

Pathogenic *Neisseria* are not able to use hemopexin, myoglobin, or other heme sources, such as albumin, catalase, or cytochromes (23), but can utilize free heme in a TonB-independent mechanism (209). Through TonB-dependent mechanisms, pathogenic *Neisseria* are able to utilize hemoglobin and haptoglobin as heme-iron sources through the expression of HpuA and HpuB (38, 112, 114, 115). Similar to the lactoferrin- and transferrin-iron acquisition systems, the hemoglobin and haptoglobin utilization system has two components. HpuB is the TonB-dependent, outer membrane heme transporter, while HpuA is the surface-exposed lipoprotein (114). Unlike the lactoferrin and transferrin systems, both components are required for hemoglobin- and haptoglobinmediated heme uptake (115). Also unlike the components of the lactoferrin and transferrin utilization systems, the hemoglobin and haptoglobin utilization components, HpuA and HpuB, are subject to high-frequency phase variation, which occurs through slipped-strand mispairing at a poly glycine tract within the *hpuAB* locus (113).

N. meningitidis, but not *N. gonorrhoeae*, also expresses another TonB-dependent receptor, HmbR, which functions in only hemoglobin utilization (110, 207, 208). This hemoglobin utilization system is comprised of only one outer membrane receptor, HmbR, unlike the two component system for hemoglobin and haptoglobin utilization (110, 207, 208). Similar to the components of the hemoglobin and haptoglobin utilization system,

HmbR is also subject to high-frequency phase variation though slipped-strand mispairing at a poly glycine tract in the *hmbR* locus (113, 186).

C. Lactoferrin utilization

Neisseria species are able to use lactoferrin as an iron source in the human host (6, 18, 111, 131, 137). However, only about 50% of gonococcal isolates are able to utilize this iron source, which indicates that lactoferrin may not be required for survival of *N. gonorrhoeae* at mucosal surfaces or in disseminated infection (137). Lactoferrin utilization is mediated by the lactoferrin binding proteins, LbpA and LbpB (14, 15, 198). LbpA is a TonB-dependent integral, outer membrane transporter, required for lactoferrin-mediated iron acquisition. However, LbpB is a lipid-modified, surface-exposed protein that is not essential for lactoferrin utilization. This system is thought to function similarly to other TonB-dependent iron acquisition systems and is shown in Figure 1.

D. Transferrin utilization

Among the many iron acquisition systems of pathogenic *Neisseria*, the transferrin-iron acquisition system is likely important during most stages of *Neisseria* pathogenesis. Although the transferrin- and lactoferrin-iron acquisition systems are very similar, they only function in specifically binding transferrin and lactoferrin, respectively. Unlike the lactoferrin utilization system, the transferrin-iron acquisition system is expressed by all clinical isolates (138), which implicates its importance in virulence. In addition, the transferrin-iron uptake system is not subject to high-frequency phase variation as is seen in the hemoglobin, haptoglobin, and lactoferrin utilization system. Similar to the other iron acquisition systems in *Neisseria*, the transferrin-iron acquisition system is composed of two transferrin binding proteins (TbpA and TbpB).

The transferrin binding proteins are encoded by a bicistronic operon with *tbpB* upstream of *tbpA* (188). The two genes are separated by an 86 base pair intergenic region that is thought to form a putative, secondary stem loop structure in the mRNA (188). This region is thought to be involved in the 2:1 ratio of *tbpB* and *tbpA* transcripts (188). Although there are likely many regulatory mechanisms involved, it has been shown that expression of the transferrin binding proteins is regulated by the ferric uptake regulator (Fur), whereby expression is repressed during iron replete conditions and derepressed under iron deplete conditions (188).

TbpA and TbpB are maximally expressed under iron stress and can function specifically and independently in high-affinity transferrin binding. TbpA is a TonBdependent, integral, outer membrane protein that is critical for transferrin-mediated iron acquisition. TbpB, on the other hand, is a surface-exposed lipoprotein that is not essential for iron uptake. TbpB not only binds transferrin but also discriminates between the apo and holo forms of transferrin, with a preference for holo-transferrin (20, 50, 183, 184). Although not required for transferrin-mediated iron acquisition, TbpB is known to make the process more efficient.

Although the crystal structure has not been solved, TbpA has significant homology to characterized TonB-dependent siderophore transporters (48), of which the structures are known (Figure 2). Based on these crystal structures, a TbpA twodimensional, topological model has been predicted (Figure 3), in which TbpA is thought

28

to look very similar to TonB-dependent transporters. TbpA is proposed to have two distinct domains: (1) a C-terminal β -barrel pore comprised of 22 β -strand transmembrane-spanning domains and (2) an N-terminal globular plug that is predicted to fold up and occlude the β -barrel. As mentioned, TbpA is required for transferrinmediated iron acquisition and functions not only in transferrin binding, but also iron transport. Following TbpA-transferrin binding, it is hypothesized that TbpA removes iron from transferrin and transports iron through the outer membrane in a TonBdependent step (Figure 1). It is known that TonB associates with TbpA via a TonB box of the plug domain (97). This interaction is thought to promote a conformational change in TbpA that allows for iron removal from transferrin and transport through the TbpA β barrel. Although TbpB is not required for this iron internalization event, it does make the process more efficient, for in its absence approximately 50% of wild-type is observed (4).

There is much known about the mechanisms of TonB-dependent siderophore transport, but the mechanism of TonB-dependent transferrin-iron uptake is less well known. This system represents a novel TonB-dependent transporter because the unique mechanism of iron acquisition and the involvement of a secondary, lipoprotein component. Characterized siderophore transporters are known to bind and internalize ferric-siderophore complexes, whereas the transferrin-iron acquisition system must bind holo-transferrin, remove and transport iron through the outer membrane, and ultimately release apo-transferrin at the surface. These two features make the mechanism of transferrin-mediated iron acquisition unique and thus important for investigation.

VIII. Objectives

The goal of the work described here was to further characterize the mechanism of transferrin-mediated iron acquisition by *N. gonorrhoeae*. This was accomplished by three major objectives. The first involved analysis of the TbpA plug domain in TonBdependent transferrin-iron acquisition and its overall contribution to iron binding and transport through the TbpA β -barrel. The second objective included analysis of both TbpA and TbpB, with the goal of identifying specific regions of both proteins required for transferrin-mediated iron acquisition. The third objective, although more distantly related to the first two, involved analysis of a TonB-independent mechanism of transferrin-mediated iron acquisition that required TbpA and TbpB. Although different, each study addressed features of TbpA and TbpB and their specific involvement in iron acquisition from human transferrin and provided insight into the transferrin-iron acquisition system of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. These studies are important in fully dissecting the mechanisms of transferrin utilization used by the pathogenic Neisseria and also shed light on the vaccine potential of the transferrin binding proteins, TbpA and TbpB.

Species	Acid from					Polysaccharide	Nitrate	Oxidase	Catalase
	G	Μ	S	F	L	from S	reduction		
N. gonorrhoeae	+	_	_	_	_	_	_	+	+
N. meningitidis	+	+	_	—	_	_	_	+	+
N. lactamica	+	+	_	_	+	_	_	+	+
N. polysaccharea	+	+	_	_	_	+	_	+	+
N. cinerea	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	+	+
N. flavescens	_	_	_	_	_	+	_	+	+
N. mucosa	+	+	+	+	_	+	+	+	+
N. subflava	+	+	+	+	_	+	_	+	+
			_	_		_			
N. sicca	+	+	+	+	_	+	_	+	+
N. elongata	_	_	_	_	_	+	_	+	_
M. catarrhalis	_	_	_	_	_	_	+	+	+
K. denitrificans	+	_	_	_	_	_	+	+	_

Table 1. Biochemical tests for differentiation of Neisseriaceae

Table adapted from Center for Disease Control and Prevention website Abbreviations: G, glucose; M, maltose; S, sucrose; F, fructose; L, lactose **Figure 1. Models of TonB-dependent transport in Gram-negative bacteria.** Various mechanisms of TonB-dependent transport in pathogenic microorganism are shown and distinguished by color. The model of siderophore-mediated iron uptake is shown in yellow. The model of lactoferrin (Lf)- and transferrin (Tf)-mediated iron acquisition is shown in blue. The third system, shown in red, illustrates the mechanisms of heme-iron uptake from hemoglobin (Hb) and haptoglobin (Hg) in *Neisseria*. Components of each system are labeled: integral, outer membrane transporters in the outer membrane, periplasmic binding proteins (PBP) in the periplasm, cytoplasmic membrane-associated TonB/ExbB/ExbD complexes and ABC transporters.



Figure 2. Characterized TonB-dependent transporters. Figure modified from K. D. Krewulak and H. J. Vogel review (104). TonB-dependent transporters are represented as ribbon diagrams: (1) *E. coli* BtuB (40), vitamin B₁₂ transporter; (2) *E. coli* FecA (61), ferric-citrate transporter; (3) *E. coli* FepA (28), ferric-enterobactin transporter; (4) *E. coli* FhuA (62, 119), ferrichrome transporter; (5) *P. aeruginosa* FptA (43), pyochelin transporter; and (6) *P. aeruginosa* FpvA (42), pyoverdine transporter. The characteristic β -barrel domains, shown in blue, are each comprised of 22 β -stand transmembrane-spanning domains. The globular plug domains, shown in green, are folded up within the β -barrel domain and occlude the pore.



Figure 3. *Neisseria* **TbpA topology model.** This TbpA two-dimensional, topology model was generated based on the structures of characterized *E. coli* TonB-dependent siderophore transporters. From these structures, it is predicted that TbpA has two distinct domains. The C-terminal β -barrel domain is shown in blue with 22 putative β -strand transmembrane domains and eleven putative extracellular loops. The loops labeled in blue indicate those that are known to be surface exposed (242). The red circles indicate cysteine residues that likely participate in disulfide bond formation within the loops. The N-terminal plug domain is shown in the periplasm, but is predicted to fold up within the β -barrel to occlude the pore.



CHAPTER 2 – MATERIALS AND METHODS

I. Bacterial Growth Conditions

Gonococcal strains were routinely propagated on GC medium base (Difco) with Kellogg's supplement 1 (96) and 12 μ M Fe(NO₃)₃. For selection of gonococcal transformants, gonococci were grown on GC agar plates supplemented with 100 µg/ml of streptomycin (Sigma) for selection of $lbpB::\Omega$, $tonB::\Omega$, and $pilQ::\Omega$ mutations, 1 µg/ml of chloramphenicol (Sigma) for selection of the *tbpA*::mTn3cat mutation, or 1 µg/ml of erythromycin (Sigma) for selection of *dsbC::ermC*, *traC::ermC*, *traH::ermC*, and *traN::ermC* mutations. For growth under iron-stressed conditions, which promotes maximal expression of the transferrin binding proteins, gonococci were cultured from GC agar plates into acid-washed glassware containing liquid, chelexed defined medium (CDM) (144, 234). All gonococcal strains were cultivated at 37°C with 5% CO₂. CDM agarose plates were supplemented with 5%, 10%, 30%, 50%, or 80% iron-saturated human transferrin (Sigma) as needed to assess the ability of gonococcal mutants to utilize transferrin-bound iron (48). Gonococcal growth on CDM-transferrin plates was monitored over 24 - 72 hours. Plasmids were routinely propagated in TOP10 (Invitrogen) or NovaBlue (Novagen) E. coli strains, grown at 37°C in LB media (10, 11)

supplemented with 50 µg/ml of kanamycin (Sigma) or 100 µg/ml of ampicillin (Sigma). Strains and plasmids described in this study are listed in Tables 2 and 3, respectively.

II. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Mutagenesis

A. Mutagenic oligonucleotide design

According to the method of Horton et al. (84), both gene specific and mutagenic oligonucleotides were designed to overlap for gene splicing by overlap extension or gene SOEing (Figure 4). Oligonucleotides were designed to carry out site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis of the *tbpA* plug-encoding domain and to incorporate unique restriction sites for subsequent screening of gonococcal mutants. Mutagenic and gene specific oligonucleotides were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies and are listed in Tables 4 and 5, respectively.

B. Site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis

Site-specific, alanine substitution mutagenesis of the *tbpA* plug-encoding domain was performed using gene splicing by overlap extension shown in Figure 4 (84). Briefly, in the primary PCR step, two reactions were performed to amplify the upstream and downstream portions of the *tbpA* plug-encoding domain. Mutagenic and non-mutagenic, gene specific oligonucleotides used in these reactions are listed in Table 4 and 5, respectively. Each mutagenic oligonucleotide was designed to encode one or more alanines as well as novel restriction sites for subsequent screening of gonococcal mutants. The template used in these reactions was pUNCH411, which contains the entire coding region of *tbpA* (47) (Table 3). For the secondary PCR, the two primary amplification products were used as template with non-mutagenic oligonucleotides (Table 5). In this reaction, the alanine-encoding sequences annealed to one another and served to prime the next polymerization step. The final PCR product was gel extracted (Qiagen), purified, and cloned into pCR2.1 TOPO (Invitrogen). The plasmids containing the various mutagenized *tbpA* fragments (pVCU250 – pVCU260) are listed in Table 3. Mutagenized *tbpA* fragments were sequenced by the Nucleic Acids Research Facility at Virginia Commonwealth University to verify the expected sequences.

C. E. coli transformation

PCR products generated by gene splicing by overlap extension (84) were inserted into pCR2.1 TOPO (Invitrogen) (Table 3) and these constructs were used to transform TOP10 (Invitrogen) *E. coli* (Table 2). These plasmids were propagated in *E. coli* then isolated and purified using the Qiagen QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit. These plasmid constructs were sequenced to ensure proper gene sequence as well as the preservation of the reading frame by the Nucleic Acids Research Facilities of Virginia Commonwealth University.

For subcloning into pHSS6-GCU (60) (Table 3), pCR2.1 TOPO constructs were digested with EcoRI (New England BioLabs) to remove the PCR product inserts. EcoRI-linearized pHSS6-GCU and inserts were purified (Qiagen) and pHSS6-GCU plasmids were treated with shrimp alkaline phosphatase (SAP) (Roche Molecular Biosciences). Linearized pHSS6-GCU and inserts were incubated with DNA ligase (Invitrogen) for one hour at 25°C. Chemically competent TOP10 *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen) were transformed with pHSS6-GCU constructs (pVCU251 – pVCU261), containing *tbpA* encoding alanine

substitutions (Table 3). The resulting *E. coli* strains (RIC250 – RIC261) are listed in Table 2.

D. N. gonorrhoeae spot transformation

Alanine-encoding *tbpA* fragments were subcloned into pHSS6-GCU (60) (Table 3) to incorporate the gonococcal uptake (GCU) sequence necessary for transformation. Resulting plasmids (pVCU251 - pVCU261) were then used to transform gonococcal strains FA19 (TbpB+) and FA6905 (TbpB-) (Table 2). Congression, described below, was used to provide a selectable marker for the transformation event. Chromosomal DNA from MCV601 (14) (Table 2), which contains an Ω cassette inserted into *lbpB* (encoding lactoferrin binding protein B), was used in conjunction with the linearized pHSS6-GCU contructs. These donor DNAs were combined and used to transform piliated FA19 (TbpB+) or FA6905 (TbpB-). Approximately 10 CFU were spotted on a GC agar plate and both donor DNAs were applied on top of the piliated gonococci. Transformation mixtures were incubated on non-selective media for 24 hours at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Transformants were then selected on 100 μ g/ml of streptomycin, resistance to which was encoded by the Ω cassette. A subsequent PCR and restriction digest identified streptomycin-resistant transformants with the introduced restriction sites. This process yielded strains MCV250 – MCV261 (Table 2), which contained single, double, or triple alanine-encoding mutations within the *tbpA* plug-encoding domain.

As previously described (57), when two mutations were combined, linearized plasmids containing each independent mutation were simultaneously added to piliated gonococci along with the streptomycin-resistant MCV601 chromosomal DNA. These

combined mutants (MCV262 – MCV266) contain mutations in both *tbpA* and *tbpB* and are listed in Table 2. Gonococcal *tbpA* and *tbpB* were sequenced by the Nucleic Acids Research Facility at Virginia Commonwealth University to verify mutations in both genes.

E. N. gonorrhoeae liquid transformation

For revertant analysis, various mutations were made in FA19, MCV511 (L3HA), and MCV267 (L3HA revertant) backgrounds. Plasmids pUNCH290 (*pilQ*:: Ω), pHH17 (*dsbC*::*ermC*), pKS83 (*traC*::*ermC*), pJD1175 (*traH*::*ermC*), and pKS72 (*traN*::*ermC*) (Table 3) were used to generate PilQ and T4SS deletion mutants. pUNCH290 and pHH17 were linearized to select for a double crossover insertion of the Ω cassette and *ermC* into *pilQ* and *dsbC*, respectively. pSK83, pJD1175, and pKS72 were not linearized to select for a single crossover insertion of *ermC* into *traC*, *traH*, and *traN*, respectively. Gonococcal strains, suspended in GCB/MgCl₂ media, were mixed with the plasmid DNAs and allowed to incubate for 30 minutes at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Following incubation, fresh GCB/MgCl₂ media was added and gonococcal-plasmid DNA mixture was incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for five hours. After five hour incubation, strains were plated on selective media (100 µg/ml streptomycin for Ω insertion and 1 µg/ml erythromycin for *ermC* insertions) and resulting transformants were selected (MCV270 – MCV286) and are listed in Table 2.

III. Western Blot Analysis and Solid-Phase HA Binding

A. SDS-PAGE and protein transfer

Gonococcal strains were grown in liquid CDM to induce iron stress (234). After four hours of growth, aliquots were removed and standardized to culture cell density. Cells were pelleted and lysed with Laemmli solubilizing buffer (107) and stored at -20° C. Before use, 5% β-mercaptoethanol (Fisher Scientific) was added to the whole cell lysates; lysates were heated at 95°C for three minutes, and then drawn through a 28gauge syringe (Beckton Dickinson) to decrease viscosity of samples. Whole cell lysates were subjected to sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on 7.5%, 12%, or 15% gels. Proteins were subsequently transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell) in 20 mM Tris base, 150 mM glycine, and 20% methanol (218) within a submerged transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad) at 28 mAmp for 18 – 20 hours. Prior to immunoblotting, nitrocellulose membranes were incubated in Ponceau S (Fisher) stain (0.1% w/v Ponceau S and 5% acetic acid) to ensure equal protein loading.

B. TbpA, TbpB, and TonB detection

For detection of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB, membranes were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Roche) in high salt Tris-buffered saline (HS TBS) plus 0.05% Tween-20 (Sigma). TbpA blots were then probed with a 1:1,000 dilution of primary anti-TbpA polyclonal antibodies (50), while TbpB and TonB blots were probed with a 1:5,000 dilution of primary anti-TbpB (215) or anti-TonB (97) polyclonal antibodies. Blots were then washed with HS TBS plus 0.05% Tween-20, and probed with a 1:10,000 dilution of secondary goat anti-rabbit AP (alkaline phosphatase) antibody (Bio-Rad). Western blots were developed using NBT/BCIP developing system (Sigma).

C. Hemagglutinin (HA) epitope detection

For detection of the hemagglutinin (HA) epitope, membranes were blocked in 5% Western blocking reagent (Roche) in low salt Tris-buffered saline (LS TBS). HA blots were then probed with a 1:500 dilution of anti-HA horseradish peroxidase high-affinity monoclonal antibody (HRP-HA) (Roche) and subsequently washed with LS TBS. Blots were developed using Perkin Elmer Chemiluminescence (ECL) Plus and reactive bands were detected by exposure to film (Kodak).

D. Solid-phase anti-HA binding assay

Gonococcal strains were grown for four hours in liquid CDM to induce iron stress (234). Aliquots were standardized to culture cell density and then spotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell). Membranes were dried and then blocked with 5% Western blocking reagent (Roche) in LS TBS. Dot blots were then probed with a 1:500 dilution of anti-HA horseradish peroxidase-conjugated monoclonal antibody (HRP-HA) (Roche) and subsequently washed with LS TBS. Dot blots were developed using Opti-4CN (BioRad).

IV. Surface Exposure and Transferrin Binding

A. Solid-phase transferrin binding assay

Gonococcal strains were grown in liquid CDM for four hours to induce iron stress (234). Aliquots were standardized to culture cell density and then spotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell). Membranes were dried and blocked with 5% skim milk (BioRad) in LS TBS. To assess solid-phase transferrin binding by gonococcal cells, membranes were incubated with a 1:1,000 dilution of horseradish peroxidase-conjugated transferrin (HRP-Tf) (Jackson ImmunoResearch), washed with LS TBS, and then developed with Opti-4CN (BioRad).

B. Solid-phase transferrin discrimination assay

Gonococcal strains were grown in liquid CDM for four hours to induce iron stress (234). Aliquots were standardized to culture cell density and then spotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell). Membranes were dried and then blocked with 5% skim milk in LS TBS. Ligand discrimination was determined by probing membranes with a mixture of unlabeled competitor (100% saturated human transferrin or apo-transferrin) (Sigma) and HRP-Tf. Two-fold serial dilutions of unlabeled competitor, ranging from $0.05 - 6 \mu$ M, were mixed with 0.33 µg/ml of HRP-Tf. Following incubation with labeled and unlabeled transferrin, dot blots were washed with LS TBS and developed with Opti-4CN (BioRad).

V. Quantitative Transferrin Binding

A. Iodination of human transferrin

Approximately 200 μ l of 100% saturated human transferrin (Calbiochem) was mixed with 10 μ l (1 mCi) of Na¹²⁵I (GE Biosciences) in an Iodogen-coated tube (Pierce). The iodination reaction was carried out for 15 minutes at room temperature. The mixture was added to 200 μ l of column loading dye (10% glycerol, 0.1% bromophenol blue, 0.3% blue dextran) and transferred to a dextran desalting column (Pierce). This column was equilibrated with 50 ml of PBS before the addition of ¹²⁵I-transferrin. The column separated free ¹²⁵I from the ¹²⁵I-transferrin, which was collected in the flow through. The concentration of ¹²⁵I-transferrin was then determined by BCA assay (Pierce).

B. Equilibrium-phase transferrin binding assay

Equilibrium-phase transferrin binding assays were performed as previously described (50) to determine TbpA or TbpB transferrin binding affinity and capacity. Briefly, human transferrin (Calbiochem) was iodinated with ¹²⁵I (GE Biosciences) and specific activity was determined by gamma counting. Both iodinated transferrin and unlabeled competitor transferrin were quantitated using a BCA assay (Pierce). Gonococcal strains were grown in liquid CDM for three hours to induce iron stress (234). Following growth, 100 µl of each culture was added to a Millipore Multiscreen microtiter plate and incubated with various concentrations of 125 I-labeled transferrin (0 – 100 nM) to determine total transferrin binding. In addition, cultures were incubated with ¹²⁵Itransferrin and excess unlabeled transferrin to determine non-specific transferrin binding. Specific transferrin binding was determined by subtracting non-specific binding from total binding. Specific transferrin bound (ng Tf) was standardized to micrograms of total cellular protein (µg TCP) in 100 µl of culture, as determined by BCA assays (Pierce). Each graph represents averages and standard deviations from at least three separate assays, each of which was performed in quadruplicate. K_d (affinity) and capacity values as well as standard errors were calculated using Grafit software (Erithacus Software).

VI. Transferrin-Iron Internalization

A. Iron-saturation of human transferrin

Apo-human transferrin (Calbiochem) was resuspended in ferration buffer, pH 8.4 (100 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM NaHCO₃) to a concentration of 10 mg/ml. Iron solution, pH 8.6 (100 mM Na₃C₆H₅O₇, 100 mM NaHCO₃, 5 mM FeCl₃ or ⁵⁵FeCl₃) was added to achieve the desired saturation level and saturation was allowed to proceed for one hour at room temperature. Ferrated transferrin was then dialyzed overnight at 4°C in a 400-fold volume of dialysis buffer, pH 7.4 (400 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM NaHCO₃). The buffer was then replaced with fresh dialysis buffer and dialysis was allowed to proceed for an additional four hours at room temperature. Dialysis of ⁵⁵Fe-transferrin was performed similarly against a 1000-fold volume of dialysis buffer for four hours at room temperature without buffer exchange.

To verify the iron saturation level of the transferrin, ferrozine assays were performed. A standard curve of iron concentrations was created in the range of 0.05 - 1.0µg/ml and the transferrin-iron saturation was determined from this curve. Acid reagent [0.01 M ferrozine (3-(2-puridyl)-5, 6 bis (4-phenlysulphonic acid) 1, 2, 3 triamine) in approximately 50% hydrochloric acid] was added to each sample and then allowed to boil for ten minutes. Buffer reagent (5.2 M ammonium acetate in 35% acetic acid) was then added to each sample after cooling to room temperature. Absorbance readings were taken at 562 nm. The concentration of transferrin was determined using a BCA assay (Pierce) and the percent saturation was calculated based on the ability of transferrin to bind two atoms of iron.

B. Transferrin-iron uptake assay

Transferrin-iron uptake assays were performed as previously described (4, 12,

46). Briefly, human transferrin (Calbiochem) was ferrated with ⁵⁵FeCl₃ (Perkin Elmer) to achieve 20% iron saturation. Gonococcal strains were grown in liquid CDM for three hours to induce iron stress (234). Following growth, 100 µl of each culture was added in quadruplicate sets to two Millipore multiscreen microtiter plates. To one set of cultures 40 µM potassium cyanide (KCN) (Sigma) was added to determine non-specific iron binding. Approximately 0.9 µM 20% iron-saturated transferrin was added to each well and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 30 minutes to allow for iron internalization. Following incubation, plates were filtered to remove transferrin, washed with citrate buffer (100 mM Na₃C₆H₅O₇, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 mM CaCl₂), dried, and counted using a Beckman LS6500 beta scintillation counter. All counts were averaged and non-specific counts (KCN plate) were subtracted from total counts to obtain specific iron internalization. Specific iron uptake, reported in picomoles, for each strain was standardized to micrograms of total cellular protein (TCP) in 100 µl of culture, as determined by BCA assay (Pierce). Each graph represents the means and standard deviations from at least six separate assays, each of which was performed in quadruplicate.

C. Modified transferrin-iron uptake assay with desferal

Modified transferrin-iron uptake assays were performed similarly to what was previously described (4, 12, 46) with some modifications. Briefly, human transferrin (Calbiochem) was ferrated with ⁵⁵FeCl₃ (Perkin Elmer) to achieve 20% iron saturation. Gonococcal strains were grown in liquid CDM for three hours to induce iron stress (234). Following growth, 100 μ l of each culture was added in quadruplicate sets to two Millipore multiscreen microtiter plates. To one set of cultures 40 μ M potassium cyanide (KCN) (Sigma) was added to determine non-specific iron binding. Approximately 0.9 μ M 20% iron-saturated transferrin and 50 mM desferal (Sigma) were added to wells for 0 – 40 minutes of incubation at room temperature. Following incubation, plates were filtered to remove transferrin and desferal, washed with citrate buffer (100 mM Na₃C₆H₅O₇, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 mM CaCl₂), dried, and counted using a Beckman LS6500 beta scintillation counter. Counts were averaged at each time point and nonspecific counts (KCN plate) were subtracted from total counts to obtain specific iron internalization. Specific iron uptake, reported in picomoles, for each strain was standardized to micrograms of total cellular protein (TCP) in 100 μ l of culture, as determined by BCA assay (Pierce). Each graph represents averages and standard deviations from three separate experiments, each of which was performed in quadruplicate.

VII. Recombinant Protein Expression and Purification

A. Construction of S-tag and His-tag protein expression plasmids

For S-tagged protein constructs, *tbpA* plug, *fetA* plug, *fbpA*, and *tonB* expression plasmids were constructed by PCR amplification of *tbpA*, *fetA*, *fbpA*, and *tonB* from gonococcal strain FA19 chromosomal DNA. Primers were designed to amplify these genes and engineered with BgIII and XhoI restriction sites at the 5' and 3' ends,
respectively (Table 4). These restriction sites allowed for directional cloning into the pET-29b(+) expression vector (Novagen) (Table 3).

For His-tagged protein constructs, *tbpA* plug, *fbpA*, and *exbB* expression plasmids were constructed by PCR amplification of *tbpA*, *fbpA*, and *exbB* from FA19 chromosomal DNA. Primers were designed to amplify these genes and engineered with NdeI and XhoI restriction sites at the 5' and 3' ends, respectively (Table 4). These restriction sites allowed for directional cloning into the pET-22b(+) expression vector (Novagen) (Table 3).

The resultant PCR products were ligated into pCR2.1 TOPO (Invitrogen) (pVCU262 – pVCU270) and propagated in *E. coli* TOP10 cells (Invitrogen) (RIC262 – RIC274) (Table 2). Plasmids were then sequenced by the Nucleic Acids Research Facility at Virginia Commonwealth University to verify the expected sequences. Plasmids were digested with BgIII or NdeI and XhoI enzymes (New England BioLabs) to excise inserts. Following digestion, the gene products were isolated and purified using the Qiagen QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit and ligated into linearized pET-29b(+) or pET-22b(+) expression vectors (Novagen) (pVCU263 – pVCU271) (Table 3). The resultant plasmids were propagated in *E. coli* NovaBlue cells (Novagen) (RIC263 – RIC275) (Table 2). These plasmid constructs contained the gene of interest under the control of a T7 promoter, as well as a 5' region encoding an S-tag or a 3' region encoding a 6x Histag for purification. For expression of these gene products, the *E. coli* expression strain BL21(DE3) (Novagen), which expressed T7 polymerase under the control of the *lac* promoter, was transformed with these constructs. These strains, RIC264 – RIC276, are described in Table 2.

B. Recombinant protein expression

For expression of recombinant proteins, starter cultures of BL21(DE3) expression strains were grown for approximately six hours at 37°C, shaking at 225 rpm, in LB media containing 50 µg/ml of kanamycin (pET29b(+)) or 100 µg/ml of ampicillin (pET22b(+)). Following growth, cultures were stored at 4°C until use in large-scale growth and induction. Prior to large-scale induction, starter cultures were subject to centrifugation at 5000 x g for ten minutes and the supernatants were removed. Fresh LB media with 50 µg/ml of kanamycin or 100 µg/ml of ampicillin was added to resuspend the bacterial cell pellets. The starter cultures were then used to inoculate 1L of LB broth containing 50 μ g/ml of kanamycin or 100 μ g/ml of ampicillin. The cultures were incubated at 37°C with shaking at 225 rpm until the OD_{600} reached 0.4 - 0.8. After cultures reached the optimal cell density, 1 mM IPTG (isopropyl-B-D-thiogalactopyranoside) (Sigma) was added to induce protein expression. Induction was allowed to proceed for four hours at 37°C with shaking at 225 rpm. Following four hour protein induction, cultures were subject to centrifugation at 10,000 x g for ten minutes and then supernatants were removed. Pellets were dried and stored at -20° C overnight.

C. Recombinant protein purification

For purification of S-tagged recombinant proteins, bacterial cell pellets were thawed and resuspended in BugBuster reagent (Novagen) according to manufacturer's instructions. After cells were completely resuspended, benzonase nuclease (Novagen), protease inhibitors (Sigma), and lysozyme (Sigma) were added to the cultures and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. Solubilized preparations were then subject to centrifugation at 16,000 x g at 4°C for 30 minutes to remove insoluble cellular debris. Cleared lysates were then transferred to sterile tubes and incubated with S-protein agarose (Novagen) at room temperature for 30 minutes on an orbital shaker. Samples were then subjected to centrifugation at 500 x g for ten minutes and supernatants were carefully removed. S-protein agarose resin was then resuspended in 5 ml of 1x Bind/Wash Buffer (200 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 1.5 M NaCl, and 1% Triton X-100), gently mixed, and pelleted at 500 x g three times. Washed resin was then resuspended in 3 M MgCl₂ elution buffer at a volume 1.5 times that of the settled resin and incubated for ten minutes at room temperature. Resin was then applied to a disposable column and Stagged recombinant proteins were eluted.

For purification of His-tagged recombinant proteins, Qiagen protocols were followed. Bacterial cell pellets were thawed on ice and resuspended in lysis buffer (50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 300 mM NaCl, 10 mM imidazole, final pH 8.0), benzonase nuclease (Novagen), protease inhibitors (Sigma) and lysozyme (Sigma) mixture. Resuspended cells were incubated for 30 minutes on ice and then subjected to sonication. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation at 16,000 x g for 30 minutes at 4°C. Cleared lysates were transferred to sterile tubes and incubated with 50% Ni-NTA slurry (Qiagen) at 4°C for one hour. Lysate-Ni-NTA mixtures were then added to disposable columns and flow-through fractions were collected. Resin was washed twice with wash buffer (50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, final pH 8.0) and washed fractions were collected. His-tagged recombinant proteins were eluted from the column with elution buffer (50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 300 mM NaCl, 250 mM imidazole, final pH 8.0). Purified proteins were dialyzed against a 1000-fold excess PBS.

D. SDS-PAGE, protein transfer, and detection

Protein fractions were diluted with Laemmli solubilizing buffer (107) and stored at -20° C. Before use, 5% β -mercaptoethanol (Fisher Scientific) was added to the samples and they were heated at 95°C for three minutes. After boiling, samples were subjected to sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on a 15% gel. Proteins were subsequently transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell) in 20 mM Tris base, 150 mM glycine, and 20% methanol (218) within a submerged transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad) at 28 mAmp for 18-20 hours.

For detection of S-tagged and His-tagged recombinant proteins, membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in low salt Tris-buffered saline (LS TBS). Blots were then probed with a 1:5,000 dilution of anti-S-tag monoclonal antibodies (Novagen) or a 1:1,000 dilution of anti-His-tag monoclonal antibodies (Calbiochem) , washed with LS TBS, and then probed with a 1:10,000 (S-tag) or 1:5,000 (His-tag) dilution of a secondary goat anti-mouse IgG AP (BioRad). Blots were developed using NBT/BCIP developing system (Sigma).

E. Coomassie blue protein staining

SDS-PAGE gels were stained with Coomassie blue (0.25% Coomassie R-250, 50% methanol, 10% glacial acetic acid) following electrophoresis. Gels were incubated with Coomassie blue stain overnight at room temperature and then destained in 20%

methanol and 5% glacial acetic acid at room temperature until background staining was minimized. Prior to drying, gels were incubated in gel drying buffer (40% methanol, 10% glycerol, and 7.5% glacial acetic acid) for one hour.

VIII. Recombinant Protein-Iron Binding Assay

Recombinant iron binding assays were performed in Millipore Multiscreen microtiter plates. To assess total iron binding, 50 µg of each S-tagged or His-tagged recombinant protein was incubated with 5% BSA in PBS, NaHCO₃, ⁵⁵FeCl₃, and Ni-NTA resin. Phosphate and carbonate served as coordinating anions for iron binding in this assay. To assess non-specific iron binding by recombinant proteins, proteins were treated the same as above, but incubated in the presence of 1000-fold excess cold FeCl₃ or Fe(NO₃)₃ competitor. As an additional control for non-specific binding to the Ni-NTA resin, 5% BSA, NaHCO₃, ⁵⁵FeCl₃, and Ni-NTA resin were incubated in the absence of recombinant protein. Microtiter plates were incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes on a platform shaker at 200 rpm. Following incubation, wells were filtered and washed with citrate buffer (100 mM Na₃C₆H₅O₇, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 mM CaCl₂). Once dried, filters were removed and counted using a Beckman LS6500 beta scintillation counter. Counts were averaged and specific iron binding was determined by subtracting both sets of non-specific counts from the total iron binding counts. Each graph represents averages and standard deviations from three separate experiments, each performed in quadruplicate sets.

IX. Statistical Analysis

Statistical significance of equilibrium-phase transferrin binding data, modified and standard transferrin-iron uptake data, and iron binding data was determined using a two-tailed equal variance Student's t test. Statistical significance is noted when $P \le 0.05$ and specific values are shown with each data set. **Figure 4. Schematic representation of mutagenesis by gene SOEing.** Non-mutagenic primers 1 and 4 were used to amplify the upstream (black) and downstream (gray) regions of the plug-encoding region of *tbpA* in primary PCR reactions. Mutagenic primers 2 and 3 were also used to introduce sequences encoding altered amino acid residues and novel restriction sites (red) in the primary PCR reactions. The primary PCR products were amplified with non-mutagenic primers 1 and 4 in the secondary PCR. The primary PCR products served as template in this reaction and overlapping sequences served to prime the secondary PCR.



Strain	Phenotype (genotype)	Reference
	E. coli	
TOP10	F– mcrA Δ(mrr-hsdRMS-mcrBC) φ80lacZΔM15 ΔlacX74 recA1 deoR araD139 Δ(ara-leu)7697 alU galK rpsL(Str ^R) endA1 nupG	Invitrogen
NovaBlue	endA1 hsdR17 (r_{K12} m _{K12} ⁺) supE44 thi-1 recA1 gyrA96 relA1 lac F'[proA ⁺ B ⁺ lacI ^q Z\DeltaM15::Tn10] (Tet ^R)	Novagen
BL21(DE3)	$F - ompT hsdS_{\rm B} (r_{\rm B} - m_{\rm B}) gal dcm (DE3)$	Novagen
RIC250	TOP10 transformed with pVCU250 (<i>tbpA</i> E ₁₁₈ A)	This study (160)
RIC251	TOP10 transformed with pVCU251 (<i>tbpA</i> $E_{118}A$)	This study (160)
RIC252	TOP10 transformed with pVCU252 (<i>tbpA</i> $E_{120}A$)	This study (160)
RIC253	TOP10 transformed with pVCU253 (<i>tbpA</i> $E_{120}A$)	This study (160)
RIC254	TOP10 transformed with pVCU254 (<i>tbpA</i> $Y_{121}A$)	This study (160)
RIC255	TOP10 transformed with pVCU255 (<i>tbpA</i> $Y_{121}A$)	This study (160)
RIC256	TOP10 transformed with pVCU256 (<i>tbpA</i> $E_{122}A$)	This study (160)
RIC257	TOP10 transformed with pVCU257 (<i>tbpA</i> $E_{122}A$)	This study (160)
RIC258	TOP10 transformed with pVCU258 (<i>tbpA</i> EY ₁₂₀ AA)	This study (160)
RIC259	TOP10 transformed with pVCU259 (<i>tbpA</i> EY ₁₂₀ AA)	This study (160)
RIC260	TOP10 transformed with pVCU260 ($tbpA$ EYE ₁₂₀ AAA)	This study (160)
RIC261	TOP10 transformed with pVCU261 ($tbpA$ EYE ₁₂₀ AAA)	This study (160)
RIC262	TOP10 transformed with pVCU262 (<i>tbpA</i> plug)	This study
RIC263	NovaBlue transformed with pVCU263 (<i>tbpA</i> plug)	This study
RIC264	BL21(DE3) transformed with pVCU263 (<i>tbpA</i> plug)	This study

Ta	ble 2: Eschericl	hia coli and Nei	sseria gonorrhoeae st	rains

RIC265 RIC266 RIC267	TOP10 transformed with pVCU264 (<i>tbpA</i> plug) NovaBlue transformed with pVCU265 (<i>tbpA</i> plug) BL21(DE3) transformed with pVCU265 (<i>tbpA</i>	This study This study This study
PIC268	plug) TOP10 transformed with pVCU266 (fetA plug)	This study
RIC269	NovaBlue transformed with pVCU267 (<i>fetA</i> plug)	This study
RIC270	BL21(DE3) transformed with pVCU267 (<i>fetA</i> plug)	This study
RIC271	TOP10 transformed with pVCU268 (<i>fbpA</i>)	This study
RIC272	NovaBlue transformed with pVCU269 (<i>fbpA</i>)	This study
RIC273	BL21(DE3) transformed with pVCU269 (<i>fbpA</i>)	This study
RIC274	TOP10 transformed with pVCU270 (tonB)	This study
RIC275	NovaBlue transformed with pVCU271 (tonB)	This study
RIC276	BL21(DE3) transformed with pVCU271 (tonB)	This study
RIC277	TOP10 transformed with pVCU272 (tbpA plug	This study
	$EYE_{120}AAA)$	
RIC278	NovaBlue transformed with pVCU273 (<i>tbpA</i> plug	This study
	$EYE_{120}AAA)$	
RIC279	BL21(DE3) transformed with pVCU273 (<i>tbpA</i> plug EYE ₁₂₀ AAA)	This study

N. gonorrhoeae

FA19 FA6905 FA6747	TbpA+, TbpB+ TbpA+, TbpB– (Δ <i>tbpB</i>) TbpA– (<i>tbpA</i> ::mTn3cat), TbpB+	(138) (50) (48)
FA6815 MCV601	TbpA–, TbpB– ($tbpB$:: Ω) FA19 derivative, LbpB– ($lbpB$:: Ω)	(4) (14)
MCV250	TbpA E ₁₁₈ A, TbpB+	This study (160)
MCV251	TbpA $E_{118}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	This study (160)
MCV252	TbpA E ₁₂₀ A, TbpB+	This study (160)
MCV253	TbpA $E_{120}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	This study (160)
MCV254	TbpA Y ₁₂₁ A, TbpB+	This study (160)
MCV255	TbpA $Y_{121}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	This study (160)
MCV256	TbpA E ₁₂₂ A, TbpB+	This study (160)
MCV257	TbpA $E_{122}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	This study (160)

		60
MCV258	TbpA EY ₁₂₀ AA, TbpB+	This study (160)
MCV259	TbpA EY ₁₂₀ AA, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	This study
MCV260	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB+	This study
MCV261	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	This study (160)
MCV845	TbpA+, TbpB CC ₄₈₁ AA	This study
MCV846	TbpA- (<i>tbpA</i> ::mTn3cat), TbpB CC ₄₈₁ AA	This study
MCV812	TbpA+, TbpB HA3 ₁₇₅ (<i>tbpB</i> ∇ HA)	(57)
MCV816	TbpA+. TbpB HA5 ₃₂₇ ($tbpB\nabla$ HA)	(57)
MCV824	TbpA+. TbpB HA9 ₆₆₀ ($tbpB\nabla$ HA)	(57)
MCV515	TbpA L9HA ₇₅₀ (<i>tbpA</i> ∇ HA). TbpB+	(243)
MCV516	TbpA L9HA ₇₅₀ (<i>tbpA</i> ∇ HA), TbpB– (Δ <i>tbpB</i>)	(243)
MCV519	TbpA L11HA ₈₄₃ ($tbpA\nabla$ HA), TbpB+	(243)
MCV520	TbpA L11HA ₈₄₃ (<i>tbpA</i> ∇ HA), TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	(243)
MCV527	TbpA L2HA ₂₂₉ ($tbpA\nabla$ HA), TbpB+	(243)
MCV528	TbpA L2HA ₂₂₉ (<i>tbpA</i> ∇ HA), TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	(243)
MCV262	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB CC ₄₈₁ AA	This study
		(DeRocco
		unpublished)
MCV263	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB HA3 ₁₇₅	This study
		(DeRocco
		unpublished)
MCV264	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB HA5 ₃₂₇	This study
		(DeRocco
MCVD65	The A EVE AAA The D UAO	unpublished)
MC V 265	$10\text{pA} \text{ EY } \text{E}_{120}\text{AAA}, 10\text{pB} \text{ HA9}_{660}$	(DePerson
		(Derocco unpublished)
MCV266	ThnA L9HA750 ThnB CC491AA	This study
1010 1 200		(DeRocco
		unpublished)
MCV828	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB HA3175	(57)
MCV830	TbpA L9HA ₇₅₀ , TbpB HA5 ₃₂₇	(57)
MCV834	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB HA9660	(57)
	Pseudo-revertant gonococcal studies	
	i seudo-revertant gonococcai studies	
MCV511	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+	(243)

_

MCV512	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	(243)
MCV523	TbpA β16HA ₇₁₃ , TbpB+	(243)
MCV524	TbpA β16HA ₇₁₃ , TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	(243)
MCV267	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+ revertant	This study
		(Yost-Daljev
		unpublished)
MCV268	TbpA β 16HA ₇₁₃ , TbpB+ revertant	This study
		(Yost-Daljev
		unpublished)

	FA19 derived strains	
MCV269	TbpA+, TbpB+, TonB– (<i>tonB</i> ::Ω)	This study
MCV270	TbpA+, TbpB+, PilQ– (<i>pilQ</i> ::Ω)	This study
MCV271	TbpA+, TbpB+, DsbC– (<i>dsbC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV272	TbpA+, TbpB+, TraC– (<i>traC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV273	TbpA+, TbpB+, TraH– (<i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV274	TbpA+, TbpB+, TraN– (<i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV904	TbpA+, TbpB+, FbpA- (<i>fbpA</i> :: <i>ermClacIP</i>) -RBS	(211)
MCV906	TbpA+, TbpB+, FbpA- (<i>fbpA</i> :: <i>ermClacIP</i>)	(211)

MCV511 (L3HA) derived strains

MCV275	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, PilQ– ($pilQ$:: Ω)	This study
MCV276	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, DsbC– (<i>dsbC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV277	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraC- (<i>traC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV278	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraH– (<i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV279	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraN- (<i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study

MCV267 (pseudo-revertant) derived strains

MCV280	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpA-(<i>tbpA</i> ::mTn3cat), TbpB+	This study
MCV281	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TonB– ($tonB$:: Ω)	This study
MCV282	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, PilQ– ($pilQ$:: Ω)	This study
MCV283	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, DsbC– (<i>dsbC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV284	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraC– (<i>traC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV285	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraH– (<i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV286	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraN– (<i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	This study
MCV287	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, FbpA– (<i>fbpA</i> :: <i>ermClacIP</i>)	This study
	-RBS	
MCV288	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, FbpA– (<i>fbpA::ermClacIP</i>)	This study

Table 3: Plasmids

Plasmid	Description	Reference
	Constructs for generation of N. gonorrhoeae mutants	
pCR2.1 TOPO	Kan ^R Amp ^R	Invitrogen
pHSS6-GCU pUNCH411	Vector containing gonococcal uptake sequence (Kan^R) pBS-SK(+) containing entire <i>thnA</i> gene	(60) (47)
pUNCH403	Vector containing <i>thpA</i> ::mTn3cat	(48)
pVCU693	pCR2.1 TOPO containing tonB:: Ω	(74)
pUNCH290	Vector containing $pilQ:\Omega$	(37)
pHH17	pHSS6-GCU derivative containing dsbC::ermC	(Hamilton unpublished)
pKS83	pHSS6-GCU derivative containing <i>traC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>	(76)
pJD1175	pHSS6-GCU derivative containing <i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>	(77)
pKS72	pHSS6-GCU derivative containing <i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>	(76)
pVCU912	pHSS6-GCU containing <i>fbpA</i> :: <i>ermClacIP</i> (–RBS)	(211)
pVCU913	pHSS6-GCU containing fbpA::ermClacIP	(211)
pVCU250	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU334 and oVCU335; E ₁₁₈ A, PvuI restriction site	This study (160)
pVCU251	pHSS6-GCU containing EcoRI fragment from pVCU250	This study (160)
pVCU252	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU334 and oVCU335: E120A NdeI restriction site	This study (160)
pVCU253	pHSS6-GCU containing EcoRI fragment from pVCU252	This study (160)
pVCU254	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU334 and oVCU335: Y ₁₂₁ A. HaeIII restriction site	This study (160)
pVCU255	pHSS6-GCU containing EcoRI fragment from pVCU254	This study (160)
pVCU256	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU334 and oVCU335; $E_{122}A$, HpyCH4V restriction site	This study (160)
pVCU257	pHSS6-GCU containing EcoRI fragment from pVCU256	This study (160)
pVCU258	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU334 and oVCU335: EY ₁₂₀ AA. PstI restriction site	This study (160)
pVCU259	pHSS6-GCU containing EcoRI fragment from pVCU258	This study (160)
pVCU260	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU334 and oVCU335; EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, PstI and AluI	This study (160)

pVCU261	restriction sites pHSS6-GCU containing EcoRI fragment from	This study
p, 00201	pVCU260	(160)
pVCU834	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpB</i> encoding $CC_{481}AA$	This study
		(56)
pCVU835	pHSS6-GCU containing <i>tbpB</i> encoding CC ₄₈₁ AA	This study
		(56)
pVCU813	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpB</i> encoding HA3 ₁₇₅	This study
		(57)
pVCU814	pHSS6-GCU containing <i>tbpB</i> encoding HA3 ₁₇₅	This study
		(57)
pVCU81/	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpB</i> encoding HA5 ₃₂₇	This study
	nUSS6 CCU containing the Danceding UAS	(5/)
pvCU818	ph550-0CU containing <i>lopb</i> encoding hA5 ₃₂₇	(57)
nVCU825	pCR2 1 TOPO containing the encoding HAQ.	(J) This study
pvc0025	percent for o containing topb cheoding 11(1)660	(57)
pVCU826	pHSS6-GCU containing <i>thpB</i> encoding HA9 ₆₆₀	This study
p+00020		(57)
pVCU521	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> encoding L9HA ₇₅₀	This study
1		(243)

Constructs for expression of His-tag proteins

pET-22b(+) pVCU911	Amp ^R pET22b(+) containing <i>fbpA</i> from gonococcal strain FA19	Novagen (175)
pVCU914	pET22b(+) containing <i>exbB</i> from gonococcal strain FA19	This study (Strange unpublished)
pVCU262	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> plug-encoding region amplified with oVCU289 and oVCU290	This study
pVCU263	pET-22b(+) containing NdeI and XhoI fragment from pVCU262	This study
pVCU272	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> plug-encoding region (EYE ₁₂₀ AAA) amplified with oVCU289 and oVCU290	This study
pVCU273	pET-22b(+) containing NdeI and XhoI fragment from pVCU272	This study
	Constructs for expression of S-tag proteins	

pET-29b(+) pVCU264	Kan ^R pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tbpA</i> plug-encoding region amplified with oVCU375 and oVCU376	Novagen This study
-----------------------	---	-----------------------

pVCU265	pET-29b(+) containing BgIII and XhoI fragment from pVCU264	This study
pVCU266	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>fetA</i> plug-encoding region amplified with oVCU377 and oVCU378	This study
pVCU267	pET-29b(+) containing BglII and XhoI fragment from pVCU266	This study
pVCU268	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>fbpA</i> gene amplified with oVCU379 and oVCU380	This study
pVCU269	pET-29b(+) containing BglII and XhoI fragment from pVCU268	This study
pVCU270	pCR2.1 TOPO containing <i>tonB</i> gene amplified with oVCU381 and oVCU382	This study
pVCU271	pET-29b(+) containing BglII and XhoI fragment from pVCU270	This study

Primer	Oligonucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Target
	Alanine-encoding <i>tbpA</i> oligonucleotides ^a	
oVCU336	GGCGCAATCAAT <u>GCG</u> ATCGAGTATGAG	tbpA
	(PvuI)	E ₁₁₈ A
oVCU337	CTCATACTCGAT <u>CGC</u> ATTGATTGCGCC	tbpA
	(PvuI)	$E_{118}A$
oVCU338	ATCAATGAAATC <u>GCA</u> TATGAGAACGTC	tbpA
	(NdeI)	E ₁₂₀ A
oVCU339	GACGTTCTCATA <u>TGC</u> GATTTCATTGAT	tbpA
	(NdeI)	E ₁₂₀ A
oVCU340	AATGAAATCGAG <u>GCC</u> GAGAACGTCAAG	tbpA
	(HaeIII)	Y ₁₂₁ A
oVCU341	CTTGACGTTCTC <u>GGC</u> CTCGATTTCATT	tbpA
	(HaeIII)	Y ₁₂₁ A
oVCU342	GAAATCGAGTAT <u>GCA</u> AACGTCAAGGCT	tbpA
	(HpyCH4V)	$E_{122}A$
oVCU343	AGCCTTGACGTT <u>TGC</u> ATACTCGATTTC	tbpA
	(HpyCH4V)	$E_{122}A$
oVCU344	ATCAATGAAATC <u>GCTGCA</u> GAGAACGTCAAG	tbpA
	(PstI)	$E_{120}A$
		Y ₁₂₁ A
oVCU345	CTTGACGTTCTC <u>TGCAGC</u> GATTTCATTGAT	tbpA
	(PstI)	$E_{120}A$
		Y ₁₂₁ A
oVCU346	GCAATCAATGAAATC <u>GCTGCAGCT</u> AACGTCAAGGCTGTC	tbpA
	(PstI, AluI)	$E_{120}A$
		Y ₁₂₁ A
		$E_{122}A$
oVCU347	GACAGCCTTGACGTT <u>AGCTGCAGC</u> GATTTCATTGATTGC	tbpA
	(PstI, AluI)	$E_{120}A$
		Y ₁₂₁ A
		$E_{122}A$
	Restriction site incorporating oligonucleotides ^b	

		66
oVCU290	CTCGAG CCTGCCTTCCCCGATAACATCGTCG (XhoI)	<i>tbpA</i> plug
oVCU375	AGATCTG (BglII)	<i>tbpA</i> plug
oVCU376	CTCGAGTTACCTGCCTTCCCCGATAACATCGT (XhoI)	<i>tbpA</i> plug
oVCU377	AGATCTG (BglII)	<i>fetA</i> plug
oVCU378	CTCGAGTTACCAGTTTTTATCCAAGCCTTTGAG (XhoI)	<i>fetA</i> plug
oVCU379	AGATCTG GACATTACCGTGTACAACGGCCAA (BglII)	fbpA
oVCU380	CTCGAGTTA TTTCATACCGGCTTGCTCAAGCAG (XhoI)	fbpA
oVCU381	AGATCTG (BglII)	tonB
oVCU382	CTCGAGTTAATTCAATTCAAACTTGACGGGGAC (Xhol)	tonB

^a Underlined nucleotides indicate alanine-encoding sequences and novel restriction sites ^b Underlined nucleotides represent engineered restriction sites for directional subcloning

Primer	Oligonucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Target
	Non-mutagenic <i>tbpA</i> plug-specific primers	
oVCU334 oVCU335	AAGCTTGTGAAATAAGCACGGCTGCCG GAAGCGGTTGGGGGCCCGTGTAGTCTCG	tbpA tbpA
	Revertant analysis – <i>tbpB</i> specific primers	
oVCU136	ATGAACAATCCATTGGTGAATC	<i>tbpB</i> upstream
oVCU141	GCCGCCGCTCAAAGAAGAC	<i>tbpB</i> upstream
oVCU265	GAATTGGGTTTCCGCTTTTTG	<i>tbpB</i> middle
GC556	CACCGCAAATGGCAATG	<i>tbpB</i> middle <i>tbpB</i>
oVCU267	TCCATTGCCGGATTCAACTGTTGC	downsteam <i>tbpB</i> downsteam
	Revertant analysis – <i>tbpA</i> specific primers	
oVCU272	GATTAGGGAAACACTATGCA	<i>tbpA</i> upstream
TfBP21	CCGATGTAGTGCCGTTTGTT	<i>tbpA</i> upstream
TfBP13	GGTCGTGGCTGTTCCGCCCG	<i>tbpA</i> middle
TfBP28 TfBP16	AAATCCAGCCAGTCGGCAGG GTACGGCTGGCGGTCGGGCG	<i>tbpA</i> middle <i>tbpA</i> downstream
oVCU291	CGCCGTCTGAAGCCTTTCAG	<i>tbpA</i> downstream

 Table 5. Gene specific oligonucleotides

CHAPTER 3 – ANALYSIS OF TBPA PLUG IRON BINDING AND IDENTIFICATION OF RESIDUES REQUIRED FOR TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY *NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE*

I. Introduction

Neisseria species do not produce or secrete siderophores (6, 131, 235). Instead they have the ability to utilize human transferrin (6, 18, 111, 131, 138), lactoferrin (6, 18, 111, 131), and hemoglobin (6, 138) through the expression of high-affinity receptors for these host iron-binding proteins. Models of iron acquisition mediated by these highaffinity receptors are based on the well-characterized TonB-dependent siderophore transporters (Figure 1) (28, 40, 42, 43, 61, 62, 119).

All gonococcal clinical isolates are able to utilize human transferrin (138) through expression of the transferrin-iron uptake system, composed of TbpA and TbpB. TbpA is a TonB-dependent outer membrane transporter that is essential for iron uptake, while TbpB is a surface-exposed lipoprotein that discriminates between apo- and holotransferrin (20, 50, 183, 184). Unlike TbpA, TbpB is not required for transferrin-iron acquisition but makes the process more efficient (4). Although TbpA has not yet been crystallized, by analogy with characterized TonB-dependent transporters (Figure 2), TbpA is predicted to form two distinct domains (Figure 3). The C-terminal β-barrel domain, comprised of 22 transmembrane-spanning β-strands, likely functions as a channel for iron transport. The N-terminal plug domain is predicted to fold up within the β -barrel domain to occlude the pore.

Characterized TonB-dependent transporters (Figure 2) serve as a paradigm for the transferrin-iron uptake system, but the TbpB lipoprotein component and the requirement for iron removal from transferrin are unique to this system. The precise mechanism by which TbpA mediates iron internalization has not been elucidated. However, the mechanism of iron acquisition through TbpA is unique in that the transferrin receptor must bind holo-transferrin, remove iron from transferrin, transport iron across the outer membrane, and release apo-transferrin at the cell surface. Thus, elucidation of the detailed mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition through TbpA would represent a significant step towards characterization of a novel system for the acquisition of iron in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*.

Previous studies suggested that the TbpA plug domain plays a role in iron internalization (243); however, the precise mechanism was not defined. We hypothesize that the plug domain of TbpA functions in multiple steps of transferrin-iron uptake. Specifically, we hypothesize that iron coordination by the TbpA plug domain is critical for iron removal from transferrin, iron binding, and iron transport through the outer membrane. The overall goal of this work was to demonstrate iron binding by the TbpA plug domain and determine the mechanism of iron acquisition through TbpA, specifically with respect to the contribution of the plug.

II. Results

A. Gonococcal TbpA plug binds iron in vitro

To determine whether the neisserial TbpA plug domain binds iron, in vitro iron binding assays were carried out (Figure 5). Recombinant, gonococcal FbpA, the characterized periplasmic iron binding protein, serves as the positive control for iron binding, while gonococcal ExbB, the cytoplasmic membrane protein of TonB complex, serves as the negative control for iron binding. Recombinant gonococcal TbpA plug bound significant levels of iron compared to the ExbB negative control, as was observed for the FbpA positive control. Interestingly, the TbpA plug domain bound significantly higher levels of iron than FbpA ($P \le 0.02$). These data indicate that the gonococcal TbpA plug domain binds iron in vitro and likely plays a significant role in iron coordination and transport in vivo.

B. Site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis

Since the TbpA plug bound iron, putative iron-coordinating residues were identified throughout this domain. The TbpA plug domain is highly conserved among bacteria expressing the transferrin-iron acquisition system (45). An amino acid sequence alignment of the TbpA plug from a variety of bacterial pathogens is shown in Figure 6. The plug domain of TbpA contains several conserved sequence motifs, some of which have potential iron-coordinating residues similar to those that coordinate iron in human transferrin (88) and bacterial ferric binding protein A (FbpA) (214). Having shown iron coordination by the plug, we hypothesize that potential iron-coordinating residues function to remove iron from transferrin and transport iron through the outer membrane. To test this hypothesis, site-directed, alanine substitution mutagenesis of conserved, Figure 5. Recombinant gonococcal TbpA plug binds iron in vitro. His-tagged, recombinant FbpA (+), TbpA plug, and ExbB (–) proteins were expressed and purified. Standardized levels of recombinant protein were bound to Ni-NTA agarose resin, incubated with ⁵⁵FeCl₃ to determine total iron binding. Non-specific counts were determined in two ways: (1) incubation in the presence excess cold Fe(NO₃)₃ competitor and (2) incubation in the absence of recombinant protein. Levels of non-specific iron binding were subtracted from total iron binding to determine specific iron binding by recombinant proteins. These data are reported as specific counts per minute (CPM) standardized to μ g of recombinant proteins. Each bar represents the average of at least three independent experiments, each performed in quadruplicate. Standard deviation is represented by error bars. *, P ≤ 0.005 indicates significance difference from recombinant ExbB(–) protein.



potential iron-coordinating residues within the TbpA plug domain was performed. We selected the **<u>EIEYE</u>** conserved sequence motif, shown in Figure 6, for analysis because of the abundance of potential iron-coordinating residues, but more importantly, because the region immediately upstream was shown to be critical for transferrin utilization (243). We successfully generated six alanine substitution mutants: four single mutants at amino acids 118 (E), 120 (E), 121 (Y), and 122 (E), one double mutant at amino acids 120 (E) and 121 (Y), and one triple mutant at amino acids 120–122 (EYE). These alanine substitution mutants are identified by their strain names (MCV250 – MCV261), but for clarity, are also identified by the amino acid substitutions (Table 2).

C. Alanine substitution mutants express full-length TbpA and TbpB and bind transferrin to the cell surface

To determine if alanine mutagenesis of the TbpA plug domain disrupted TbpA protein expression and to ensure that TbpB expression was similar to the parental strain, Western blot analyses were carried out (Figure 7). In panel A, expression of TbpA and TbpB by the alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background was evaluated. All alanine substitution mutants in this background expressed wild-type levels of both TbpA and TbpB. In panel B, expression of TbpA and TbpB by the alanine mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background was evaluated. Alanine substitution mutants in this background expressed wild-type levels of TbpA and did not express TbpB, as was detected in the FA6905 parental control. We conclude that site-directed, alanine substitution mutagenesis does not disrupt TbpA protein expression in any of the mutants.

Figure 6. Sequence alignment of TbpA plug domains from bacterial pathogens. The first two letters preceding the amino acid sequences represent the genus and species name of the bacterial pathogen: Ng, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*; Nm, *Neisseria meningitidis*; Hi, *Haemophilus influenzae*; Ap, *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*; and Mc, *Moraxella catarrhalis*. The subsequent numbers or letters represent the bacterial strain selected for analysis. The sequences represent mature TbpA plug domains and the amino acids are numbered accordingly to the right of the sequence. Dots indicate identical amino acids, dashes represent positions in which gaps were introduced in the alignment, and letters indicate the specific amino acid changes. Amino acids, in bold type and underlined, represent potential iron-coordinating residues. These amino acids coordinate iron in human transferrin (YHD) (88) and bacterial ferric binding protein A (YHE) (214). The box indicates the conserved sequence motif selected for site-directed, alanine substitution mutagenesis at amino acids 118 (E), 120 (E), 121 (Y), and 122 (E).

NgFA19	ENVQAGQAQEKQLDTIQVK-AKKQKTRRDN E VTGLGKLVKTADTLSK	46
NgFA1090		46
NmM982		46
NmB16B6	SS	46
HiMinnA	ETQSIKDTKEAISSE.DTQSTEDSE.ES.TE.IRD.KIISESI.R	59
HiEagan	ETOSIKDTKEAISSE.DTOSTEDSE.ES.TE.IRD.KIISESI.R	59
ApH49	VP.S	40
ApH171	E.AVNDVY.TGTKAHKKEVP	40
McO8	TDKTNLVVVETV.TN-A.KAVE.IN.	42
Mc4223	TDKTNLVVVETV.TN-A.KAVE.IN.	42
NaFA19	E OVLDIR D LTR YD PGIAVV E OGRGASSG Y SIRGM D KNRVSLTV D GLAOIOS Y TAOAALGG	106
NgFA1090	_~	106
NmM982		106
NmB16B6	NVS	106
HiMinnA	NSRRA.LP.TVV.SP.VA	119
HiEagan	N	119
ApH49	GM	98
ApH171	G	98
McO8	N	102
Mc4223	N	102
110 12 20		TOF
NgFA19	TRTAGSSGAINEIEYENVKAVEISKGSNSVEOGSGALAGSVAFOTKTADDVIGEGRO	- 163
NgFA1090	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· 163
NmM982		163
NmB16B6		167
HiMinnA	RSGYSGTT.S.S.A.ILEGDKS	. 176
HiEagan	RSGYSGTT.S.S.A.ILEGDKS	- 176
ApH49	SLRSIOAS.S.FS.GO.REVS.I.KP.OS	151
ApH171	S LRSI0AS.S.FS.GO.REVS.I.KP.OS	151
McO8	KN-YAAG	158
Mc4223	KN-YAAG	158

Figure 7. Alanine substitution mutants express wild-type levels of TbpA and TbpB by Western blot. Iron-stressed gonococci were lysed and standardized to a constant cell density. Whole-cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were probed with anti-TbpA (α -TbpA) or anti-TbpB (α -TbpB) polyclonal antibodies. Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions in parentheses. Panel A shows alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background, while panel B shows alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB-) background. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-).

А.	TbpB+	В.	TbpB–
FA19 FA6905 FA6905	MCV250 (E ₁₁₈ A) MCV252 (E ₁₂₀ A) MCV254 (Y ₁₂₁ A) MCV256 (E ₁₂₂ A) MCV258 (EY ₁₂₀ AA) MCV260 (EYE ₁₂₀ AA)	FA19 FA6905 FA6815	MCV251 (E ₁₁₈ A) MCV253 (E ₁₂₀ A) MCV255 (Y ₁₂₁ A) MCV257 (E ₁₂₂ A) MCV259 (EY ₁₂₀ AA) MCV261 (EYE ₁₂₀ AA)
α-TbpB			

In addition to protein expression, TbpA surface exposure and transferrin binding were also evaluated. To determine surface exposure and transferrin binding, solid-phase transferrin binding assays, in which whole gonococcal cells were spotted to a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with HRP-labeled transferrin, were performed (Figure 8). In panel A, cell surface transferrin binding was evaluated for alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background. Although not quantitative, it is clear that all alanine substitution mutants bound transferrin to the cell surface when compared to the positive and negative controls. Similarly, panel B shows cell surface transferrin binding by alanine substitution mutants in the TbpB– background maintained the ability to bind transferrin to the cell surface compared to the positive and negative controls. Overall, these results show that site-directed, alanine substitution mutagenesis does not affect TbpA expression levels, surface exposure, or the ability of TbpA to bind human transferrin to the cell surface.

D. Alanine substitution mutants bind transferrin with wild-type affinity and capacity

Solid-phase transferrin binding assays are not quantitative; therefore, to determine the transferrin binding affinity of the mutated TbpA proteins, whole-cell, equilibriumphase transferrin binding assays were carried out (Figure 9). Since both TbpA and TbpB function in high-affinity transferrin binding, these assays were performed with only alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background. In this manner, transferrin binding by TbpA, alone, could be assessed and quantitated. Panel A shows **Figure 8.** Alanine substitution mutants bind transferrin to the cell surface in solidphase transferrin binding assays. Whole, iron-stressed gonococci, standardized to a constant cell density, were applied to nitrocellulose membranes and probed with HRPlabeled transferrin. Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions in parentheses. Panel A shows the alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background, while panel B shows the alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB-) background. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-).



transferrin binding by the single alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background, while panel B shows binding by the double and triple alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background. All the alanine substitution mutants bound similar levels of transferrin compared to the parental control FA6905. Affinity and capacity measurements were calculated from the equilibrium transferrin binding data. These values, shown in Table 6, revealed that all alanine substitution mutants have similar transferrin binding affinities and capacities to the parental control FA6905. Overall these data support the solid-phase transferrin binding data, but specifically show that mutagenesis does not have a quantitative effect on transferrin binding affinity or on receptor capacity.

E. Double and triple alanine substitution mutants demonstrate decreased transferrin-iron internalization

TbpA plays two major roles in the process of iron acquisition by the gonococcal cell: transferrin binding and iron internalization. Transferrin binding was evaluated in the alanine substitution mutants and found to be at wild-type levels. Iron acquisition, the other major step in transferrin-mediated iron uptake, was also evaluated. This assay was performed by incubating gonococci with 20% iron-saturated human transferrin and specific iron uptake was measured (Figure 10). Strain FA6815 (TbpA– TbpB–) was unable to internalize iron due to the absence of TbpA and therefore served as the negative control in this assay. Although TbpB is not required for transferrin-iron uptake, it has been shown to make the process of iron internalization more efficient (4), and these data show that FA6905 (TbpB–) internalized iron around 50% of wild-type levels. Alanine

Figure 9. Alanine substitution mutants bind transferrin at wild-type levels in equilibrium-phase transferrin binding assays. Whole, iron-stressed gonococci were mixed with various concentrations of ¹²⁵I-labeled human transferrin (0-100 nM). Specific transferrin binding was determined by subtracting nonspecific binding (with excess competing unlabeled human transferrin) from total binding. Specific transferrin binding is reported on the y-axis as nanograms of transferrin bound per microgram of total cell protein (ng Tf/ μ g TCP). Only strains in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background are shown in order to evaluate specific transferrin binding attributable to TbpA. Each curve is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions shown. Each point represents an average and standard deviation of at least three independent experiments. Panel A shows the single alanine substitution mutants, while panel B shows the double and triple alanine substitution mutants. Controls include FA6905 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB–) and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–).





Double & triple alanine substitution mutants



Table 6.	Affinity and	capacity me	easurements	for alan	ine subst	itution r	nutants
	generated from	om equilibriu	um-phase tra	nsferrir	n binding	g assays	

Strains	Phenotype	K_d^{a} (nM)	Capacity (# receptors/µg TCP) ^b
FA6905	TbpA+, TbpB–	10.7 ± 2.9	$\begin{array}{c} 1.67 \times 10^8 \\ 1.53 \times 10^8 \\ 2.37 \times 10^8 \\ 1.65 \times 10^8 \\ 1.32 \times 10^8 \\ 1.19 \times 10^8 \\ 1.10 \times 10^8 \end{array}$
MCV251	TbpA E ₁₁₈ A, TbpB–	9.2 ± 1.8	
MCV253	TbpA E ₁₂₀ A, TbpB–	9.4 ± 1.4	
MCV255	TbpA E ₁₂₁ A, TbpB–	6.8 ± 1.1	
MCV257	TbpA E ₁₂₂ A, TbpB–	9.2 ± 2.1	
MCV259	TbpA EY ₁₂₀ AA, TbpB–	11.2 ± 1.9	
MCV261	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB–	6.0 ± 1.2	

^a K_d , capacity, and standard error calculated with Grafit software ^b TCP, total cell protein was determined by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay

substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB-) background were tested to determine the specific contribution of TbpA in the process of iron internalization (Figure 10, panel A). All single alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB-) background internalized similar amounts of iron compared to the FA6905 parental control. However, the double and triple alanine substitution mutants had significantly decreased iron internalization (P ≤ 0.01) when compared to the FA6905 parental control. Specifically, the double alanine substitution mutant (MCV259) internalized approximately 50% less iron than FA6905. while the triple alanine substitution mutant (MCV261) internalized approximately 80% less iron than FA6905. These data show that the single alanine substitution mutants bind transferrin with a wild-type affinity and internalize iron at a similar rate as wild-type. While the double and triple alanine substitution mutants had wild-type transferrin binding affinities, they demonstrated a significant decrease in iron internalization. Alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background were evaluated in panel B. All single alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background internalized similar amounts of iron compared to the FA19 parental control. However, the double and triple alanine substitution mutants still demonstrated a significant decrease in iron internalization ($P \le 0.01$) when compared to the FA19 parental control, but the presence of TbpB resulted in increased iron uptake by about 50% in both mutants. These results suggest that the wild-type sequence at residues 120–122 (EYE) facilitates efficient iron internalization.
Figure 10. Double and triple alanine substitution mutants demonstrate decreased iron internalization in transferrin-iron uptake assays. Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with ⁵⁵Fe-labeled human transferrin. Specific iron uptake was measured in picomoles (pmols) of iron internalized after 30 minutes. Each bar represents the mean of at least six independent experiments and is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions in parentheses. Panel A shows the alanine substitution mutants in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background, while panel B shows the alanine substitution mutants in the FA19 (TbpB+) background. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB–), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–). Standard deviations are represented by error bars. *, $P \le 0.01$ indicates significance from both FA19 and FA6905.



F. Triple alanine substitution mutant only utilizes transferrin as a sole iron source in the presence of TbpB

Since the double and triple alanine substitution mutants had a significant decrease in iron internalization, the ability of these mutants to utilize human transferrin as a sole iron source was evaluated. To test this, transferrin-iron utilization growth assays, in which gonococci were grown on CDM supplemented with 30% iron-saturated human transferrin as the sole iron source, were carried out (Figure 11). Alanine substitution mutants in both the FA19 (TbpB+) and FA6905 (TbpB-) backgrounds were tested. The single alanine substitution mutants in both backgrounds maintained the ability to utilize transferrin as a sole source of iron. In addition, although the double alanine substitution mutants (MCV258 and MCV259) had significantly decreased iron internalization, these mutants were able to utilize transferrin-bound iron for growth in both the presence and absence of TbpB. The triple alanine substitution mutant in the FA19 (TbpB+) background (MCV260), despite its decreased iron internalization, maintained the ability to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source. However, consistent with the significant decrease in iron internalization, the triple alanine substitution mutant in the FA6905 (TbpB–) background (MCV261) was unable to utilize transferrin, as shown in Figure 11. These results suggest that TbpB has the ability to compensate for the defect observed in the triple alanine substitution mutant. Overall, these data suggest that residues 120–122 (EYE) of the TbpA plug domain are critical for optimal iron internalization from transferrin, but the function provided by this conserved plug domain motif can be compensated for by the presence of TbpB.

Figure 11. Triple alanine substitution mutant utilizes transferrin as a sole iron source in transferrin utilization growth assays only in the TbpB-positive background. Gonococcal strains were grown on CDM agarose plates containing 30% iron-saturated human transferrin as a sole iron source. The ability of mutants to utilize transferrin as a sole source of iron was evaluated by growth at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. Strains are labeled according to the strain name with specific amino acid substitutions in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB–), FA6747 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB+), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–).



Since these assays were carried out using 30% iron-saturated transferrin, the growth phenotypes of the alanine substitution mutants in the presence of a variety of iron saturations ranging from 5% – 80% were determined (Table 7). The single and double alanine substitution mutants in both backgrounds maintained the ability to utilize transferrin at all the transferrin-iron saturations tested. Similar to the results in Figure 11, the triple alanine substitution mutant in the FA19 (TbpB+) background (MCV260) maintained the ability to utilize transferrin at all the transferrin.

G. MCV261 is unable to utilize transferrin in the presence of exogenous TbpB

In an attempt to characterize the compensatory function provided by TbpB, transferrin-iron uptake assays were carried out in the presence of recombinant, full-length TbpB (Figure 12) and FA6747 (TbpA– TbpB+) total membrane preparations (TMP) (data not shown). We hypothesized that if the TbpA triple alanine substitution mutant had a defect in iron removal from transferrin that TbpB was able to compensate for, then perhaps exogenous TbpB could provide the stripping function thereby allowing MCV261

Strain	Amino acid substitution	Iron-saturated transferrin*					
		5%	10%	30%	50%	80%	
FA19	TbpA+, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
FA6905	TbpA+, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	+	+	+	+	+	
FA6747	TbpA-(<i>tbpA</i> ::mTn3cat), TbpB+	—	—	—	—	_	
FA6815	TbpA–, TbpB– (<i>tbpB</i> ::Ω)	_	_	—	_	_	
MCV250	TbpA E ₁₁₈ A, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV251	TbpA $E_{118}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV252	TbpA E ₁₂₀ A, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV253	TbpA $E_{120}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV254	TbpA Y ₁₂₁ A, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV255	TbpA $Y_{121}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV256	TbpA E ₁₂₂ A, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV257	TbpA $E_{122}A$, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV258	TbpA EY ₁₂₀ AA, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV259	TbpA EY ₁₂₀ AA, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV260	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB+	+	+	+	+	+	
MCV261	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	—	—	_	—	—	

Table 7. Phenotypes of alanine substitution mutants in transferrin-iron utilizationgrowth assays

*, Transferrin-iron utilization growth assays were carried out with CDM plates supplemented with 5%, 10%, 30%, 50%, or 80% iron-saturated human transferrin

(TbpB–) to function in transferrin-iron utilization. However, if the triple alanine substitution mutant had a transport defect and maintained the ability to remove iron from transferrin, then exogenous TbpB would not facilitate transferrin-iron utilization by this mutant. Transferrin-iron internalization assays were carried out with MCV261 (TbpB–) as described previously, but in the presence of recombinant TbpB or FA6747 (TbpA–, TbpB+) total membrane preparations (TMP) at concentrations equivalent to the amount of transferrin present. Results from both assays showed that neither recombinant TbpB nor TbpB from total membrane preparations (TMP) were able to compensate for the TbpA plug domain mutant in transferrin-iron uptake. It is likely that the function provided by TbpB requires expression of TbpB within the same membrane as TbpA. Thus, these data suggest that TbpA and TbpB function together to facilitate the removal of iron from transferrin and transport of iron through the outer membrane.

III. Discussion

In order for gonococci to utilize transferrin-bound iron, TbpA must carry out two major functions: iron removal from transferrin and iron transport through the outer membrane. This study was designed to analyze the functional role of the TbpA plug domain in this process and to test the hypothesis that the plug functions in ironcoordination and subsequent iron internalization. In vitro studies indicated that the plug domain of TbpA functions in iron coordination. Single, double, and triple alanine substitution mutagenesis of putative iron-coordinating residues within the TbpA plug Figure 12. Exogenous TbpB is unable to compensate for MCV261 (EYE₁₂₀AAA) in transferrin-iron uptake assays. Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with ⁵⁵Felabeled human transferrin in the presence (+ rTbpB) or absence (- rTbpB) of equal molar amounts of recombinant TbpB (125 μ M). Specific iron uptake was measured in picomoles (pmols) of iron internalized after 30 minutes. Each bar represents the mean of three independent experiments and is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA-TbpB-). Standard deviations are represented by error bars.



domain resulted in mutants that expressed wild-type levels of TbpA on the gonococcal cell surface and bound transferrin with wild-type affinity and capacity. Furthermore, no growth abnormalities were observed with any of the alanine substitution mutants suggesting that the alanine mutagenesis had relatively little impact on the structure or function of gonococcal TbpA. Previous studies, in which deletion and insertion mutagenesis of TbpA were performed (22, 243), are in agreement with these data and support the theory that gonococcal TbpA, like other TonB-dependent receptors (7, 24, 98, 102, 117, 140, 157), is resilient to various types of mutagenesis.

Analysis of the double and triple alanine substitution mutants in transferrin-iron uptake assays revealed a significant defect in iron internalization. Furthermore, analysis of the triple alanine substitution mutant in transferrin-iron utilization growth assays revealed that this mutant was unable to utilize transferrin-bound iron in the absence of TbpB. This suggests that the defect in the TbpA plug domain can be overcome by the presence of TbpB. This phenomenon has been previously observed with insertion mutations in putative loops 2, 9, and 11 of TbpA (243), suggesting that TbpA and TbpB have redundant function(s). Similar to the triple alanine substitution mutant, the loop 2, 9, and 11 TbpA insertion mutants showed no defect in transferrin binding, but a defect in transferrin-iron utilization in the absence of TbpB (243). Therefore, the function of TbpB is not limited to transferrin binding and holo/apo-transferrin discrimination (20, 50, 183, 184), but also appears to play an additional role in the mechanism of transferrin-mediated iron uptake. The compensatory function provided by TbpB suggests that TbpA and TbpB work together to accomplish transferrin-iron uptake. Although not much is known about the specific interactions between TbpA and TbpB, it has been shown that both gonococcal and meningococcal TbpB associate with TbpA (63, 64, 97, 210). The defect in transferrin-iron uptake and utilization seen in the TbpA triple alanine substitution mutant could be attributed to either a defect in iron removal from transferrin, iron binding by the plug, and/or iron transport through the β -barrel. Therefore TbpB may provide one or more of these functions in wild-type gonococci. Since TbpB is a surface-exposed lipoprotein, it is not likely to compensate for iron transport through the TbpA β -barrel, but it may function in iron removal from transferrin by an unknown mechanism.

As mentioned previously, gonococcal TbpB is not typically required for transferrin utilization, but in the case of the TbpA triple alanine substitution mutant, TbpB is required for iron acquisition from transferrin. This dependence on TbpB function is also observed in *Neisseria meningitidis* strain B16B6, which expresses a low molecular weight class of the transferrin binding proteins. In B16B6, iron acquisition from human transferrin requires TbpB (85), which is most likely due to the lack of critical regions in the TbpA from this strain. Meningococcal TbpA from B16B6 shares only 75% identity to gonococcal TbpAs (45) and shows sequence and length diversity within the exposed loops (45, 163). These data suggest that there are multiple domains within TbpA and TbpB that are important in transferrin-mediated iron acquisition. Cumulatively, our data (160, 243) demonstrate that disruption of one or more epitopes prevents TbpA function in the absence of TbpB. These domains may similarly be lacking or nonfunctional in meningococcal strain B16B6. Our data demonstrate that the TbpA plug domain binds iron and residues 120–122 (EYE) of the TbpA plug domain are critical for transferrin-iron acquisition. This may be due to alteration of an iron binding site, which may promote iron removal from transferrin, subsequent iron binding by the plug, and transport through the outer membrane. It has been shown that the plug domain of the *E. coli* TonB-dependent transporter FepA binds directly to its ligand, ferric-enterobactin, in the absence of the β -barrel domain (222), which suggests the importance of the plug in ligand binding and possibly transport. Oke et al. found that the neisserial TbpA plug domain was unable to bind human transferrin (161). However, the TbpA plug domain most likely has a ligand specificity for iron rather than transferrin. Although TbpA is a characterized transferrin receptor, it is also an iron transporter. Therefore, TbpA has two ligand specificities during the process of transferrin-mediated iron internalization. It is important to note that, although residues 120–122 (EYE) of the TbpA plug domain are clearly involved in transferrin-mediated iron acquisition, others may be involved as well.

Figure 13 shows a homology model for the gonococcal TbpA plug domain, which was derived from comparison with the known crystal structure of the homologous plug domain of the ferric-enterobactin transporter, FepA. The positions of amino acids 120 (E), 121 (Y), and 122 (E), mutated in the current study, are shown as ball and stick representations. Interestingly, this conserved motif is located near the bottom of the plug in this model. The position of this critical domain relative to the surface-exposed opening of the barrel (top) is consistent with the hypothesis that the plug coordinates iron via ligands from distant amino acid residues within the plug. Alternatively, iron may be **Figure 13.** Predicted structural model of *N. gonorrhoeae* TbpA plug domain. The mature *N. gonorrhoeae* TbpA plug domain (amino acids 1-162) was aligned with the homologous sequence of the *E. coli* FepA plug domain using the 3D-Jigsaw comparative modeling program. The modeled region of TbpA spans from Thr₂₅ (N-terminus) to Thr₁₅₁ (C-terminus). The resulting output file was visualized with First Glance in Jmol. The image shown was captured and imported into Adobe Photoshop. The amino acids 120 (E), 121 (Y), and 122 (E) are represented by balls and sticks. Red indicates hydrophobic atoms, while blue indicates hydrophilic atoms. Alpha helices and beta strands are shown as ribbons, with arrowheads pointing toward the C-terminus. Random coils are shown as smooth backbone traces.



coordinated at multiple, different sites within the plug domain during transport through the β -barrel. Our recombinant iron binding data may support this hypothesis in that the TbpA plug domain binds more iron than FbpA, which may indicate more than one site of iron coordination. It is also possible that these substitution mutants resulted in indirect impacts within the plug domain leading to the plug's inability to bind or transport iron. Thus, the results of this study support the hypothesis that the plug domain coordinates iron. This iron coordination is likely critical for transferrin-mediated iron internalization, for mutations in possible coordination sites result in decreased iron uptake and losses in TbpA-mediated transferrin utilization.

Overall, these studies provide insight into the mechanism of TbpA-mediated iron acquisition. Further studies are necessary to determine the function of the TbpA plug domain in respect to the multiple steps of transferrin-iron uptake: iron removal from transferrin, iron binding and coordination, and iron transport through the outer membrane. Further studies are also needed to address the function of TbpB in this process of iron acquisition from transferrin. A better understanding of this mechanism may reveal new sites within TbpA to target for vaccine development or to exploit for treatment of gonococcal infection.

IV. Acknowledgements

Funding of this work was provided by Public Health Service grant ROI AI047141 from the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health. I was supported by the Training in Molecular Pathogenesis grant (T32 AI07617) from the National Institutes of Health while carrying out this work.

I would like to acknowledge Bill Barton at Virginia Commonwealth University for his assistance with TbpA homology modeling and Susan Buchanan at NIH for critical reading of this chapter. I also would like to thank Cara Olsen at Uniformed Services University for useful discussions regarding appropriate statistical analysis. Finally, I would also like to acknowledge Lori Walsh for her assistance in construction of some mutant strains in this study.

CHAPTER 4 – ANALYSIS OF TBPA AND TBPB COOPERATION IN TRANSFERRIN-IRON ACQUISITION BY *NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE*

I. Introduction

The gonococcal transferrin-iron acquisition system is composed of two dissimilar proteins, TbpA and TbpB. TbpA is the TonB-dependent outer membrane iron transporter required for transferrin-iron acquisition. However, the TbpB lipoprotein component is not required for transferrin-iron internalization, but has been shown to make the process more efficient (4). There have been few studies to address the mechanism by which TbpB increases the efficiency of iron uptake; however, it has been shown that ligand discrimination and holo-transferrin binding are not sufficient for this TbpB-dependent increase in efficiency (56, 57).

TbpB is a bi-lobed structure with a C-terminal and N-terminal domain that both function in transferrin binding (57). This was recently determined in a structure and function analysis of mutants with hemagglutinin (HA) epitope insertions throughout the length of TbpB (57). This study confirmed that TbpB was entirely surface-exposed and that there were two distinct domains that function in high-affinity transferrin binding (57). These HA epitope insertion mutants in TbpB have been fully characterized and vary in their transferrin binding abilities (57). Although TbpB is not required for transferrin-iron acquisition in the wild-type receptor, there have been a number of characterized TbpA mutants that require TbpB for function. These include one site-directed substitution mutant in the TbpA plug domain (MCV260) (160) and HA epitope insertion mutants within the surface-exposed loops 2, 9, and 11 of TbpA (MCV527, MCV515, MCV519) (242). All of these mutants exhibited identical phenotypes, in which the mutagenized TbpA maintained wild-type transferrin binding, but was unable to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source in the absence of TbpB. To date, TbpB has been shown to only function in transferrin binding and discrimination (20, 50, 183, 184). Therefore, the ability of TbpB to compensate for defects in iron internalization suggests that TbpB provides a novel function that does not directly pertain to transferrin binding and discrimination. Thus, we hypothesize that specific domains of TbpB may function in transferrin utilization.

To address which domains in TbpB were required for the compensatory function, TbpB was mutagenized in two gonococcal strains that require it for transferrin utilization (MCV260 – EYE and MCV515 – L9HA). We hypothesized that these gonococcal strains that require TbpB for function, despite having similar phenotypes, might exhibit different defects in transferrin-iron acquisition. In addition, we hypothesized that TbpB has various domains that are important for the observed compensatory functions. Therefore, by combining characterized TbpA and TbpB mutations, specific regions of TbpB required for TbpA-mediated transferrin utilization may be identified. Also, using this approach, it may be possible to distinguish between phenotypically similar TbpA mutants, in an effort to elucidate the specific TbpA defects in transferrin-mediated iron acquisition.

II. Results

A. Site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis

TbpB has an N-terminal and C-terminal lobe, which both contain high-affinity transferrin binding domains (57). Other regions within TbpB are highly conserved at the amino acid sequence level (56, 57). One unique region of conservation is in the C-terminus and this region consists of two, adjacent cysteine residues (56, 57). To investigate the role these residues play in transferrin-mediated iron acquisition, site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis was utilized to change the double cysteines to double alanines (56). This mutation was generated in both FA19 (TbpA+) and FA6747 (TbpA-) backgrounds for analysis and resulting strains MCV845 and MCV846 are listed in Table 2. It has been shown that cysteine residues can coordinate metal ions (105), and therefore, these residues may play a role in the removal of iron from transferrin. Additionally, these residues may be important for the compensatory function provided by TbpB in either MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA) or MCV515 (L9HA). Therefore, in addition to the previously characterized TbpB HA epitope insertion mutants (57), this cysteine mutant was used for TbpA and TbpB combined mutagenesis, discussed below.

B. MCV845 expresses full-length TbpB that is capable of binding transferrin

To determine if site-directed mutagenesis of the TbpB conserved cysteine residues disrupted TbpB protein expression levels or transferrin binding ability, Western blot analyses were carried out (Figure 14). Expression of TbpB and transferrin binding ability were assessed by immunoblotting with anti-TbpB antibodies and HRP-labeled transferrin, respectively. MCV845 ($CC_{481}AA$, TbpA+) expressed wild-type levels of TbpB and bound transferrin by Western blot. Therefore, site-directed alanine substitution mutagenesis of cysteine residues does not disrupt TbpB protein expression. In addition, TbpB is not subject to proteolytic degradation as a result of mutagenesis.

C. MCV846 binds transferrin with wild-type affinity and capacity

MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA, TbpA+) expressed wild-type levels of TbpB, but it was also necessary to determine if site-directed mutagenesis affected TbpB surface exposure and whole-cell transferrin binding ability. Thus, solid-phase transferrin binding assays were used to assess surface expression of TbpB and transferrin binding to the gonococcal cell surface (Figure 15). Whole-cell, iron-stressed gonococci were spotted to a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with HRP-labeled transferrin to assess transferrin-binding competent surface proteins. Although not quantitative it was clear that MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA, TbpA+) and MCV846 (CC₄₈₁AA, TbpA–) expressed surface exposed and transferrin binding competent TbpA and TbpB. Therefore, site-directed mutagenesis does not disrupt TbpB overall protein expression levels, protein expression on the gonococcal cell surface, or transferrin binding potential.

Since solid-phase transferrin binding assays are not quantitative, equilibriumphase transferrin binding assays were carried out to quantitate specific transferrin binding affinity and capacity (Figure 16, Table 8). Since both TbpA and TbpB function in transferrin binding, equilibrium-phase transferrin binding was assessed in the FA6747 Figure 14. MCV845 expresses wild-type levels of TbpB and binds transferrin by Western blot. Iron-stressed gonococci were lysed and standardized to a constant cell density. Whole-cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were probed with anti-TbpB (α -TbpB) polyclonal antibody (panel A) or HRP-transferrin (panel B). Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+) and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB–).



Figure 15. Double cysteine mutants bind transferrin to the cell surface in solidphase transferrin binding assays. Whole, iron-stressed gonococci, standardized to a constant cell density, were applied to nitrocellulose membranes and probed with HRPlabeled transferrin. Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions shown below. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6747 (TbpA– TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB–), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–).



(TbpA–) background (MCV846) to determine the transferrin binding ability of TbpB only. From these studies it is clear that MCV846 (CC₄₈₁AA, TbpA–) bound wild-type levels of transferrin as shown in Figure 16. Affinity and capacity measurements calculated from these equilibrium-phase transferrin binding data show that MCV846 exhibited wild-type transferrin binding affinity and capacity (Table 8).

D. MCV845 demonstrates decreased transferrin-iron internalization

Although TbpB is not required for transferrin-iron internalization, it does increase the efficiency of iron uptake (4). Since the TbpB double cysteines may have a role in iron removal from transferrin, this mutant may exhibit decreased efficiency in iron internalization when compared to the wild-type. Thus, transferrin-iron internalization assays were carried out in the FA19 (TbpA+) background (MCV845). Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with 20% iron-saturated human transferrin, and specific iron uptake is shown in Figure 17. As mentioned previously, TbpB is known to increase the efficiency of iron internalization and that was apparent with the FA6905 (TbpB–) control, which internalized about 50% of wild-type FA19. In support of our hypothesis, MCV845 ($CC_{481}AA$, TbpA+) showed a significant decrease in iron uptake, approximately 60% of wild-type FA19. Iron internalization by MCV845 was also significantly greater than that of FA6905 (TbpB-) control. Thus, double cysteine residues in the C-terminus of TbpB play an important role in increasing the efficiency of transferrin-iron uptake, but replacement of the cysteine residues does not completely abolish TbpB function. To further analyze the contribution these double cysteines play in transferrin-mediated iron uptake, MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA, TbpA+) as well as other

Figure 16. MCV846 binds transferrin at wild-type levels in equilibrium-phase transferrin binding assays. Whole, iron-stressed gonococci were mixed with various concentrations of ¹²⁵I-labeled human transferrin (0-100 nM). Specific transferrin binding was determined by subtracting nonspecific binding (with excess competing unlabeled human transferrin) from total binding. Specific transferrin binding is reported on the y-axis as nanograms of transferrin bound per microgram of total cell protein (ng Tf/µg TCP). Only MCV846, the TbpA– strain, is shown in order to evaluate specific transferrin binding attributable to TbpB. Each curve is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitutions shown. Each point represents the average and standard deviation of at least three independent experiments. Controls include FA6747 (positive control, TbpA– TbpB+) and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–).



Table 8. Affinity and capacity measurements for MCV846 generated from
equilibrium-phase transferrin binding assays

Stain	Phenotype	<i>Kd</i> ^a (nM)	Capacity ^b (# receptors/µg TCP)
FA6747	TbpA–, TbpB+	12.6 ± 0.6	7.00 x 10 ⁸
MCV846	TbpA–, TbpB CC ₄₈₁ AA	13.1 ± 0.4	7.19 x 10 ⁸

^a K_d , capacity, and standard error calculated with Grafit software ^b TCP, total cell protein was determined by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay Figure 17. MCV845 demonstrates decreased iron internalization in transferrin-iron uptake assays. Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with ⁵⁵Fe-labeled human transferrin. Specific iron uptake was measured in picomoles (pmols) of iron internalized after 30 minutes. Each bar represents the mean of at least six independent experiments and is labeled according to the strain name with amino acid substitution in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-). Standard deviations are represented by error bars. *, $P \le 0.05$ indicates significance from both FA19 and FA6905.



previously characterized TbpB HA-epitope insertion mutants were used for TbpA and TbpB combined mutagenesis and are discussed below. All the single TbpA and TbpB mutations utilized for combined mutagenesis are described below.

E. TbpA and TbpB single mutants express transferrin binding competent, fulllength TbpB

To confirm previously described phenotypes, all single TbpA and TbpB mutants used in combined mutagenesis were subjected to Western blot analysis to evaluate TbpB protein expression and HRP-transferrin binding (Figure 18). HRP-transferrin binding by Western blot assesses TbpB protein expression as well as transferrin binding ability. Following SDS-PAGE the N-terminal high-affinity transferrin binding domain of TbpB retains its transferrin binding ability. Therefore, HRP-transferrin probes for transferrin binding by the N-terminus of TbpB. As previously observed (57, 160, 243), this study confirmed that all single mutants expressed wild-type levels of TbpB. In addition, transferrin binding phenotypes were also consistent with previous results (57, 243). Mutations in the TbpA plug domain (MCV260 – EYE₁₂₀AAA) and loop 9 of TbpA (MCV515 – L9HA) were able to bind transferrin by Western blot, indicating the presence of a wild-type, transferrin-binding competent TbpB. Similarly, MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA, TbpA+) bound wild-type levels of transferrin by Western blot. TbpB HA epitope insertion mutants showed varying levels of transferrin binding. HA epitope insertion into position 3 of TbpB (MCV812 - HA3) caused a decrease in transferrin binding, while HA epitope insertion into position 5 (MCV816 – HA5) abolished transferrin binding by Western blot. These findings are consistent with previous studies and are not surprising

Figure 18. Mutations in TbpA and TbpB do not affect TbpB protein expression or transferrin binding by Western blot. Iron-stressed gonococci were lysed and standardized to a constant cell density. Whole-cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were probed with anti-TbpB (TbpB) polyclonal antibodies (top panel) or HRP-labeled transferrin (bottom panel). Each lane is labeled according to the strain name and mutation. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB–), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–).



because positions 3 and 5 are both within the N-terminal high-affinity transferrin binding domain of TbpB. As previously shown, HA epitope insertion into position 9 of TbpB (MCV824 – HA9) caused no defect and wild-type levels of transferrin binding were observed.

F. TbpA and TbpB single mutants bind transferrin to the cell surface

Transferrin binding and surface exposure were assessed by solid-phase transferrin binding assays (Figure 19). HA epitope surface expression was also assessed by solidphase anti-HA antibody binding. Whole-cell, iron-stressed gonococci were spotted to nitrocellulose membranes and probed with HRP-transferrin or an HRP-HA antibody. Dot blot analysis confirmed HA epitope surface exposure; although, as previously shown, HA epitope insertions were not equally accessible by HA antibody (57, 243). Unlike transferrin binding by Western, cell-surface transferrin binding detects both TbpA- and TbpB-mediated transferrin binding as well as transferrin binding by both domains of TbpB. Thus, phenotypes observed by Western blot are masked in solid-phase assays by the ability of both TbpB N-terminal and C-terminal domains ability to bind transferrin to the cell surface. These data show that all single mutants express TbpA and TbpB on the gonococcal cell surface and maintain the ability to bind transferrin. These studies show that mutagenesis of TbpA or TbpB does not disrupt protein expression or transferrin binding ability to the gonococcal cell surface. **Figure 19. TbpA and TbpB single mutants bind transferrin and express HA epitopes on the cell surface in solid-phase transferrin binding assays.** Whole, ironstressed gonococci, standardized to a constant cell density, were applied to nitrocellulose membranes and probed with HRP-labeled transferrin (top panel) or HRP-HA antibody (bottom panel). Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with mutations shown below. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-).


G. TbpA and TbpB single mutants vary in ability to internalize iron from transferrin

To analyze the ability of each mutant to internalize iron, transferrin-iron uptake assays were carried out (Figure 20). For this assay, iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with 20% iron-saturated human transferrin and specific iron uptake was measured. As previously observed, FA6905 (TbpB–) was less efficient in iron uptake and internalized about 42% of wild-type FA19. All of the mutants tested in iron uptake assays had significant defects in iron internalization. As previously shown, MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA) internalized iron at 60% of wild-type FA19. The other TbpA mutant tested in this assay was the HA-encoding epitope insertion into loop 9 of TbpA (MCV515 – L9HA). Although MCV515 (L9HA) has been shown to have the same phenotype as the TbpA plug mutant, it is clear from the iron uptake data, that MCV515 (L9HA) has a much greater defect in transferrin-iron internalization, only internalizing 15% of wildtype FA19. Although these mutants have similar growth phenotypes, they clearly have different defects in transferrin-iron acquisition.

The various TbpB single mutants were also tested to evaluate how the efficiency of iron uptake was affected. Although some of these mutants had been previously tested and characterized, the studies presented here were performed and analyzed differently than what was previously reported (57). Therefore, any differences observed in iron uptake phenotypes from this study in comparison to the previous study (57) are attributed to the way in which these assays were performed and these data were analyzed. The

MCV845 ($CC_{481}AA$, TbpA+) as previously shown only internalized 60% of iron compared to wild-type FA19. HA epitope insertion mutants in the N-terminus of TbpB at positions 3 and 5 (HA3 and HA5) resulted in significantly decreased iron uptake. MCV812 (HA3) internalized about 40% of wild-type FA19, similar to the TbpB-(FA6905) control. Overall, MCV812 (HA3) exhibited decreased transferrin binding and an iron uptake efficiency similar to that of a TbpB- strain (FA6905). In contrast, MCV816 (HA5), which had abolished transferrin binding by Western blot, demonstrated iron uptake below that of a TbpB- (FA6905) strain, about 15% of wild-type FA19. Iron uptake levels below 50% of wild-type were not expected as they suggest a defect in TbpA. This mutant may express lower levels of TbpA, which could account for significant decrease in iron uptake below TbpB- (FA6905) levels. The final TbpB HA epitope insertion mutant, MCV824 (HA9), had an identical phenotype to MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA). MCV824 (HA9) exhibited wild-type transferrin binding and demonstrated a decreased efficiency in transferrin-iron uptake, about 60% of wild-type FA19. Thus, both mutations in the C-terminus of TbpB, CC₄₈₁AA and HA9, caused similar defects whereby TbpB still functioned in transferrin binding and contributes to the efficiency of transferrin-iron uptake. Overall, these data illustrate the phenotypic diversity that these mutations have on TbpA and TbpB function. Combined TbpA and TbpB mutagenesis, discussed below, will allow us to determine specific domains in TbpB that are required for compensatory functions and will help elucidate the mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition utilized by these mutants.

Figure 20. TbpA and TbpB single mutants internalize varying levels of iron in transferrin-iron uptake assays. Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with ⁵⁵Fe-labeled human transferrin. Specific iron uptake was measured in picomoles (pmols) of iron internalized after 30 minutes. Each bar represents the mean of at least six independent experiments and is labeled according to the strain name with mutations in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-). Standard deviations are represented by error bars. *, $P \le 0.05$ indicates significance from FA19, while ** indicates significance from both FA19 and FA6905.



H. Combined TbpA and TbpB mutagenesis

Combined TbpA and TbpB mutants were generated for the purpose of determining regions of TbpA and TbpB critical for iron acquisition from transferrin. By utilizing specific TbpA mutants that require TbpB for function, our goal was to determine the functions required by TbpB for TbpA compensation. TbpA mutants, MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA) and MCV515 (L9HA), were both combined with MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA) to generate strains MCV262 (EYE/CC) and MCV266 (L9/CC), respectively. Previous mutagenesis and analyses were carried out in which MCV515 (L9HA) was combined with various TbpB HA epitope insertion mutants (57). In a similar fashion, MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA) was combined with the various TbpB HA epitope insertion mutants: MCV812 (HA3), MCV816 (HA5), and MCV824 (HA9). It was hypothesized that MCV816 (HA5), which phenotypically resembles the TbpB- strain (FA6905) should not compensate for either TbpA mutation. However, the TbpB mutants that exhibit an intermediate phenotype, MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA), MCV812 (HA3), and MCV824 (HA9) may or may not compensate for TbpA, depending on the role these regions play in transferrin-mediated iron uptake.

I. Combined mutants express full-length TbpA and TbpB

Before determining the effects of mutagenesis on transferrin-iron acquisition, these mutants were characterized to ensure that they expressed wild-type levels of TbpA and TbpB. Therefore, these strains were subjected to Western blot analyses, for detection of TbpA, TbpB, and HRP-transferrin binding (Figure 21). All combined mutants expressed wild-type levels of full-length TbpA and TbpB; therefore, combined mutagenesis does not disrupt the expression of either transferrin binding protein. Western blotting with HRP-transferrin, as mentioned previously, detects only transferrin binding by the N-terminus of TbpB. Thus, these results only reflect transferrin binding by TbpB present in each strain. These data show that combined mutagenesis does not alter the transferrin binding phenotypes observed for the single TbpB mutants in Western blot analysis.

J. Combined mutants bind transferrin to the cell surface

To ensure that these combined mutants expressed TbpA and TbpB on the gonococcal cell surface, solid-phase transferrin binding assays were carried out (Figure 22). Iron-stressed, whole-cell gonococci were spotted to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with HRP-labeled transferrin for detection of transferrin binding to the gonococcal cell surface. Unlike Western blot analysis with HRP-transferrin, solid-phase dot blots represent transferrin binding by TbpA and both binding domains of TbpB. From this analysis, it was concluded that both TbpA and TbpB are surface exposed and transferrin binding competent.

K. Combined mutants vary in ability to internalize iron from transferrin

To determine the effects of combined mutagenesis on iron internalization, transferrin-iron uptake assays were performed, whereby gonococcal strains were incubated with 20% iron-saturated human transferrin and specific iron uptake was measured (Figure 23). Each combined mutant exhibited significantly lower levels of iron internalization as compared to the parental control (FA19). Many of the mutants **Figure 21. TbpA and TbpB combined mutants express wild-type levels of TbpA and TbpB and bind transferrin by Western blot.** Iron-stressed gonococci were lysed and standardized to a constant cell density. Whole-cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were probed with anti-TbpA (TbpA) (top panel), anti-TbpB (TbpB) (middle panel), or HRP-labeled transferrin (HRP-Tf) (bottom panel). Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with mutation shown below. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB–), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA– TbpB–).



Figure 22. TbpA and TbpB combined mutants bind transferrin and express HA epitope on the cell surface in solid-phase transferrin binding assays. Whole, iron-stressed gonococci, standardized to a constant cell density, were applied to nitrocellulose membranes and probed with HRP-labeled transferrin (top panel) or HRP-HA antibody (bottom panel). Each lane is labeled according to the strain name with mutations shown below. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-).



exhibited even lower levels of iron uptake than the TbpB– control (FA6905). Therefore, wild-type TbpA and TbpB are required for efficient iron uptake and the different TbpB defects cause variations in the levels of transferrin-iron internalization.

L. Combined mutants utilize transferrin only when TbpB is transferrin-binding competent

Transferrin-iron utilization growth assays were carried out to determine if these decreases in iron internalization were substantial enough to prevent utilization of transferrin as a sole iron source. For these assays, gonococcal strains were grown on CDM supplemented with 30% iron-saturated transferrin as the sole iron source (Table 9). Growth phenotypes of the single and combined mutants are summarized in Table 9. The TbpA single mutants, as shown previously (160, 243), were only able to utilize transferrin in the FA19 (TbpB+) background. Thus, MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA) and MCV515 (L9HA) are dependent on TbpB for transferrin utilization. The TbpB single mutants were able to utilize transferrin, as expected, because they express wild-type TbpA. Despite the significantly low levels of iron internalization, all of the combined mutants, with the exception of MCV264 (EYE/HA5), were able to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source. These data show that in order for TbpB to compensate for these TbpA defects, the function of the N-terminal transferrin binding domains of TbpB is required.

Compensation, up to this point, has been defined as the ability of mutant gonococcal strains to grow, in the presence of TbpB, with transferrin provided as the sole iron source. If, however, we look at the ability of TbpB to compensate in terms of iron Figure 23. TbpA and TbpB combined mutants internalize varying levels of iron in transferrin-iron uptake assays. Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with ⁵⁵Fe-labeled human transferrin. Specific iron uptake was measured in picomoles (pmols) of iron internalized after 30 minutes. Each bar represents the mean of at least six independent experiments and is labeled according to the strain name with mutations in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-). Standard deviations are represented by error bars. *, $P \le 0.05$ indicates significance from FA19, while ** indicates significance from both FA19 and FA6905.



Strain	Phenotype	Growth phenotype	Reference
	Controls		
FA19	TbpA+, TbpB+	+	This study
FA6905	IbpA+, IbpB–	+	This study
FA6747	TbpA–, TbpB+	_	This study
FA6815	TbpA–, TbpB–	—	This study
	Single mutations		
MCV260	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB+	+	This study (160)
MCV261	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB–	-	This study (160)
MCV845	TbpA+, TbpB CC ₄₈₁ AA	+	This study
MCV812	TbpA+, TbpB HA3 ₁₇₅	+	This study (57)
MCV816	TbpA+, TbpB HA5 ₃₂₇	+	This study (57)
MCV824	TbpA+, TbpB HA9 ₆₆₀	+	This study (57)
MCV515	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB+	+	This study (243)
MCV516	TbpA L9HA ₇₅₀ , TbpB–	-	This study (243)
MCV519	TbpA L11HA ₈₄₃ , TbpB+	+	(243)
MCV520	TbpA L11HA ₈₄₃ , TbpB–	_	(243)
MCV527	TbpA L2HA ₂₂₉ , TbpB+	+	(243)
MCV528	TbpA L2HA ₂₂₉ , TbpB–	-	(243)
	Combined mutations		
MCV262	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB	+	This study
	CC ₄₈₁ AA		(DeRocco unpublished)
MCV263	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB HA3 ₁₇₅	+	This study

Table 9. Phenotypes of TbpA and TbpB combined mutants in transferrin-iror	n
utilization growth assays	

			137
			(DeRocco unpublished)
MCV264	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB HA5 ₃₂₇	-	This study
			(DeRocco unpublished)
MCV265	TbpA EYE ₁₂₀ AAA, TbpB HA9 ₆₆₀	+	This study
			(DeRocco
			unpublished)
MCV266	TbpA L9HA ₇₅₀ , TbpB CC ₄₈₁ AA	+	This study
			(DeRocco
			unpublished)
MCV828	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB HA3175	+	(57)
MCV830	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB HA5327	_	(57)
MCV833	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB HA8607	_	(57)
MCV834	TbpA L9HA750, TbpB HA9660	+	(57)

internalization, we observed that specific domains of TbpB were required for compensation of some TbpA mutants, but not others. Figure 24 shows the relative levels of iron uptake by all the single and combined mutants. Both TbpA mutations $(EYE_{120}AAA and L9HA)$ were combined with MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA). Interestingly, MCV262 (EYE/CC) resulted in a decrease in iron internalization that was significantly greater than the additive effects of either single mutation alone ($P \le 0.02$). However, MCV266 (L9/CC) did not exhibit a significant decrease in the efficiency of iron uptake when compared to each single mutation in isolation. In contrast, the TbpB CC₄₈₁AA mutation actually increased TbpA (L9HA)-mediated iron internalization (MCV266 -L9/CC). Therefore, the double cysteine residues in TbpB are required for compensatory function in MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA), whereas, they play no role in compensation for the MCV515 (L9HA). These data support the hypothesis that these TbpA mutants have different defects and specific domains of TbpB are required for different compensatory functions. This is also supported by the data seen in comparing MCV262 (EYE/CC) and MCV265 (EYE/HA9). Single mutants MCV845 (CC₄₈₁AA) and MCV824 (HA9) have identical phenotypes; however, when these mutations are combined with the MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA), they exhibit different levels of TbpB-mediated compensation. Despite the fact that these mutations in TbpB cause identical defects, the compensatory functions differ, such that the CC₄₈₁AA mutation in TbpB does not allow for compensation of the EYE₁₂₀AAA mutation in TbpA (MCV262 – EYE/CC), but the HA9 mutation in TbpB does (MCV265 – L9/CC). Although the specific mechanism by which TbpB compensates for TbpA defects has not been determined, we have identified specific

Figure 24. Comparative analysis of transferrin-iron uptake by single and combined TbpA and TbpB mutants. Iron-stressed gonococci were incubated with ⁵⁵Fe-labeled human transferrin. Specific iron uptake was measured in picomoles (pmols) of iron internalized after 30 minutes. Each bar represents the mean of at least six independent experiments and is labeled according to the strain name with mutations in parentheses. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+), FA6905 (TbpA+ TbpB-), and FA6815 (negative control, TbpA- TbpB-). Standard deviations are represented by error bars. *, $P \le 0.02$ indicates significance from both single mutants.



regions of TbpB that are critical for TbpA compensation.

III. Discussion

Transferrin-iron acquisition by Neisseria gonorrhoeae is mediated by the transferrin binding proteins, TbpA and TbpB. In the wild-type gonococcus, TbpA is required for transferrin-iron acquisition, while TbpB is not essential (4). However, there have been a number of TbpA mutants that require TbpB for transferrin utilization (160, 243), suggesting that TbpB can compensate for selected TbpA defects and plays an active role in the process of transferrin-iron acquisition. This study was designed to analyze the compensatory role of TbpB in transferrin-iron acquisition and to identify regions critical for its compensatory functions. Our approach involved the combination of various TbpB mutations with TbpA mutations, which resulted in TbpA that required TbpB for transferrin utilization. The results presented here suggest that combined mutagenesis does not significantly impact the structure or surface localization of the transferrin binding proteins. This study is in agreement with other studies in which gonococcal TbpA and TbpB were subjected to substitution (160), insertion (57, 243), deletion (22), and combined mutagenesis (57) and shows that the transferrin binding proteins are resilient to many types of mutagenesis.

All TbpA and TbpB combined mutations caused a significant decrease in transferrin-iron internalization by gonococcal mutant strains. Despite the decreased iron internalization, most combined mutants maintained the ability to utilize transferrin as a sole source of iron. Although unexpected, these data suggest that wild-type gonococci acquire iron from transferrin at levels that exceed their need for growth under laboratory conditions, and mutants capable of acquiring iron at 12% of wild-type strains are still capable of growth in vitro. Analysis and quantitation of specific iron uptake by each mutant revealed subtle differences in phenotypes and compensatory functions attributable to TbpB. Full compensation of TbpA-transferrin utilization required the function of both high-affinity transferrin binding domains of TbpB. However, iron uptake data revealed different domains of TbpB that compensate for specific defects in TbpA. Specifically, the TbpB C-terminal double cysteines play a role in compensation for TbpA L9HA defects (MCV262 – EYE/CC), while they have no role in compensating for TbpA L9HA defects (MCV266 – L9/CC). Although MCV527 (L2HA) and MCV519 (L11HA) were not tested in these combined mutagenesis studies, we would hypothesize that they would be phenotypically similar to MCV515 (L9HA) in regard to TbpB compensation.

These findings support the hypothesis that the TbpA and TbpB interaction is complex and multiple domains of these proteins cooperate in transferrin-iron acquisition. Although the specific interaction between TbpA and TbpB is difficult to address in these studies, these proteins have been shown to interact in various other studies (63, 64, 97, 210). The major function provided by TbpB that is critical for TbpA compensation is the ability of the N-terminal and C-terminal domains to cooperate in high-affinity transferrin binding. If the N-terminal high-affinity binding domain is not functional as observed in MCV264 (EYE/HA5) and MCV830 (L9/HA5) (57), TbpB cannot compensate for TbpA. The same is true if C-terminal transferrin binding is disrupted (MCV833 – L9/HA8) (57). From these studies, another region of TbpB identified as important for compensation of

TbpA-defective mutants is the two highly conserved C-terminal cysteine residues. These double cysteines are conserved within TbpB among many bacterial pathogens (57), suggesting their importance in transferrin-mediated iron acquisition. It has been shown that cysteines in close proximity can coordinate metal ions (105) and even solubilize insoluble metal complexes in solution (118). In wild-type TbpB, it is possible that the double cysteines function in iron coordination or even in solubilizing iron, which may contribute to the compensatory function observed with MCV260 (EYE₁₂₀AAA). Therefore, these double cysteines in TbpB may also contribute to the increased efficiency provided by TbpB in the wild-type transferrin-iron acquisition system. Furthermore, if the TbpA plug domain mutation (EYE₁₂₀AAA) prevents iron coordination and therefore iron removal and internalization, the double cysteines of TbpB may compensate for either of these functions. Although the specific function that the TbpB double cysteines play in the compensation of TbpA defects has not been determined, it is clear that they do contribute to the efficiency of transferrin-iron acquisition as well as TbpB compensatory function.

Overall these studies provide insight into the cooperation of TbpA and TbpB in the mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition. However, future studies are necessary to determine the specific mechanism by which TbpB compensates for TbpA. This study has identified regions in TbpB important in the efficient functioning of the wild-type receptor, but also in TbpA compensation in defective receptors. Understanding the mechanism of transferrin utilization and the critical components of the transferrin binding proteins could provide greater insight into development of novel antimicrobials as well as identification of new vaccine targets.

IV. Acknowledgements

Funding of this work was provided by Public Health Service grant ROI AI047141 from the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health. I was supported by the Training in Molecular Pathogenesis grant (T32 AI07617) from the National Institutes of Health while carrying out this work. I would like to acknowledge and thank Amanda DeRocco for assistance in generation of combined TbpA and TbpB gonococcal mutants and initial characterization of strains MCV845 and MCV846.

CHAPTER 5 – ANALYSIS OF A TONB-INDEPENDENT MECHANISM OF TRANSFERRIN-IRON UTILIZATION BY NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE

I. Introduction

The transferrin binding proteins (TbpA and TbpB) of Neisseria gonorrhoeae promote the efficient acquisition of iron from human transferrin. Characterization of various site-directed and insertion mutations in these receptors have aided the understanding of the mechanisms of transferrin-iron acquisition (22, 57, 126, 160, 243). TbpA mutants that require TbpB for transferrin utilization have been discussed in the previous chapters. These phenotypes highlight the importance of TbpB in the process of transferrin-iron acquisition. Additionally, there are a number of TbpA mutants that are unable to utilize transferrin even in the presence of TbpB (243). A subset of these mutants regain the ability to utilize transferrin after 72 hours of incubation with human transferrin provided as the sole iron source. The two mutants that exhibited this phenotype contained HA epitope insertions within β -strand 16 (MCV523 – β 16HA, TbpB+) and loop 3 (MCV511 – L3HA, TbpB+) of TbpA (242, 243). Both MCV511 (L3HA) and MCV523 (β 16HA) expressed wild-type levels of TbpA (243). MCV511 (L3HA) but not MCV523 (β 16HA) expressed the HA epitope on the gonococcal cell surface, indicating that loop 3 was surface exposed, while β -strand 16 was not (243).

TbpA of MCV511 (L3HA) was unable to bind human transferrin, while MCV523 (β 16HA) bound transferrin with wild-type affinity and capacity (243). Both of these mutants were unable to utilize transferrin in either FA19 (TbpB+) (MCV511 and MCV523) or FA6905 (TbpB–) (MCV512 and MCV524) backgrounds (243). However, upon 72 hours of incubation, both of these mutants in the FA19 background regained the ability to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source. This reversion was specific to MCV511 (L3HA) and MCV523 (β 16HA) as it did not occur in other mutants that were unable to utilize transferrin. Furthermore, this phenotype was not transient, but allowed for continued use of transferrin as the sole iron source over multiple generations.

The objective of this study was to determine the mechanism by which these mutants reverted to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype. It is important to consider this reversion mechanism in looking at TbpA and TbpB as vaccine candidates. It has been shown that TbpA and TbpB are expressed by all clinical isolates of *N. gonorrhoeae* (138), which implicates their importance in virulence. In addition, the gonococcal transferrin-iron acquisition system is required to initiate infection in human challenge experiments (49). Thus far, the components of the transferrin utilization system, TbpA and TbpB, of *N. gonorrhoeae* have been identified as possible vaccine candidates. However, if *Neisseria* have the ability to utilize transferrin through an alternative mechanism this has negative implications for the vaccine potential of TbpA and TbpB.

II. Results

A. MCV511 and MCV523 revert to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype at a high frequency and only in the presence of TbpB

The frequency of spontaneous base pair changes that result in a reversion event is approximately 10^{-7} to 10^{-8} (174). Quantifying the frequency with which MCV511 (L3HA) and MCV523 (β 16HA) reverted to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype was complicated by the fact that colonies continued to arise with increasing incubation time. However, the rate of reversion for these strains, which was calculated to be around 10^{-5} , was considerably higher than the rate of spontaneous reversion. These isolates were designated "pseudo-revertants" because the frequency with which they occur was higher than that expected from a typical mutational reversion. However, the rate with which MCV523 (β 16HA) reverted to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype was slower than that of MCV511 (L3HA), suggesting that these events occur through different mechanisms. Interestingly, pseudo-reversion to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype only occurred in the FA19 (TbpB+) background, as MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB-) and MCV524 (β 16HA, TbpB–) were never able to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source. Based on these findings, we conclude that reversion does not occur through spontaneous base pair changes and occurs in a TbpB-dependent manner. Since MCV511 (L3HA) and MCV523 (β 16HA) likely revert via different mechanisms, the mechanism by which MCV511 (L3HA) reverted to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype was investigated as described below.

B. Pseudo-revertants retain HA-encoding epitope in *tbpA*

To ensure that MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype did not occur through the loss of the HA-encoding epitope, PCR amplification of *tbpA* was carried out on a number of individually isolated pseudorevertants (Figure 25). FA19 served as the negative control for it contains no HAencoding epitope insertion. However, MCV511 (L3HA) and the various pseudorevertants clearly retained the HA-encoding epitope as indicated by the increased DNA fragment size. Sequence analysis of *tbpA* from two individually isolated pseudorevertants was also performed. Both PCR amplification and sequence analysis confirmed the presence of the HA-encoding epitope in these pseudo-revertant isolates. Therefore, the MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype is not due to the loss of the HA-insertion and may occur through some other change.

C. Pseudo-revertants have no sequence changes within the tbp locus

Although the frequency of reversion was much higher than that expected for a spontaneous base pair change, sequence analysis of *tbpA* and *tbpB* was performed with MCV511 (L3HA) to determine if a sequence change caused the reversion to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype. Sequencing of the *tbpA* and *tbpB* coding regions was performed using a number of *tbpA*- and *tbpB*-specific primers listed in Table 4. Sequencing of two pseudo-revertants revealed no intragenic (*tbpA*) or intergenic (*tbpB*) sequence changes. Therefore, MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype does not involve spontaneous sequence changes in the coding regions of either *tbpA* or *tbpB*.

Figure 25. HA-encoding epitope is present in *tbpA* **of pseudo-revertants.** *tbpA* was PCR amplified using *tbpA* specific oligonucleotides for detection of HA-encoding epitopes. The shift in size indicates the presence of the HA-encoding epitope in *tbpA*. Controls include MCV511 (positive control, L3HA) and FA19 (negative control).



D. Pseudo-revertants express wild-type levels of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB

To determine if MCV511 (L3HA) reverted to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype through changes in protein expression levels, Western blot analyses were carried out. To assess changes in the transferrin-iron uptake system, antibodies were used for the detection of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB (Figure 26). FA19 and MCV511 (L3HA) were used as positive controls for wild-type expression levels of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB proteins. A number of MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-revertants were analyzed by Western blot and all expressed wild-type levels of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB proteins. Therefore, MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion does not occur through sequence changes or any changes in the expression of TonB or the transferrin binding proteins. In addition, these data suggest that regulatory events that control protein expression of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB are not involved in the mechanism of MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion.

E. Pseudo-revertant growth is TbpA-dependent and TonB-independent

Since MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion occurred in a TbpB-dependent manner, we sought to determine if this mechanism was also dependent on TbpA and TonB. Therefore, TbpA and TonB mutants were constructed in a L3HA pseudo-revertant strain, MCV267. The TbpA knockout strain, MCV280, was generated through insertion of a mini transposon, encoding chloramphenicol resistance, into *tbpA* (*tbpA*::mTn3cat) (Table 2 and 3). Similarly, the TonB knockout strain, MCV281, was generated through the insertion of an omega cassette, encoding streptomycin resistance, into *tonB* (*tonB*:: Ω) (Table 2 and 3). To assess if either TbpA or TonB were required for reversion to a Figure 26. Pseudo-revertants express wild-type levels of TbpA, TbpB, and TonB by Western blot. Iron-stressed gonococci were lysed and standardized to a constant cell density. Whole-cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were probed with anti-TbpA (α -TbpA) polyclonal antibodies (top panel), anti-TbpB (α -TbpB) polyclonal antibodies (middle panel), or anti-TonB (α -TonB) polyclonal antibodies (bottom panel). Each lane is labeled according to the strain name. Controls include FA19 (positive control, TbpA+ TbpB+) and MCV511 (positive control, L3HA, TbpB+).



transferrin-positive growth phenotype, MCV280 (TbpA–) and MCV281 (TonB–) were tested in transferrin-iron utilization growth assays and the phenotypes are listed in Table 10. This assay measures the ability of gonococcal strains to grow on CDM supplemented with 30% saturated human transferrin as the sole iron source. The ability to grow indicates an ability to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source and for this analysis measures whether pseudo-revertant growth was dependent on TbpA or TonB. Since MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion was dependent on TbpB, it was not surprising that pseudo-revertant growth was also dependent on TbpA. However, it was surprising that pseudo-revertant growth was TonB-independent (Table 10). These data suggest that MCV511 (L3HA) reverts to a transferrin-positive growth phenotype via a TbpB- and TbpA-dependent mechanism that bypasses the need for TonB-derived energy. This represents the first account of a novel TonB-independent mechanism of transferrinmediated iron acquisition and suggests that *N. gonorrhoeae* has the ability to bypass TonB-dependent transferrin utilization.

F. Pseudo-revertants may release a soluble factor involved in transferrin utilization

It has been previously shown that MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) has the ability to promote the growth of MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) (Yost-Daljev, unpublished data) (Figure 27). MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) was incapable of growth on CDM supplemented with 30% iron-saturated human transferrin as the sole source of iron (CDM-Tf) and was unable to revert, presumably due to the lack of TbpB. However, when MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) was plated on CDM-Tf in close proximity to MCV267

(L3HA pseudo-revertant), as shown in Figure 27, numerous colonies arose within 24 hours. The ability of MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) to utilize transferrin increased over time and colonies that arose were not pseudo-revertants in that the phenotype was not maintained following passage. Consequently, when MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) colonies were patched to CDM-Tf in the absence of MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant), MCV512 was no longer able to grow, indicating that this strain did not retain the ability to utilize transferrin as a sole iron source. Therefore, the ability of MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) to utilize human transferrin was a transient phenotype, dependent upon the presence of MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) for growth. From these data, we conclude that MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) may secrete a soluble factor that allows MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) to transiently utilize human transferrin as a sole iron source.

G. Pseudo-revertant growth is PilQ- and T4SS-independent

Since the previous results suggest that MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) utilizes transferrin through a TonB-independent mechanism and may secrete a soluble iron chelating factor, we sought to determine the mechanism by which these events may occur. The mechanism of TbpA-dependent, TonB-independent transferrin utilization suggests that transferrin-derived iron is not transported through TbpA because TonB-derived energy would be required. Therefore, TbpA and TbpB are likely required for only transferrin binding, while another unidentified component participates in TonB-independent iron internalization. PilQ, the pore for pilus extrusion, or the type IV secretion system may be involved in this mechanism of TonB-independent transferrin-iron acquisition. It was previously shown in *N. gonorrhoeae* that PilQ served as a pore

Figure 27. Pseudo-revertants promote growth of MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–) in transferrin-iron utilization growth assays. Gonococcal strains were patched on CDM agarose plates containing 30% iron-saturated human transferrin as a sole iron source. Strains are labeled according to the strain name. The thick black line indicates the boundary that separates MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) and MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB–). The bottom and top panels are representative of the results observed using different isolates of the L3HA pseudo-revertant, MCV267.


through which heme could be internalized (37); therefore, it is possible that PilQ may allow for transferrin-mediated iron uptake as well. In addition, the type IV secretion system (T4SS) of many pathogens has been shown to be important for the secretion of protein effectors and various other factors. Therefore, the neisserial T4SS may be involved in secretion of an iron chelating molecule or iron binding protein to allow for TonB-independent transferrin utilization. PilQ and various T4SS mutants were generated in wild-type FA19, MCV511 (L3HA), and MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) to assess if either the reversion event or pseudo-revertant growth were dependent on these systems for transferrin utilization (Table 10). In transferrin-iron utilization growth assays, MCV511 (L3HA) pseudo-reversion and MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) transferrin utilization were not dependent on either PilQ or the T4SS components. Therefore the mechanism of TbpA- and TbpB-dependent, TonB-independent transferrin-iron acquisition does not require the PilQ pore for iron internalization or the T4SS for release or uptake of possible soluble iron-chelating factors.

III. Discussion

N. gonorrhoeae does not produce any known siderophores and therefore utilizes high-affinity, TonB-dependent iron acquisition systems to acquire iron from host ironbinding proteins. The gonococcal transferrin-iron acquisition system is important for in vivo iron acquisition and has been linked to virulence, as it is required to initiate infection in the human host (49). This study represents the first account of a means by which *N. gonorrhoeae* bypasses TonB-dependent transferrin-iron acquisition. Interestingly, this

Strain	Phenotype	Growth phenotype
	Controls	
FA19	Thn Δ + ThnB+	+
FA6905	ThpA+ ThpB- $(\Lambda thpB)$	+
FA6815	ThpA- ThpB- $(thpB^{}Q)$	
1110010		
	FA19 derived strains	
MCV269	TbpA+, TbpB+, TonB– (<i>tonB</i> ::Ω)	_
MCV270	TbpA+, TbpB+, PilQ- (<i>pilQ</i> ::Ω)	+
MCV271	TbpA+, TbpB+, DsbC– (<i>dsbC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV272	TbpA+, TbpB+, TraC– (<i>traC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV273	TbpA+, TbpB+, TraH– (<i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV274	TbpA+, TbpB+, TraN– (<i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV904	TbpA+, TbpB+, FbpA- (<i>fbpA</i> :: <i>ermClacIP</i>) -RBS	_
MCV906	TbpA+, TbpB+, FbpA- (<i>fbpA</i> :: <i>ermClacIP</i>)	+
	MCV511 (L3HA) derived strains	
MCV511	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+	_
MCV512	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB– ($\Delta tbpB$)	—
MCV275	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, PilQ– ($pilQ$:: Ω)	+
MCV276	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, DsbC– ($dsbC$:: $ermC$)	+
MCV277	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraC- (<i>traC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV278	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraH– (<i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV279	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraN– (<i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
	MCV267 (L3HA revertant) derived strains	
MCV267	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+ revertant	+
A CONTRACTOR		
MCV280	L3HA ₃₄₃ , 10pB+, 10pA–($tbpA$::m1n3cat)	_
MCV280 MCV281	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TopB+, TopA-($topA$::m1n3cat) TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TonB-($tonB$:: Ω)	+
MCV280 MCV281 MCV282	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TbpA–($tbpA$::m1n3cat) TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TonB–($tonB$:: Ω) TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, PilQ–($pilQ$:: Ω)	+ +
MCV280 MCV281 MCV282 MCV283	L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TbpA-(<i>tbpA</i> ::m1n3cat) TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TonB-(<i>tonB</i> :: Ω) TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, PilQ-(<i>pilQ</i> :: Ω) TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, DsbC-(<i>dsbC</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+ + +

Table 10. Growth phenotypes of MCV511 (L3HA) and MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-
revertant) derived mutants in transferrin-iron utilization assays

MCV285	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraH– (<i>traH</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV286	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, TraN- (<i>traN</i> :: <i>ermC</i>)	+
MCV287	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, FbpA– (<i>fbpA::ermClacIP</i>)	_
	-RBS	
MCV288	TbpA L3HA ₃₄₃ , TbpB+, FbpA– (<i>fbpA::ermClacIP</i>)	+

TonB-independent mechanism of transferrin-iron utilization requires TbpA and TbpB. The wild-type transferrin-iron acquisition system functions in two major steps: transferrin binding and iron internalization. TonB provides the energy for iron internalization but is not necessary for transferrin binding. Therefore, in MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant), TbpA and TbpB are likely only required for transferrin binding and are unlikely to play a role in iron uptake, for this process requires TonB-derived energy. However, HA epitope insertion into loop 3 of TbpA prevented transferrin binding (243). Therefore, it is likely that TbpA expressed by MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertant) is also unable to bind human transferrin. Thus, these data suggest that TbpA and TbpB form a complex that is required for transferrin utilization in a TonB-independent mechanism. As addressed in previous chapters, wild-type TbpA and TbpB association have been demonstrated (63, 64, 97, 210), but the extent of this complex interaction has not been characterized. It appears that even this TonB-independent mechanism requires the formation or association of the TbpA and TbpB complex.

Although most mechanisms of iron acquisition are dependent on TonB, there have been various TonB-independent mechanisms described. *N. gonorrhoeae* has been shown to bypass TonB-dependent, HpuAB-mediated heme acquisition from hemoglobin through a TonB-independent, PilQ-dependent mechanism (37). In addition, *N. gonorrhoeae* can utilize heme in a TonB-independent process (209). Furthermore, many mechanisms of xenosiderophore utilization have been shown to occur in a TonB-independent manner (74, 211). The TonB-independent mechanism of xenosiderophore utilization depended on gonococcal ferric binding protein A (FbpA) (211). FbpA has been characterized as a

periplasmic high-affinity iron binding protein, but has also been identified in gonococcal culture supernatants (211), which suggests that it may play a role in iron binding at the gonococcal cell surface. Thus, TonB-independent transferrin-iron utilization observed by MCV267 (L3HA pseudo-revertants) may involve an FbpA-dependent mechanism of acquiring iron from human transferrin. Furthermore, although the type IV secretion system (T4SS) does not appear to be involved, it is possible that TbpB may be released from the gonococcal cell surface and promote growth of MCV512 (L3HA, TbpB-) or TbpB itself may promote iron release from transferrin. In vitro, TbpB has been shown to promote the transfer of iron from human transferrin to FbpA, which suggests that TbpB has the ability to remove iron from transferrin, thus making it accessible (Crumbliss unpublished data). Additionally, iron removal from transferrin may occur independent of TbpB through an unidentified extracellular reductase. Although the specific mechanism by which FbpA or TbpB may promote transferrin-utilization has not been determined, it is of great importance to understand this bypass mechanism in the context of pathogenic mechanisms of iron acquisition.

IV. Acknowledgements

Funding of this work was provided by Public Health Service grant ROI AI047141 from the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health. I was supported by the Training in Molecular Pathogenesis grant (T32 AI07617) from the National Institutes of Health while carrying out this work. I would like to acknowledge Rob Nicholas at the University of North Carolina for kindly providing pUNCH290. Additionally, I would like to thank Holly Hamilton and Joe Dillard at the University of Wisconsin-Madison for kindly providing pHH17, pKS83, pJD1175, and pKS72 plasmids. Finally, I would also like thank Mary Kate Yost-Daljev and Cynthia Nau Cornelissen for preliminary work and assistance with pseudo-revertant isolation and characterization.

CHAPTER 6 – SUMMARY & PERSPECTIVES

The precise mechanism by which *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* acquires iron from human transferrin has not been elucidated, but these studies have provided greater insight into this process. It has been shown that transferrin-iron acquisition system is composed of two transferrin binding proteins, TbpA and TbpB. It has also been shown that the TonB-dependent, outer-membrane iron transporter, TbpA, is required for transferrin utilization, while the lipoprotein TbpB is not (4). Furthermore, it has been shown that TbpB makes the process of iron acquisition from human transferrin more efficient (4). TbpB is known to function in transferrin binding and discrimination (20, 50, 183, 184), but these roles are not solely responsible for increasing the efficiency of iron uptake through TbpA (57). The specific mechanism by which TbpA mediates iron internalization and the involvement of TbpB in this process has not yet been determined. The studies presented here were designed to address many of these questions and have aided in the understanding of this complex mechanism of transferrin-iron utilization by *N. gonorrhoeae*.

Models of TonB-dependent, transferrin-iron acquisition system have been proposed and resemble TonB-dependent siderophore transporters (28, 40, 42, 43, 119, 244). However, TonB-dependent transferrin-iron acquisition differs from that of characterized siderophore-iron acquisition for two reasons. Firstly, the siderophore

systems transport ferric-siderophore complexes, whereas the transferrin system transports only iron. Therefore the transferrin-iron acquisition system requires multiple steps in the process of iron internalization: (1) transferrin binding; (2) iron removal from transferrin; (3) iron transport across the outer membrane; and (4) apo-transferrin release. Therefore one objective of the studies presented here was to elucidate the mechanism by which the TbpA plug facilitates iron binding and uptake. The second major difference between siderophore transporters and the transferrin-iron acquisition system is the involvement of the transferrin binding lipoprotein, TbpB. Ferric-siderophore transporters do not possess a second component for iron acquisition. The studies presented here attempt to elucidate the involvement of TbpB in the process of transferrin-iron utilization. Taken together, these studies have allowed us to further characterize TbpA and TbpB in the mechanism of transferrin-iron utilization and have identified specific regions in both proteins that are required for efficient transferrin-mediated iron uptake by Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Additionally, a novel TonB-independent mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition has been described.

Analogous to TonB-dependent transporters, TbpA consists of two distinct domains: a C-terminal β -barrel domain and an N-terminal, globular plug domain. Previous studies have suggested that the TbpA plug domain is critical in transferrin utilization (243); however, the specific contribution of the plug domain had not been shown up to this point. The analyses presented here confirm that the plug domain is critical for transferrin-iron acquisition and specifically functions in iron binding and uptake. Mutagenesis of specific iron-coordinating residues suggests that iron is

coordinated by the plug domain, and disruption of iron binding sites results in the inability of gonococci to internalize iron from human transferrin. Although these residues are critical for iron acquisition, we hypothesize that there are additional residues involved in this process of iron internalization. Similar to the mechanism described for TonB-dependent, BtuB-mediated vitamin B_{12} uptake (72), we hypothesize that TonB interaction with the TbpA plug domain facilitates unraveling of this domain. This partial denaturation of the globular, plug domain opens the iron binding site or sites and facilitates traversal of iron through the outer membrane. Through this process we propose that iron is coordinated at multiple sites and the sequential unraveling of the plug promotes the movement of iron from one coordination site to another until iron is passed to ferric binding protein A (FbpA) in the periplasm. This hypothesis is supported by the in vitro recombinant protein iron binding data, whereby the TbpA plug domain binds more iron than FbpA, which only has one iron coordination site, suggesting that the plug binds iron in more than one site. Furthermore, the TbpA plug structural model predicts that residues 120–122 (EYE) are positioned at the base of the plug, which supports the idea that iron is coordinated at multiple sites and unraveling of the plug domain allows for the traversal of iron through the β -barrel of TbpA.

Mutagenesis studies in siderophore transporters have shown that the N-terminal plug domain is expelled from the β -barrel during siderophore transport (121), while others have shown that it merely undergoes a rearrangement (36). If the plug domain is tethered to the β -barrel domain and therefore unable to undergo rearrangement, siderophore transport cannot occur (58). In the case of transferrin-iron acquisition, the

conformational change in the TbpA plug domain is critically important and we propose this allows for the sequential coordination of iron at multiple sites within the TbpA plug domain. In these studies we show that disruption of one potential iron coordination site within the TbpA plug domain prevents iron internalization from transferrin. This work has provided further insight into the mechanism of transferrin-iron internalization and represents the first study to demonstrate the involvement of the plug domain in iron binding. Further mutagenesis studies are necessary to identify additional iron coordination sites with the TbpA plug domain. In addition, iron binding studies will be performed with recombinant TbpA plug proteins encoding mutagenized ironcoordination sites, particularly at residues 120–122 (EYE). The controversy regarding conformational changes that occur within the plug domain needs to be addressed in the *Neisseria* transferrin-iron acquisition system. Furthermore, a crystal structure of fulllength TbpA or the TbpA plug domain would greatly assist in characterizing the mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition mediated by TbpA.

The data presented in this work show that TbpB is also important in the mechanism of iron acquisition from transferrin and new functional domains within this protein have been identified. It has been shown that TbpB specifically and independently binds human transferrin. This lipoprotein also has the ability to discriminate between apo- and holo-transferrin, with a preference for the iron-loaded form. TbpB increases the efficiency of iron acquisition, but the mechanism by which it does so has not been characterized. The studies presented here have identified a specific domain in TbpB that contributes to increasing the efficiency of transferrin-mediated iron acquisition. This C-

terminal double cysteine region may be important in destabilization and subsequent removal of iron from transferrin. It has been demonstrated that wild-type TbpB, in the absence of TbpA, can promote in vitro destabilization of human transferrin that results in iron release (Crumbliss unpublished data) and the double cysteines may play a role in this process. The ability of TbpB to preferentially bind holo-transferrin and the proposed ability to remove iron from transferrin may be the qualities that allow for increased efficiency in transferrin-mediated iron internalization. Further studies are necessary to identify the specific function of these residues and their contributions in transferrinmediated iron acquisition by the wild-type, neisserial transferrin receptor of *N*. *gonorrhoeae*.

Combined mutagenesis of the neisserial transferrin binding proteins has revealed the complexity of interactions and cooperation between TbpA and TbpB in the process of transferrin-iron internalization. From these studies, it is clear that specific domains of TbpA and TbpB provide different functions in the internalization of iron from transferrin. The ability of TbpB to compensate for TbpA-defective mutants has allowed us the opportunity to investigate the domains of TbpB that share some functional redundancy with TbpA. The TbpA and TbpB combined mutagenesis presented here has provided insight into the compensatory functions provided by TbpB, and further investigation may reveal additional functional properties of TbpB.

Many studies, including those presented here, have revolved around defining the mechanism of TonB-dependent transport in Gram-negative bacteria. As described in the introduction, bacterial pathogens depend on a large number of TonB-dependent systems

for nutrient and iron acquisition during infection. TbpA and TbpB are the characterized neisserial transferrin binding proteins and mediate TonB-dependent iron acquisition from human transferrin. The studies presented here are the first to describe a TonB-independent mechanism of transferrin-iron uptake mediated by gonococcal TbpA and TbpB. The ability of gonococci to bypass the need for TonB-derived energy in transferrin-mediated iron transport is important in the context of all mechanisms of TonB-dependent transport utilized by *N. gonorrhoeae*. Furthermore, the ability of pathogenic bacteria to bypass TonB-dependent systems of iron acquisition is significant in understanding the evolution of bacterial pathogens as they continue to compete for iron within the human host.

Overall, investigation of the mechanism of transferrin-iron acquisition mediated by TbpA and TbpB is important because it represents a novel mechanism of TonBdependent iron acquisition. Further investigation is necessary to fully characterize each step in this process of TonB-dependent transferrin-iron acquisition. Additionally, the novel mechanism of TonB-independent transferrin utilization needs to be further characterized and is currently being evaluated in regard to the contribution of FbpA in this process.

TbpA and TbpB are prospective vaccine candidates because these proteins are expressed by all gonococcal isolates (138). In addition TbpA and TbpB are not subject to phase or antigenic variation like many of the other virulence factors of *N. gonorrhoeae*. Most importantly, TbpA and TbpB are required to initiate infection in male volunteers (49). Therefore, characterization of TbpA and TbpB is important in looking at these proteins as potential vaccine candidates. It has been shown in the closely related *N*. *meningitidis*, antibodies raised against the transferrin binding proteins are cross-reactive, bactericidal, and have the ability to block transferrin binding (53, 187, 233). Furthermore, it was recently shown that antibodies raised against recombinant gonococcal transferrin binding proteins are also cross-reactive and bactericidal (176, 177). Taken together these data suggest that the components of the neisserial transferriniron uptake system are promising candidates for an effective vaccine against *Neisseria* infections. Therefore identification of novel targets within TbpA and TbpB could aid in the future development of vaccines and new antimicrobials.

The plug domain of TbpA is of particular interest due to the important role it plays in transferrin-iron acquisition. This domain has been shown to be surface exposed (243) and antigenic. Additionally, it is highly conserved among bacterial pathogens, expressing the transferrin binding proteins. Thus, the plug domain of TbpA could serve as a new target for antimicrobial or vaccine development, and due to the high conservation of the plug domain, treatments may be cross protective for a number of bacterial pathogens. **Literature Cited**

Literature Cited

- 1. **Aisen, P., and I. Listowsky**. 1980. Iron transport and storage proteins. Ann. Rev. Biochem. **49**:357-393.
- Alexander, N. M. 1994. Iron, p. 411-421. In H. G. Seiler, A. Sigel, H. Sigel, and M. Dekker (ed.), Handbook on metals in clinical and analytical chemistry. New York.
- 3. Anderson, B. F., H. M. Baker, G. E. Norris, D. W. Rice, and E. N. Baker. 1989. Structure of human lactoferrin: Crystallographic structure analysis and refinement at 2.8 Å resolution. J. Mol. Biol. **209**:711-734.
- 4. **Anderson, J. E., P. F. Sparling, and C. N. Cornelissen**. 1994. Gonococcal transferrin-binding protein 2 facilitates but is not essential for transferrin utilization. J. Bacteriol. **176**:3162-3170.
- 5. **Archibald, F**. 1983. *Lactobacillus plantarum*, an organism not requiring iron. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. **19**:29-32.
- 6. Archibald, F. S., and I. W. DeVoe. 1980. Iron acquisition by *Neisseria meningitidis* in vitro. Infect. Immun. 27:322-334.
- 7. Armstrong, S. K., and M. A. McIntosh. 1995. Epitope insertions define functional and topological features of the *Escherichia coli* ferric enterobactin receptor. J. Biol. Chem. **270**:2483-2488.
- 8. **Barlow, D., and I. Phillips**. 1978. Gonorrhoea in women. Diagnostic, clinical, and laboratory aspects. Lancet **1**:761-764.
- Berling, B., F. Kolbinger, F. Grunert, J. A. Thompson, F. Brombacher, F. Buchegger, S. von Kleist, and W. Zimmermann. 1990. Cloning of a carcinoembryonic antigen gene family member expressed in leukocytes of chronic myeloid leukemia patients and bone marrow. Cancer Res. 50:6534-6539.
- 10. **Bertani, G**. 2004. Lysogeny at mid-twentieth century: P1, P2, and other experimental systems. J. Bacteriol. **186**:595-600.
- 11. **Bertani, G**. 1951. Studies on lysogenesis I: The mode of phage liberation by lysogenic *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **62**:293-300.

- 12. **Beucher, M., and P. F. Sparling**. 1995. Cloning, sequencing, and characterization of the gene encoding FrpB, a major iron-regulated, outer membrane protein of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Bacteriol. **177**:2041-2049.
- Bhat, K. S., C. P. Gibbs, O. Barrera, S. G. Morrison, F. Jahnig, A. Stern, E. M. Kupsch, T. F. Meyer, and J. Swanson. 1991. The opacity proteins of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strain MS11 are encoded by a family of 11 complete genes. Mol. Microbiol. 5:1889-1901.
- 14. **Biswas, G. D., J. E. Anderson, C. J. Chen, C. N. Cornelissen, and P. F. Sparling**. 1999. Identification and functional characterization of the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae lbpB* gene product. J. Bacteriol. **67**:455-459.
- 15. **Biswas, G. D., and P. F. Sparling**. 1995. Characterization of *lbpA*, the structural gene for a lactoferrin receptor in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. **63**:2958-2967.
- 16. Bjerknes, R., H. K. Guttormsen, C. O. Solberg, and L. M. Wetzler. 1995. Neisserial porins inhibit human neutrophil actin polymerization, degranulation, opsonin receptor expression, and phagocytosis but prime the neutrophils to increase their oxidative burst. Infect. Immun. 63:160-167.
- Black, W. J., R. S. Schwalbe, I. Nachamkin, and J. G. Cannon. 1984. Characterization of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* protein II phase variation by use of monoclonal antibodies. Infect. Immun. 45:453-457.
- Blanton, K. J., G. D. Biswas, J. Tsai, J. Adams, D. W. Dyer, S. M. Davis, G. G. Koch, P. K. Sen, and P. F. Sparling. 1990. Genetic evidence that *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* produces specific receptors for transferrin and lactoferrin. J. Bacteriol. 172:5225-5235.
- 19. **Bos, M. P., F. Grunert, and R. J. Belland**. 1997. Differential recognition of members of the carcinoembryonic antigen family by Opa variants of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. **65**:2353-2361.
- Boulton, I. C., A. R. Gorringe, N. Allison, A. Robinson, B. Gorinsky, C. L. Joannou, and R. W. Evans. 1998. Transferrin-binding protein B isolated from *Neisseria meningitidis* discriminates between apo and diferric human transferrin. Biochem. J. 334:269-273.
- Boulton, I. C., and S. D. Gray-Owen. 2002. Neisserial binding to CEACAM1 arrests the activation and proliferation of CD4+ T lymphocytes. Nat. Immunol. 3:229-236.

- Boulton, I. C., M. K. Yost, J. E. Anderson, and C. N. Cornelissen. 2000. Identification of discrete domains within gonococcal transferrin-binding protein A that are necessary for ligand binding and iron uptake functions. Infect. Immun. 68:6988-6996.
- Bracken, C. S., M. T. Baer, A. Abdur-Rashid, W. Helms, and I. Stojiljkovic. 1999. Use of heme-protein complexes by the *Yersinia enterocolitica* HemR receptor: Histidine residues are essential for receptor function. J. Bacteriol. 181:6063-6072.
- 24. **Braun, V., H. Killmann, and R. Benz**. 1994. Energy-coupled transport through the outer membrane of *Escherichia coli* small deletions in the gating loop convert the FhuA transport protein into a diffusion channel. FEBS Lett. **346**:59-64.
- 25. **Briat, J. F.** 1992. Iron assimilation and storage in prokaryotes. J. Gen. Microbiol. **138**:2475-2483.
- 26. **Brock, J.** 1995. Lactoferrin: a multifunctional immunoregulatory protein? Immunol. Today **16**:417-419.
- 27. Brock, J. H. 2002. The physiology of lactoferrin. Biochem. Cell. Biol. 80:1-6.
- 28. Buchanan, S. K., B. S. Smith, L. Venkatramani, D. Xia, L. Esser, M. Palnitkar, R. Chakraborty, D. van der Helm, and J. Deisenhofer. 1999. Crystal structure of the outer membrane active transporter FepA from *Escherichia coli*. Nature Struct. Biol. 6:56-63.
- 29. Bullen, J. J., H. J. Rogers, and E. Griffiths. 1978. Role of iron in bacterial infection. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 80:1-35.
- 30. **Carrondo, M. A.** 2003. Ferritins, iron uptake and storage from the bacterioferritin viewpoint. EMBO J. **22**:1959-1968.
- Carson, S. D., P. E. Klebba, S. M. Newton, and P. F. Sparling. 1999. Ferric enterobactin binding and utilization by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Bacteriol. 181:2895-2901.
- 32. **CDC.** 1998. Identification of *Neisseria* and related species. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- CDC. 2007. Sexually transmitted disease surveillance 2006 supplement, gonococcal isolate surveillance project (GISP) annual report 2006. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

- CDC. 2007. Update to CDC's sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines, 2006: Fluoroquinolones no longer recommended for treatment of gonococcal infections. MMWR 56:625-636.
- 35. Chakraborty, R., E. A. Lemke, Z. Cao, P. E. Klebba, and D. van der Helm. 2003. Identification and mutational studies of conserved amino acids in the outer membrane receptor protein, FepA, which affect transport but not binding of ferric-enterobactin in *Escherichia coli*. Biometals 16:507-518.
- 36. **Chakraborty, R., E. Storey, and D. van der Helm**. 2007. Molecular mechanism of ferricsiderophore passage through the outer membrane receptor proteins of *Escherichia coli*. Biometals **20**:263-274.
- 37. Chen, C. J., D. M. Tobiason, C. E. Thomas, W. M. Shafer, H. S. Seifert, and P. F. Sparling. 2004. A mutant form of the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* pilus secretin protein PilQ allows increased entry of heme and antimicrobial compounds. J. Bacteriol. 186:730-739.
- 38. Chen, C. J., P. F. Sparling, L. A. Lewis, D. W. Dyer, and C. Elkins. 1996. Identification and purification of a hemoglobin-binding outer membrane protein from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. **64**:5008-5014.
- Chen, T., R. J. Belland, J. Wilson, and J. Swanson. 1995. Adherence of pilus-Opa+ gonococci to epithelial cells in vitro involves heparan sulfate. J. Exp. Med. 182:511-517.
- Chimento, D. P., A. K. Mohanty, R. J. Kadner, and M. C. Wiener. 2003. Crystallization and initial X-ray diffraction of BtuB, the integral membrane cobalamin transporter of *Escherichia coli*. Acta. Crystallogr. D. Biol. Crystallogr. 59:509-511.
- Claus, H., M. C. J. Maiden, D. J. Wilson, N. D. McCarthy, K. A. Jolley, R. Urwin, F. Hessler, M. Frosch, and U. Vogel. 2005. Genetic analysis of meningococci carried by children and young adults. J. Infect. Dis. 191:1263-1271.
- 42. Cobessi, D., H. Celia, N. Folschweiller, I. J. Schalk, M. A. Abdallah, and F. Pattus. 2005. The crystal structure of the pyoverdine outer membrane receptor FpvA from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* at 3.6 A resolution. J. Mol. Biol. **347**:121-134.
- Cobessi, D., H. Celia, and F. Pattus. 2005. Crystal structure at high resolution of ferric-pyochelin and its membrane receptor FptA from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Mol. Biol. 352:893-904.

- 44. Cohen, M. S., I. F. Hoffman, R. A. Royce, P. Kazembe, J. R. Dyer, C. C. Daly, D. Zimba, P. L. Vernazza, M. Maida, S. A. Fiscus, and J. J. Eron, Jr. 1997. Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1. AIDSCAP Malawi Research Group. Lancet 349:1868-1873.
- Cornelissen, C. N., J. E. Anderson, I. C. Boulton, and P. F. Sparling. 2000. Antigenic and sequence diversity in gonococcal transferrin-binding protein A. Infect. Immun. 68:4725-4735.
- Cornelissen, C. N., J. E. Anderson, and P. F. Sparling. 1997. Energydependent changes in the gonococcal transferrin receptor. Mol. Microbiol. 26:25-35.
- 47. **Cornelissen, C. N., G. D. Biswas, and P. F. Sparling**. 1993. Expression of gonococcal transferrin-binding protein 1 causes *Escherichia coli* to bind human transferrin. J. Bacteriol. **175**:2448-2450.
- Cornelissen, C. N., G. D. Biswas, J. Tsai, D. K. Paruchuri, S. A. Thompson, and P. F. Sparling. 1992. Gonococcal transferrin-binding protein 1 is required for transferrin utilization and is homologous to TonB-dependent outer membrane receptors. J. Bacteriol. 174:5788-5797.
- Cornelissen, C. N., M. Kelley, M. M. Hobbs, J. E. Anderson, J. G. Cannon, M. S. Cohen, and P. F. Sparling. 1998. The transferrin receptor expressed by gonococcal strain FA1090 is required for the experimental infection of human male volunteers. Mol. Microbiol. 27:611-616.
- 50. **Cornelissen, C. N., and P. F. Sparling**. 1996. Binding and surface exposure characteristics of the gonococcal transferrin receptor are dependent on both transferrin-binding proteins. J. Bacteriol. **178**:1437-1444.
- 51. **Cowart, R. E.** 2002. Reduction of iron by extracellular iron reductases: implications for microbial iron acquisition. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **400**:273-281.
- Danaher, R. J., J. C. Levin, D. Arking, C. L. Burch, R. Sandlin, and D. C. Stein. 1995. Genetic basis of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* lipooligosaccharide antigenic variation. J. Bacteriol. 177:7275-7279.
- 53. Danve, B., L. Lissolo, M. Mignon, P. Dumas, S. Colombani, A. B. Schryvers, and M. J. Quentin-Millet. 1993. Transferrin-binding proteins isolated from *Neisseria meningitidis* elicit protective and bactericidal antibodies in laboratory animals. Vaccine 11:1214-1220.

- de Vries, F. P., A. van Der Ende, J. P. van Putten, and J. Dankert. 1996.
 Invasion of primary nasopharyngeal epithelial cells by *Neisseria meningitidis* is controlled by phase variation of multiple surface antigens. Infect. Immun. 64:2998-3006.
- 55. **Debarbieux, L., and C. Wandersman**. 2004. Hemophore-dependent heme acquisition systems, p. 38-65. In J. H. Crosa, A. R. Mey, and S. M. Payne (ed.), Iron transport in bacteria. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- 56. **DeRocco, A. J.** 2007. Molecular analysis of transferrin binding protein B in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Ph.D. dissertation. Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond.
- DeRocco, A. J., and C. N. Cornelissen. 2007. Identification of transferrinbinding domains in TbpB expressed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. 75:3220-3232.
- 58. **Eisenhauer, H. A., S. Shames, P. D. Pawelek, and J. W. Coulton**. 2005. Siderophore transport through *Escherichia coli* outer membrane receptor FhuA with disulfide-tethered cork and barrel domains. J. Biol. Chem. **280**:30574-30580.
- Elkins, C., N. H. Carbonetti, V. A. Varela, D. Stirewalt, D. G. Klapper, and P. F. Sparling. 1992. Antibodies to N-terminal peptides of gonococcal porin are bactericidal when gonococcal lipopolysaccharide is not sialylated. Mol. Microbiol. 6:2617-2628.
- 60. Elkins, C., C. E. Thomas, H. S. Seifert, and P. F. Sparling. 1991. Speciesspecific uptake of DNA by gonococci is mediated by a 10-base-pair sequence. J. Bacteriol. **173**:3911-3913.
- 61. Ferguson, A. D., R. Chakraborty, B. S. Smith, L. Esser, D. van der Helm, and J. Deisenhofer. 2002. Structural basis of gating by the outer membrane transporter FecA. Science **295**:1715-1719.
- 62. Ferguson, A. D., E. Hofmann, J. W. Coulton, K. Diederichs, and W. Welte. 1998. Siderophore-mediated iron transport: crystal structure of FhuA with bound lipopolysaccharide. Science 282:2215-2220.
- 63. **Fuller, C. A., R. Yu, S. W. Irwin, and A. B. Schryvers**. 1998. Biochemical evidence for a conserved interaction between bacterial transferrin binding protein A and transferrin binding protein B. Microb. Pathog. **24**:75-87.
- 64. **Gomez, J. A., M. T. Criado, and C. M. Ferreiros**. 1998. Cooperation between the components of the meningococcal transferrin receptor, TbpA and TbpB, in the

uptake of transferrin iron by the 37-kDa ferric-binding protein (FbpA). Res. Microbiol. **149**:381-387.

- 65. **Gotschlich, E. C., M. S. Blake, E. J. Lytton, and M. Seiff**. 1987. Gonococcal protein III. Purification and chemical characterization of the protein, and the DNA sequence of the structural gene. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek **53**:455-459.
- 66. Gotschlich, E. C., M. Seiff, and M. S. Blake. 1987. The DNA sequence of the structural gene of gonococcal protein III and the flanking region containing a repetitive sequence. Homology of protein III with enterobacterial OmpA proteins. J. Exp. Med. 165:471-482.
- 67. Grassmé, H., E. Gulbins, B. Brenner, K. Ferlinz, K. Sandhoff, K. Harzer, F. Lang, and T. F. Meyer. 1997. Acidic sphingomyelinase mediates entry of *N. gonorrhoeae* into nonphagocytic cells. Cell **91**:605-615.
- 68. **Gray-Owen, S. D., C. Dehio, T. Rudel, M. Naumann, and T. F. Meyer**. 2001. *Neisseria*, p. 559-618. In E. A. Groisman (ed.), Principles of Bacterial Pathogenesis. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Gray-Owen, S. D., D. R. Lorenzen, A. Haude, T. F. Meyer, and C. Dehio. 1997. Differential Opa specificities for CD66 receptors influence tissue interactions and cellular response to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol. Microbiol. 26:971-980.
- 70. **Gray-Owen, S. D., and A. B. Schyvers**. 1996. Bacterial transferrin and lactoferrin receptors. Trends Microbiol. **4**:185-191.
- 71. **Griffiss, J. M., and M. S. Artenstein**. 1976. The ecology of the genus *Neisseria*. Mount Sinai J. Med. **43**:746-761.
- 72. **Gumbart, J., M. C. Wiener, and E. Tajkhorshid**. 2007. Mechanics of force propagation in TonB-dependent outer membrane transport. Biophsy. J. **93**:496-504.
- 73. **Hagblom, P., E. Segal, E. Billyard, and M. So.** 1985. Intragenic recombination leads to pilus antigenic variation in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Nature **315**:156-158.
- 74. **Hagen, T. A.** 2006. Mechanisms of iron acquisition employed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* for survival within cervical epithelial cells. Ph.D. dissertation. Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond.
- 75. Haines, K. A., L. Yeh, M. S. Blake, P. Cristello, H. Korchak, and G. Weissmann. 1988. Protein I, a translocatable ion channel from *Neisseria*

gonorrhoeae, selectively inhibits exocytosis from human neutrophils without inhibiting O_2 -generation. J. Biol. Chem. **263**:945-951.

- 76. Hamilton, H. L., N. M. DomÃnguez, K. J. Schwartz, K. T. Hackett, and J. P. Dillard. 2005. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* secretes chromosomal DNA via a novel type IV secretion system. Mol. Microbiol. 55:1704-1721.
- 77. **Hamilton, H. L., K. J. Schwartz, and J. P. Dillard**. 2001. Insertion-duplication mutagenesis of *Neisseria*: Use in characterization of DNA transfer genes in the gonococcal genetic island. J. Bacteriol. **183**:4718-4726.
- 78. Hanson, M. S., S. E. Pelzel, J. Latimer, U. Muller-Eberhard, and E. J. Hansen. 1992. Identification of a genetic locus of *Haemophilus influenzae* type b necessary for the binding and utilization of heme bound to human hemopexin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:1973-1977.
- 79. **Hauck, C. R., and T. F. Meyer**. 1997. The lysosomal/phagosomal membrane protein h-lamp-1 is a target of the IgA1 protease of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. FEBS Lett. **405**:86-90.
- Heckels, J. E., B. Blackett, J. S. Everson, and M. E. Ward. 1976. The influence of surface charge on the attachment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to human cells. J. Gen. Microbiol. 96:359-364.
- 81. Hitchcock, P. J. 1984. Analyses of gonococcal lipopolysaccharide in whole-cell lysates by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis: Stable association of lipopolysaccharide with the major outer membrane protein (protein I) of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. 46:202-212.
- 82. Holmes, K. K., D. A. Eschenback, and J. S. Knapp. 1980. Salpingitis: Overview of etiology and epidemiology. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. **138**:893-900.
- 83. **Holt, J. G., and N. R. Krieg**. 1984. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, vol. 1. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, MD.
- 84. **Horton, R. M.** 1995. PCR-mediated recombination and mutagenesis. SOEing together tailor-made genes. Mol. Biotechnol. **3**:93-99.
- 85. **Irwin SW, A. N., Cheng CY, Schryvers AB**. 1993. Preparation and analysis of isogenic mutants in the transferrin receptor protein genes, *tbpA* and *tbpB*, from *Neisseria meningitidis*. Mol. Microbiol. **8**:1125-1133.

- Jacobsson, S., P. Olcen, M. Lafdahl, H. Fredlund, and P. Molling. 2008. Characteristics of *Neisseria meningitidis* isolates causing fatal disease. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 8:1-11.
- James, J. F., and J. Swanson. 1978. Studies on gonococcus infection. XIII. Occurrence of color/opacity colonial variants in clinical cultures. Infect. Immun. 19:332-340.
- Jeffrey, P. D., M. C. Bewley, R. T. A. MacGillivray, A. B. Mason, R. C. Woodworth, and E. N. Baker. 1998. Ligand-induced conformational change in transferrins: Crystal structure of the open form of the N-terminal half-molecule of human transferrin. Biochemistry 37:13978-13986.
- Jerse, A. E., M. S. Cohen, P. M. Drown, L. G. Whicker, S. F. Isbey, H. S. Seifert, and J. G. Cannon. 1994. Multiple gonococcal opacity proteins are expressed during experimental urethral infection in the male. J. Exp. Med. 179:911-920.
- 90. Johnson, S. C., R. C. Chung, C. D. Deal, J. W. Boslego, J. C. Sadoff, S. W. Wood, C. C. Brinton, Jr., and E. C. Tramont. 1991. Human immunization with Pgh 3-2 gonococcal pilus results in cross-reactive antibody to the cyanogen bromide fragment-2 of pilin. J. Infect. Dis. 163:128-134.
- 91. **Judd, R. C**. 1982. ¹²⁵I-peptide mapping of protein III isolated from four strains of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. **37**:622-631.
- 92. Jurica, J. V., C. A. Bomzer, and A. C. England. 1987. Gonococcal endocarditis: a case report and review of the literature. Sex. Transm. Dis. 14:231-233.
- 93. Kallstrom, H., M. K. Liszewski, J. P. Atkinson, and A. B. Jonsson. 1997. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46) is a cellular pilus receptor for pathogenic *Neisseria*. Mol. Microbiol. 25:639-647.
- 94. Kammler, M., C. Schon, and K. Hantke. 1993. Characterization of the ferrous iron uptake system of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **175**:6212-6219.
- Kellogg, D. S., Jr., I. R. Cohen, L. C. Norins, A. L. Schroeter, and G. Reising. 1968. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. II. Colonial variation and pathogenicity during 35 months in vitro. J. Bacteriol. 96:596-605.
- Kellogg, D. S., Jr., W. L. Peacock, Jr., W. E. Deacon, L. Brown, and C. I. Pirkle. 1963. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. I. Virulence genetically linked to clonal variation. J. Bacteriol. 85:1274-1279.

- 97. **Kenney, C. D., and C. N. Cornelissen**. 2002. Demonstration and characterization of a specific interaction between gonococcal transferrin binding protein A and TonB. J. Bacteriol. **184**:6138-6145.
- 98. **Killmann, H., R. Benz, and V. Braun**. 1996. Properties of the FhuA channel in the *Escherichia coli* outer membrane after deletion of FhuA portions within and outside the predicted gating loop. J. Bacteriol. **178**:6913-6920.
- 99. Klein, E. J., L. S. FIsher, A. W. Chow, and L. B. Guze. 1977. Anorectal gonococcal infection. Ann. Intern. Med. 86:340-346.
- 100. **Knapp, J. S.** 1988. Historical perspectives and identification of *Neisseria* and related species. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. **1**:415-431.
- 101. **Knepper, B., I. Heuer, T. F. Meyer, and J. P. van Putten**. 1997. Differential response of human monocytes to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* variants expressing pili and opacity proteins. Infect. Immun. **65**:4122-4129.
- 102. **Koebnik, R., and V. Braun**. 1993. Insertion derivatives containing segments of up to 16 amino acids identify surface- and periplasm-exposed regions of the FhuA outer membrane receptor of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. **175**:826-839.
- 103. Koomey, M., E. C. Gotschlich, K. Robbins, S. Bergstrom, and J. Swanson. 1987. Effects of *recA* mutations on pilus antigenic variation and phase transitions in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Genetics 117:391-398.
- 104. **Krewulak, K. D., and H. J. Vogel**. 2007. Structural biology of bacterial iron uptake. Biochem. Biophys. Acta. In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Kulon, K., D. Wozniak, K. Wegner, Z. Grzonka, and H. Kozlowski. 2007. Specific interactions of metal ions with Cys-Xaa-Cys unit inserted into the peptide sequence. J. Inorg. Biochem. 101:1699-1706.
- 106. Kupsch, E. M., B. Knepper, T. Kuroki, I. Heuer, and T. F. Meyer. 1993. Variable opacity (Opa) outer membrane proteins account for the cell tropisms displayed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* for human leukocytes and epithelial cells. EMBO J. 12:641-650.
- 107. Laemmli, U. K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680-685.
- 108. Laga, M., F. A. Plummer, H. Nzanze, W. Namaara, R. C. Brunham, J. O. Ndinya-Achola, G. Maitha, A. R. Ronald, L. J. D'Costa, and V. B. Bhullar. 1986. Epidemiology of ophthalmia neonatorum in Kenya. Lancet 2:1145-1149.

- Lagergård, T., M. Purvén, and A. Frisk. 1993. Evidence of *Haemophilus ducreyi* adherence to and cytotoxin destruction of human epithelial cells. Microb. Pathog. 14:417-431.
- 110. Lee, B. C., and P. Hill. 1992. Identification of an outer-membrane haemoglobinbinding protein in *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Gen. Microbiol. **138**:2647-2656.
- 111. Lee, B. C., and A. B. Schryvers. 1988. Specificity of the lactoferrin and transferrin receptors in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol. Microbiol. 2:827-829.
- 112. Lewis, L. A., and D. W. Dyer. 1995. Identification of an iron-regulated outer membrane protein of *Neisseria meningitidis* involved in the utilization of hemoglobin complexed to haptoglobin. J. Bacteriol. **177**:1299-1306.
- 113. Lewis, L. A., M. Gipson, K. Hartman, T. Ownbey, J. Vaughn, and D. W. Dyer. 1999. Phase variation of HpuAB and HmbR, two distinct haemoglobin receptors of *Neisseria meningitidis* DNM2. Mol. Microbiol. 32:977-989.
- 114. Lewis, L. A., E. Gray, Y. P. Wang, B. A. Roe, and D. W. Dyer. 1997. Molecular characterization of *hpuAB*, the haemoglobin-haptoglobin-utilization operon of *Neisseria meningitidis*. Mol. Microbiol. **23**:737-749.
- 115. Lewis, L. A., M. H. Sung, M. Gipson, K. Hartman, and D. W. Dyer. 1998. Transport of intact porphyrin by HpuAB, the hemoglobin-haptoglobin utilization system of *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Bacteriol. **180**:6043-6047.
- 116. Lin, L., P. Ayala, J. Larson, M. Mulks, M. Fukuda, S. R. Carlsson, C. Enns, and M. So. 1997. The *Neisseria* type 2 IgA1 protease cleaves LAMP1 and promotes survival of bacteria within epithelial cells. Mol. Microbiol. 24:1083-1094.
- 117. Liu, J., J. M. Rutz, J. B. Feix, and P. E. Klebba. 1993. Permeability properties of a large gated channel within the ferric enterobactin receptor, FepA. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 90:10653-10657.
- Liu, W. H., W. Yang, D. Chen, L. L. Wang, and C. A. Ma. 2008. Indirect determination of stability constant of zinc cysteine chelate by flame atomic absorption spectrometry with ZnS. Guang. Pu. Xue. Yu. Guang. Pu. Fen. Xi. 28:697-699.
- 119. Locher, K. P., B. Rees, R. Koebnik, A. Mitschler, L. Moulinier, J. P. Rosenbusch, and D. Moras. 1998. Transmembrane signaling across the ligand-gated FhuA receptor: Crystal structures of free and ferrichrome-bound states reveal allosteric changes. Cell 95:771-778.

- Lopez-Zeno, J. A., L. G. Keith, and G. S. Berger. 1985. The Fitz-Hugh-Curtis syndrome revisited. Changing perspectives after half a century. J. Reprod. Med. 30:567-582.
- 121. Ma, L., W. Kaserer, R. Annamalai, D. C. Scott, B. Jin, X. Jiang, Q. Xiao, H. Maymani, L. M. Massis, L. C. S. Ferreira, S. M. C. Newton, and P. E. Klebba. 2007. Evidence of ball-and-chain transport of ferric enterobactin through FepA. J. Biol. Chem. 282:397-406.
- 122. Maciver, I., J. L. Latimer, H. H. Liem, U. Muller-Eberhard, Z. Hrkal, and E. J. Hansen. 1996. Identification of an outer membrane protein involved in utilization of hemoglobin-haptoglobin complexes by nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae*. Infect. Immun. 64:3703-3712.
- 123. Maiden, M. C. J., J. A. Bygraves, E. Feil, G. Morelli, J. E. Russell, R. Urwin, Q. Zhang, J. Zhou, K. Zurth, D. A. Caugant, I. M. Feavers, M. Achtman, and B. G. Spratt. 1998. Multilocus sequence typing: A portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:3140-3145.
- Mandrell, R. E., and M. A. Apicella. 1993. Lipo-oligosaccharides (LOS) of mucosal pathogens: molecular mimicry and host-modification of LOS. Immunobiology. 187:382-402.
- 125. **Marieluise, K., and T. F. Meyer**. 2005. The PilC adhesin of the *Neisseria* type IV pilus binding specificities and new insights into the nature of the host cell receptor. Mol. Microbiol. **56**:945-957.
- Masri, H. P., and C. N. Cornelissen. 2002. Specific ligand binding attributable to individual epitopes of gonococcal transferrin binding protein A. Infect. Immun. 70:732-740.
- 127. McChesney, D., E. C. Tramont, J. W. Boslego, J. Ciak, J. Sadoff, and C. C. Brinton. 1982. Genital antibody response to a parenteral gonococcal pilus vaccine. Infect. Immun. 36:1006-1012.
- 128. McClelland, R. S., C. C. Wang, K. Mandaliya, J. Overbaugh, M. T. Reiner, D. D. Panteleeff, L. Lavreys, J. Ndinya-Achola, J. J. Bwayo, and J. K. Kreiss. 2001. Treatment of cervicitis is associated with decreased cervical shedding of HIV-1. Aids 15:105-110.
- 129. McCormack, W. M., R. J. Stumacher, K. Johnson, and A. Donner. 1977. Clinical spectrum of gonococcal infection in women. Lancet 1:1182-1185.

- McDade, R. L., and K. H. Johnston. 1980. Characterization of serologically dominant outer membrane proteins of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Bacteriol. 141:1183-1191.
- McKenna, W. R., P. A. Mickelsen, P. F. Sparling, and D. W. Dyer. 1988. Iron uptake from lactoferrin and transferrin by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. 56:785-791.
- Merker, P., J. Tommassen, B. Kusecek, M. Virji, D. Sesardic, and M. Achtman. 1997. Two-dimensional structure of the Opc invasin from *Neisseria meningitidis*. Mol. Microbiol. 23:281-293.
- 133. **Merz, A. J., and M. So.** 1997. Attachment of piliated, Opa and Opc gonococci and meningococci to epithelial cells elicits cortical actin rearrangements and clustering of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins. Infect. Immun. **65**:4341-4349.
- 134. Meyer, T. F., E. Billyard, R. Haas, S. Storzbach, and M. So. 1984. Pilus genes of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: chromosomal organization and DNA sequence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:6110-6114.
- 135. Meyer, T. F., N. Mlawer, and M. So. 1982. Pilus expression in *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae involves chromosomal rearrangement. Cell **30**:45-52.
- 136. Meyer, T. F., J. Pohlner, and J. P. van Putten. 1994. Biology of the pathogenic *Neisseriae*. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. **192**:283-317.
- 137. Mickelsen, P. A., E. Blackman, and P. F. Sparling. 1982. Ability of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae, *Neisseria meningitidis*, and commensal *Neisseria* species to obtain iron from lactoferrin. Infect. Immun. **35**:915-920.
- 138. **Mickelsen, P. A., and P. F. Sparling**. 1981. Ability of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, *Neisseria meningitidis*, and commensal *Neisseria* species to obtain iron from transferrin and iron compounds. Infect. Immun. **33**:555-564.
- 139. Miethke, M., and M. A. Marahiel. 2007. Siderophore-based iron acquisition and pathogen control. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. **71**:413-451.
- 140. Moeck, G. S., B. S. Bazzaz, M. F. Gras, T. S. Ravi, M. J. Ratcliffe, and J. W. Coulton. 1994. Genetic insertion and exposure of a reporter epitope in the ferrichrome-iron receptor of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 176:4250-4259.
- 141. **Moran, E. E., B. L. Brandt, and W. D. Zollinger**. 1994. Expression of the L8 lipopolysaccharide determinant increases the sensitivity of *Neisseria meningitidis* to serum bactericidal activity. Infect. Immun. **62**:5290-5295.

- Morello, J. A., and M. Bohnhoff. 1989. Serovars and serum resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* from disseminated and uncomplicated infections. J. Infect. Dis. 160:1012-1017.
- 143. Morrow, G. L., and R. L. Abbott. 1998. Conjunctivitis. Am. Fam. Physician 57:735-746.
- 144. **Morse, S. A., and L. Bartenstein**. 1980. Purine metabolism in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: the requirement for hypoxanthine. Can. J. Microbiol. **26**:13-20.
- 145. Morton, D. J., P. W. Whitby, H. Jin, Z. Ren, and T. L. Stull. 1999. Effect of multiple mutations in the hemoglobin- and hemoglobin-haptoglobin binding proteins, HgpA, HgpB, and HgpC, of *Haemophilus influenzae* Type b. Infect. Immun. 67:2729-2739.
- 146. **Morton, R. S.** 1977. *Gonorrhoeae*, vol. 9. W. B. Saunders Company Ltd., London.
- 147. Mosleh, I. M., L. A. Huber, P. Steinlein, C. Pasquali, D. Gunther, and T. F. Meyer. 1998. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* porin modulates phagosome maturation. J. Biol. Chem. 273:35332-35338.
- 148. Müller, A., D. Günther, V. Brinkmann, R. Hurwitz, T. F. Meyer, and T. Rudel. 2000. Targeting of the pro-apoptotic VDAC-like porin (PorB) of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to mitochondria of infected cells. EMBO J. 19:5332-5343.
- 149. Muller, A., D. Gunther, F. Dux, M. Naumann, T. F. Meyer, and T. Rudel. 1999. Neisserial porin (PorB) causes rapid calcium influx in target cells and induces apoptosis by the activation of cysteine proteases. EMBO. J. 18:339-352.
- 150. **Munday, P. E.** 1997. Clinical aspects of pelvic inflammatory disease. Hum. Reprod. **12**:121-126.
- 151. **Munkley, A., C. R. Tinsley, M. Virji, and J. E. Heckels**. 1991. Blocking of bactericidal killing of *Neisseria meningitidis* by antibodies directed against class 4 outer membrane protein. Microb. Pathog. **11**:447-452.
- 152. **Murphy, G. L., T. D. Connell, D. S. Barritt, M. Koomey, and J. G. Cannon**. 1989. Phase variation of gonococcal protein II: Regulation of gene expression by slipped-strand mispairing of a repetitive DNA sequence. Cell **56**:539-547.
- 153. Nassif, X., J. L. Beretti, J. Lowy, P. Stenberg, P. O'Gaora, J. Pfeifer, S. Normark, and M. So. 1994. Roles of pilin and PilC in adhesion of *Neisseria*

meningitidis to human epithelial and endothelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **91**:3769-3773.

- 154. Nassif, X., S. Bourdoulous, E. Eugène, and P. O. Couraud. 2002. How do extracellular pathogens cross the blood-brain barrier? Trends in Microbiology 10:227-232.
- 155. **Neilands, J. B.** 1982. Microbial envelope proteins related to iron. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **36**:285-309.
- 156. Neilands, J. B. 1981. Microbial iron compounds. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 50:715-731.
- 157. Newton, S. M. C., J. D. Igo, D. C. Scott, and P. E. Klebba. 1999. Effect of loop deletions on the binding and transport of ferric enterobactin by FepA. Mol. Microbiol. 32:1153-1165.
- 158. **Nikaido, H.** 2003. Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. **67**:593-656.
- 159. Noah, N., and B. Henderson. 2001. Surveillance of bacterial meningitis in Europe 1999-2000. PHLS.
- Noto, J. M., and C. N. Cornelissen. 2008. Identification of TbpA residues required for transferrin-iron utilization by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. 76:1960-1969.
- 161. Oke, M., R. Sarra, R. Ghirlando, S. Farnaud, A. R. Gorringe, R. W. Evans, and S. K. Buchanan. 2004. The plug domain of a neisserial TonB-dependent transporter retains structural integrity in the absence of its transmembrane betabarrel. FEBS Lett. 564:294-300.
- 162. Otto, B. R., S. J. M. van Dooren, J. H. Nuijens, J. Luirink, and B. Oudega. 1998. Characterization of a hemoglobin protease secreted by the pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain EB1. J. Exp. Med. **188**:1091-1103.
- Pajon, R., G. Chinea, E. Marrero, D. Gonzalez, and G. Guillen. 1997. Sequence analysis of the structural *tbpA* gene: protein topology and variable regions within neisserial receptors for transferrin iron acquisition. Microb. Pathog. 23:71-84.
- 164. **Pantelic, M., Y. J. Kim, S. Bolland, I. Chen, J. Shively, and T. Chen**. 2005. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* kills carcinoembryonic antigen-related cellular adhesion

molecule 1 (CD66a)-expressing human B cells and inhibits antibody production. Infect. Immun. **73**:4171-4179.

- 165. Paoli, M., B. F. Anderson, H. M. Baker, W. T. Morgan, A. Smith, and E. N. Baker. 1999. Crystal structure of hemopexin reveals a novel high-affinity heme site formed between two beta-propeller domains. Nat. Struct. Biol. 6:926-931.
- 166. Pawelek, P. D., N. Croteau, C. Ng-Thow-Hing, C. M. Khursigara, N. Moiseeva, M. Allaire, and J. W. Coulton. 2005. Structure of TonB in complex with FhuA, *E. coli* outer membrane receptor. Science 312:1399-1402.
- 167. **Pedersen, A. H., and P. Bonin**. 1971. Screening females for asymptomatic gonorrhea infection. Northwest. Med. **70**:255-261.
- 168. Peltola, H. 1983. Meningococcal disease: Still with us. Rev. Infect. Dis. 5:71-91.
- 169. **Perkins-Balding, D., A. Rasmussen, and I. Stojiljkovic**. 2004. Bacterial heme and hemoprotein receptors, p. 66-85. In J. H. Crosa, A. R. Mey, and S. M. Payne (ed.), Iron transprort in bacteria. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- 170. Pickett, C. L., T. Auffenberg, E. C. Pesci, V. L. Sheen, and S. S. Jusuf. 1992. Iron acquisition and hemolysin production by *Campylobacter jejuni*. Infect. Immun. 60:3872-3877.
- 171. Plummer, F. A., H. Chubb, J. N. Simonsen, M. Bosire, L. Slaney, I. Maclean, J. O. Ndinya-Achola, P. Waiyaki, and R. C. Brunham. 1993. Antibody to Rmp (outer membrane protein 3) increases susceptibility to gonococcal infection. J. Clin. Invest 91:339-343.
- 172. **Posey, J. E., and F. C. Gherardini**. 2000. Lack of a role for iron in the lyme disease pathogen. Science **288**:1651-1653.
- 173. Prall, F., P. Nollau, M. Neumaier, H. D. Haubeck, Z. Drzeniek, U. Helmchen, T. Loning, and C. Wagener. 1996. CD66a (BGP), an adhesion molecule of the carcinoembryonic antigen family, is expressed in epithelium, endothelium, and myeloid cells in a wide range of normal human tissues. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 44:35-41.
- 174. **Prescott, L. M., J. P. Harley, and D. A. Klein**. 2002. Microbiology, Fifth ed. McGraw-Hill, Boston.
- 175. **Price, G. A.** 2005. Immunogenicity of the gonococcal transferrin binding proteins. Ph.D. Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA.

- 176. Price, G. A., H. P. Masri, A. M. Hollander, M. W. Russell, and C. N. Cornelissen. 2007. Gonococcal transferrin binding protein chimeras induce bactericidal and growth inhibitory antibodies in mice. Vaccine 25:7247-7260.
- 177. Price, G. A., M. W. Russell, and C. N. Cornelissen. 2005. Intranasal administration of recombinant *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* transferrin binding proteins A and B conjugated to the cholera toxin B subunit induces systemic and vaginal antibodies in mice. Infect. Immun. **73**:3945-3953.
- 178. Ram, S., M. Cullinane, A. M. Blom, S. Gulati, D. P. McQuillen, B. G. Monks, C. O'Connell, R. Boden, C. Elkins, M. K. Pangburn, B. Dahlback, and P. A. Rice. 2001. Binding of C4b-binding protein to porin: a molecular mechanism of serum resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Exp. Med. 193:281-295.
- 179. Ram, S., D. P. McQuillen, S. Gulati, C. Elkins, M. K. Pangburn, and P. A. Rice. 1998. Binding of complement factor H to loop 5 of porin protein 1A: a molecular mechanism of serum resistance of nonsialylated *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Exp. Med. 188:671-680.
- 180. Ram, S., A. K. Sharma, S. D. Simpson, S. Gulati, D. P. McQuillen, M. K. Pangburn, and P. A. Rice. 1998. A novel sialic acid binding site on factor H mediates serum resistance of sialylated *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Exp. Med. 187:743-752.
- 181. **Ratledge, C., and L. G. Dover**. 2000. Iron metabolism in pathogenic bacteria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **54**:881-941.
- 182. Raymond, K. N., and E. A. Dertz. 2004. Biochemical and physical properties of siderophores, p. 3-37. In J. H. Crosa, A. R. Mey, and S. M. Payne (ed.), Iron transport in bacteria. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- 183. Renauld-Mongenie, G., M. Latour, D. Poncet, S. Naville, and M.-J. Quentin-Millet. 1998. Both the full-length and the N-terminal domain of the meningococcal transferrin-binding protein B discriminate between human ironloaded and apo-transferrin. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 169:171-177.
- 184. Retzer, M. D., R.-h. Yu, Y. Zhang, G. C. Gonzalez, and A. B. Schryvers. 1998. Discrimination between apo and iron-loaded forms of transferrin by transferrin binding protein B and its N-terminal subfragment. Microb. Pathog. 25:175-180.
- 185. Rice, P. A., H. E. Vayo, M. R. Tam, and M. S. Blake. 1986. Immunoglobulin G antibodies directed against protein III block killing of serum-resistant *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae by immune serum. J. Exp. Med. 164:1735-1748.

- Richardson, A. R., and I. Stojiljkovic. 1999. HmbR, a hemoglobin-binding outer membrane protein of *Neisseria meningitidis*, undergoes phase variation. J. Bacteriol. 181:2067-2074.
- 187. Rokbi, B., M. Mignon, G. Maitre-Wilmotte, L. Lissolo, B. Danve, D. A. Caugant, and M. J. Quentin-Millet. 1997. Evaluation of recombinant transferrin-binding protein B variants from *Neisseria meningitidis* for their ability to induce cross-reactive and bactericidal antibodies against a genetically diverse collection of serogroup B strains. Infect. Immun. 65:55-63.
- 188. **Ronpirin, C., A. E. Jerse, and C. N. Cornelissen**. 2001. Gonococcal genes encoding transferrin-binding proteins A and B are arranged in a bicistronic operon but are subject to differential expression. Infect. Immun. **69**:6336-6347.
- 189. **Rosenstein, N. E., and B. A. Perkins**. 2000. Update on *Haemophilus influenzae* serotype b and meningococcal vaccines. Pediatr. Clin. North Am. **47**:337-352.
- 190. Rosenstein, N. E., B. A. Perkins, D. S. Stephens, L. Lefkowitz, M. L. Cartter, R. Danila, P. Cieslak, K. A. Shutt, T. Popovic, A. Schuchat, L. H. Harrison, and A. L. Reingold. 1999. The changing epidemiology of meningococcal disease in the United States, 1992-1996. J. Infect. Dis. 180:1894-1901.
- 191. Rudel, T., I. Scheurerpflug, and T. F. Meyer. 1995. *Neisseria* PilC protein identified as type-4 pilus tip-located adhesin. Nature **373**:357-359.
- 192. Rudel, T., A. Schmid, R. Benz, H. A. Kolb, F. Lang, and T. F. Meyer. 1996. Modulation of *Neisseria* porin (PorB) by cytosolic ATP/GTP of target cells: Parallels between pathogen accommodation and mitochondrial endosymbiosis. Cell 85:391-402.
- 193. Rudel, T., J. P. van Putten, C. P. Gibbs, R. Haas, and T. F. Meyer. 1992. Interaction of two variable proteins (PilE and PilC) required for pilus-mediated adherence of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to human epithelial cells. Mol. Microbiol. 6:3439-3450.
- 194. **Russell, M. W., and M. Kilian**. 2005. Biological activities of IgA, p. 267-289, Third Edition ed. Elsevier/Academic Press, San Diego.
- 195. Scheuerpflug, I., T. Rudel, R. Ryll, J. Pandit, and T. F. Meyer. 1999. Roles of PilC and PilE proteins in pilus-mediated adherence of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Neisseria meningitidis* to human erythrocytes and endothelial and epithelial cells. Infect. Immun. 67:834-843.

- 196. Schoolnik, G. K., R. Fernandez, J. Y. Tai, J. Rothbard, and E. C. Gotschlich. 1984. Gonococcal pili. Primary structure and receptor binding domain. J. Exp. Med. 159:1351-1370.
- 197. Schroder, I., E. Johnson, and S. de Vries. 2003. Microbial ferric iron reductases. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27:427-447.
- Schryvers, A. B., and L. J. Morris. 1988. Identification and characterization of the human lactoferrin-binding protein from *Neisseria meningitidis*. Infect. Immun. 56:1144-1149.
- 199. Segal, E., P. Hagblom, H. S. Seifert, and M. So. 1986. Antigenic variation of gonococcal pilus involves assembly of separated silent gene segments. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 83:2177-2181.
- Shultis, D. D., M. D. Purdy, C. N. Banchs, and M. C. Wiener. 2006. Outer membrane active transport: Structure of the BtuB:TonB complex. Science 312:1396-1399.
- 201. Simpson, L. M., and J. D. Oliver. 1993. Regulation of proteolytic activity of *Vibrio vulnificus* by iron-containing compounds. Microb. Pathog. 14:249-252.
- Soper, D. E. 1991. Diagnosis and laparoscopic grading of acute salpingitis. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 164:1370-1376.
- 203. **Sparling, P. F.** 2002. A plethora of host factors that determine the outcome of meningococcal infection. Am. J. Med. **112**:72-74.
- 204. Stern, A., M. Brown, P. Nickel, and T. F. Meyer. 1986. Opacity genes in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: Control of phase and antigenic variation. Cell **47**:61-71.
- 205. Stimson, E., M. Virji, K. Makepeace, A. Dell, H. R. Morris, G. Payne, J. R. Saunders, M. P. Jennings, S. Barker, M. Panico, I. Blench, and E. R. Moxon. 1995. Meningococcal pilin: a glycoprotein substituted with digalactosyl 2,4-diacetamido-2,4,6-trideoxyhexose. Mol. Microbiol. 17:1201-1214.
- Stoebner, J. A., and S. M. Payne. 1988. Iron-regulated hemolysin production and utilization of heme and hemoglobin by *Vibrio cholerae*. Infect. Immun. 56:2891-2895.
- 207. Stojiljkovic, I., V. Hwa, L. De Saint Martin, P. O'Gaora, X. Nassif, F. Heffron, and M. So. 1995. The *Neisseria meningitidis* haemoglobin receptor: its role in iron utilization and virulence. Mol. Microbiol. 15:531-541.

- Stojiljkovic, I., J. Larson, V. Hwa, S. Anic, and M. So. 1996. HmbR outer membrane receptors of pathogenic *Neisseria* spp.: Iron-regulated, hemoglobinbinding proteins with a high level of primary structure conservation. J. Bacteriol. 178:4670-4678.
- 209. **Stojiljkovic, I., and N. Srinivasan**. 1997. *Neisseria meningitidis tonB, exbB*, and *exbD* genes: Ton-dependent utilization of protein-bound iron in *Neisseria*. J. Bacteriol. **179**:805-812.
- Stokes, R. H., J. S. Oakhill, C. L. Joannou, A. R. Gorringe, and R. W. Evans. 2005. Meningococcal transferrin-binding proteins A and B show cooperation in their binding kinetics for human transferrin. Infect. Immun. 73:944-952.
- 211. **Strange, H. R.** 2007. Mechanism of iron transport employed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. M.S. thesis. Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond.
- Swanson, J. 1978. Studies on gonococcus infection. XIV: Cell wall protein differences among color/opacity colony variants of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. 21:292-302.
- Swanson, J., O. Barrera, J. Sola, and J. Boslego. 1988. Expression of outer membrane protein II by gonococci in experimental gonorrhea. J. Exp. Med. 168:2121-2129.
- Taboy, C. H., K. G. Vaughan, T. A. Mietzner, P. Aisen, and A. L. Crumbliss. 2001. Fe³⁺ coordination and redox properties of a bacterial transferrin. J. Biol. Chem. 276:2719-2724.
- 215. Thomas, C. E., W. Zhu, C. N. Van Dam, N. L. Davis, R. E. Johnston, and P. F. Sparling. 2006. Vaccination of mice with gonococcal TbpB expressed in vivo from venezuelan equine encephalitis viral replicon particles. Infect. Immun. 74:1612-1620.
- Thompson, J. A., F. Grunert, and W. Zimmermann. 1991. Carcinoembryonic antigen gene family: Molecular biology and clinical perspectives. J. Clin. Lab Anal. 5:344-366.
- 217. Tinsley, C. R., and X. Nassif. 1996. Analysis of the genetic differences between *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: two closely related bacteria expressing two different pathogenicities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:11109-11114.

- 218. **Towbin, H., T. Staehelin, and J. Gordon**. 1979. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: Procedure and some applications. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **76**:4350-4354.
- 219. Tramont, E. C., J. C. Sadoff, J. W. Boslego, J. Ciak, D. McChesney, C. C. Brinton, S. Wood, and E. Takafuji. 1981. Gonococcal pilus vaccine. Studies of antigenicity and inhibition of attachment. J. Clin. Invest 68:881-888.
- 220. Turner, P. C., C. E. Thomas, I. Stojiljkovic, C. Elkins, G. Kizel, D. A. Ala'Aldeen, and P. F. Sparling. 2001. Neisserial TonB-dependent outermembrane proteins: Detection, regulation and distribution of three putative candidates identified from the genome sequences. Microbiology 147:1277-1290.
- 221. Ullman, S., T. J. Roussel, W. W. Culbertson, R. K. Forster, E. Alfonso, A. D. Mendelsohn, D. G. Heidemann, and S. P. Holland. 1987. Neisseria gonorrhoeae keratoconjunctivitis. Ophthalmology 94:525-531.
- 222. Usher, K. C., E. Ozkan, K. H. Gardner, and J. Deisenhofer. 2001. The plug domain of FepA, a TonB-dependent transport protein from *Escherichia coli*, binds its siderophore in the absence of the transmembrane barrel domain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **98**:10676-10681.
- 223. **van Putten, J. P., and S. M. Paul**. 1993. Binding of syndecan-like cell surface proteoglycan receptors is required for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* entry into human mucosal cells. EMBO J. **14**:2144-2154.
- 224. Virji, M., C. Alexandrescu, D. J. Ferguson, J. R. Saunders, and E. R. Moxon. 1992. Variations in the expression of pili: the effect on adherence of *Neisseria meningitidis* to human epithelial and endothelial cells. Mol. Microbiol. 6:1271-1279.
- 225. Virji, M., K. Makepeace, D. J. Ferguson, M. Achtman, J. Sarkari, and E. R. Moxon. 1992. Expression of the Opc protein correlates with invasion of epithelial and endothelial cells by *Neisseria meningitidis*. Mol. Microbiol. **6**:2785-2795.
- 226. Virji, M., K. Makepeace, and E. R. Moxon. 1994. Distinct mechanisms of interactions of Opc-expressing meningococci at apical and basolateral surfaces of human endothelial cells; the role of integrins in apical interactions. Mol. Microbiol. 14:173-184.
- 227. Virji, M., J. R. Saunders, G. Sims, K. Makepeace, D. Maskell, and D. J. Ferguson. 1993. Pilus-facilitated adherence of *Neisseria meningitidis* to human epithelial and endothelial cells: Modulation of adherence phenotype occurs

concurrently with changes in primary amino acid sequence and the glycosylation status of pilin. Mol. Microbiol. **10**:1013-1028.

- 228. **Walsh, C. T., and C. G. Marshall**. 2004. Siderophore biosynthesis in bacteria, p. 18-37. In J. H. Crosa, A. R. Mey, and S. M. Payne (ed.), Iron transport in bacteria. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- 229. Wandersman, C., and P. Delepelaire. 2004. Bacterial iron sources: From siderophores to hemophores. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **58**:611-647.
- 230. Weel, J. F., C. T. Hopman, and J. P. van Putten. 1991. In situ expression and localization of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* opacity proteins in infected epithelial cells: apparent role of Opa proteins in cellular invasion. J. Exp. Med. **173**:1395-1405.
- 231. Weel, J. F., and J. P. van Putten. 1991. Fate of the major outer membrane protein P.IA in early and late events of gonococcal infection of epithelial cells. Res. Microbiol. 142:985-993.
- 232. Weinberg, E. D. 1978. Iron and infection. Microbiol. Rev. 42:45-66.
- 233. West, D., K. Reddin, M. Matheson, R. Heath, S. Funnell, M. Hudson, A. Robinson, and A. Gorringe. 2001. Recombinant *Neisseria meningitidis* transferrin binding protein A protects against experimental meningococcal infection. Infect. Immun. 69:1561-1567.
- 234. West, S. E., and P. F. Sparling. 1987. Aerobactin utilization by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and cloning of a genomic DNA fragment that complements *Escherichia coli fhuB* mutations. J. Bacteriol. **169**:3414-3421.
- 235. West, S. E. H., and P. F. Sparling. 1985. Response of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to iron limitation: alterations in expression of membrane proteins without apparent siderophore production. Infect. Immun. 47:388-394.
- Westrom, L. 1980. Incidence, prevalence and trends of acute pelvic inflammatory disease and its consequences in industrialized countries. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 138:880-892.
- 237. **WHO**. 1995. Control of epidemic meningococcal diseases: WHO practical guidelines. Edition Foundation Marcel Merieux.
- 238. **WHO**. 1995. Global prevalence and incidences of selected curable sexually transmitted diseases: Overview and estimates. WHO/GPA/STD.
- Wong, T. P., and K. H. Johnston. 1981. One-dimensional peptide mapping of the major outer membrane protein of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. 34:739-745.
- Yamauchi, K., M. Tomita, T. J. Giehl, and R. T. Ellison, 3rd. 1993. Antibacterial activity of lactoferrin and a pepsin-derived lactoferrin peptide fragment. Infect. Immun. 61:719-728.
- 241. **Yang, Q. L., and E. C. Gotschlich**. 1996. Variation of gonococcal lipooligosaccharide structure is due to alterations in poly-G tracts in *lgt* genes encoding glycosyl transferases. J. Exp. Med. **183**:323-327.
- 242. **Yost-Daljev, M. K.** 2003. Molecular analysis of the gonococcal transferrin receptor. Ph.D. dissertation. Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond.
- Yost-Daljev, M. K., and C. N. Cornelissen. 2004. Determination of surfaceexposed, functional domains of gonococcal transferrin-binding protein A. Infect. Immun. 72:1775-1785.
- 244. Yue, W. W., S. Grizot, and S. K. Buchanan. 2003. Structural evidence for ironfree citrate and ferric citrate binding to the TonB-dependent outer membrane transporter FecA. J. Mol. Biol. **332**:353-368.
- 245. **Zhang, Q. Y., D. DeRyckere, P. Lauer, and M. Koomey**. 1992. Gene conversion in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: evidence for its role in pilus antigenic variation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **89**:5366-5370.

<u>VITA</u>

Jennifer McMillan Noto was born on August 12th, 1981 in Cincinnati, Ohio. She graduated from Midlothian High School in Richmond, Virginia in 1999. In 2003, she graduated from Mary Washington College, now called the University of Mary Washington with a Bachelors of Science in Biology. Starting in 2003, she began working on her graduate degree at Virginia Commonwealth University in the Department of Microbiology and Immunology. Publications and accomplishments are listed below.

PUBLICATIONS

Noto, J. M. and C. N. Cornelissen. 2008. Identification of TbpA residues required for transferrin-iron utilization in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect. Immun. **76**: 1960-1969.

ABSTRACTS AND PRESENTATIONS

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2008. Identification of TbpA residues required for transferrin-iron utilization by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. 108th General ASM Meeting, Boston, Massachusetts.

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2007. Identification of TbpA residues required for transferrin-iron utilization by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Virginia ASM, Richmond, Virginia. University of Richmond.

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2007. Analysis of the TbpA plug domain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. ASM Kadner Institute, Boulder, Colorado. University of Colorado at Boulder.

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2007. Analysis of the TbpA plug domain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. 35th Annual John C. Forbes Graduate Student Honors Colloquium, Richmond, Virginia. Virginia Commonwealth University.

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2007. Analysis of the TbpA plug domain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. 3rd Annual Women's Health Research Day, Richmond, Virginia. Virginia Commonwealth University.

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2007. Analysis of the TbpA plug domain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. 10th Annual Graduate Student Association Research Symposium, Richmond, Virginia. Virginia Commonwealth University.

Jennifer L. McMillan and Cynthia N. Cornelissen. 2007. Analysis of the TbpA plug domain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. 4th Mid-Atlantic Microbial Pathogenesis Meeting, Wintergreen, Virginia.

AWARDS AND HONORS

Preparing Future Faculty Program Certificate December 2008 Virginia Commonwealth University School of Graduate Studies, Richmond, Virginia

Virginia ASM Best Student Presentation November 9-10th, 2007 University of Richmond, Richmond, Virginia

Graduate Student Association Travel Grant Award April 2007 Virginia Commonwealth University School of Graduate Studies, Richmond, Virginia

Travel Grant February 2007 4th Mid-Atlantic Microbial Pathogenesis Meeting, Wintergreen, Virginia

Public Health Services Training Grant September 2006 – 2008 Department of Health and Human Services National Institutes of Health T32–AI07617